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SCOPE AND BOUNDARY 

THE REPORT IS GUIDED BY THE FOLLOWING LOCAL AND INTERNATIONAL GUIDELINES:

The Integrated Report includes reports on the operations of the Company. It also outlines how the organisation’s strategy has been 
executed to create value over time.

This report is primarily prepared for investors but incorporates information pertaining to other relevant stakeholders. 

The South African Companies Act 71 of 
2008 (as amended) (Companies Act)

The Rwanda Stock Exchange (RSE) 
listing rules

The reporting principles contained in the 
King IV Report on Corporate Governance 
for South Africa 2016 (King IV)

The Integrated Reporting Framework 
issued by the International Integrated 
Reporting Council (IIRC)

The Johannesburg Stock Exchange 
Limited (JSE) Listings Requirements

The International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS)

SCOPE OF THE REPORT

THIS INTEGRATED REPORT (IR) PRESENTS THE FINANCIAL RESULTS AND THE ECONOMIC, 
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE OF RH BOPHELO  
(THE ‘COMPANY’ OR ‘RH BOPHELO’). THE COMPANY’S BOARD OF DIRECTORS (THE 
BOARD) IS KEY TO REALISING RH BOPHELO’S COMMITMENT TO GENERATE AND SUSTAIN 
SHAREHOLDER WEALTH AND VALUE OVER THE SHORT, MEDIUM, AND LONG TERM. 

1
BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

KIAAT PRIVATE HOSPITAL (MANAGED)

125 bed hospital in Gauteng
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RH Bophelo’s mission is to seek and 
create investment opportunities to fill the 
chasm between the public and private 
healthcare sectors in South Africa and the 
African continent as a whole. We achieve 
this by making investments in healthcare 
infrastructure, healthcare-related 
information technology and financial 
services assets in exceptionally well-
managed commercial entities across the 
South African and African markets, acting 
as a responsible corporate citizen while 
creating value and maximising returns for 
our investors.

The Board acknowledges that it is ultimately responsible for 
overseeing the integrity of this report. The Board committees 
have collectively collaborated on the preparation and 
presentation of the 2021 Integrated Report and Annual 
Financial Statements. The Board believes that this report 
addresses all the content elements underpinning integrated 
reporting, including any material issues, the organisational 
overview and external environment, the business model, 
risk and opportunities, and fairly presents the Company’s 
performance, outlook, strategy and perspective on future 
value creation in accordance with the Integrated Reporting 
Framework. The Board approved the Integrated Report on  
26 May 2021.

No forward-looking statements have been reviewed or reported 
on by the Company’s external auditors.

1An international, integrated and independent firm, specialising in audit, 
accountancy, advisory and tax services.

In line with its growth plan on the African continent, RHB 
completed its dual listing on the RSE on 1 June 2020. This RSE 
listing will continue to introduce new investors and investment 
opportunities for RHB in the East African market and expand 
the Company’s geographical footprint within the continent.

The Company seeks to generate returns for its 
shareholders through various investments in the 
healthcare and financial services sector. The Company is 
engaged in making equity and quasi-equity investments 
in healthcare, healthcare information technology and 
financial services sectors, specifically in operational 
infrastructure, health insurance, private hospital 
infrastructure, pharmaceuticals, retail and distribution.

The Company executes its investment mandate primarily 
through two wholly-owned subsidiaries, RH Bophelo 
Operating Company Proprietary Limited (RHBO) and RH 
Financial Services Proprietary Limited (RHFS). These 
subsidiaries are utilised to acquire various investments on 
behalf of the Company. The investments under RHBO have 
been allocated to the healthcare investment portfolio, and 
RHFS to the financial services investment portfolio.

ASSURANCE AND APPROVAL

THE COMPANY’S ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS WERE PREPARED IN LINE 
WITH THE IFRS AND AUDITED BY OUR 
EXTERNAL AUDITOR, MAZARS1 SOUTH 
AFRICA. THE BOARD PROVIDED AN 
OVERSIGHT ROLE BY REVIEWING THE 
INTEGRATED REPORT FOR COMPLETENESS 
AND ACCURACY.

RH BOPHELO (RHB) IS LISTED ON BOTH THE JOHANNESBURG STOCK EXCHANGE AND 
RWANDA STOCK EXCHANGE, THUS ALLOWING THE PUBLIC TO ACQUIRE SHARES IN AN 
AFRICAN HEALTHCARE INVESTMENT COMPANY OFFERING GROWTH AND RETURNS IN A 
DEFENSIVE ASSET CLASS.

ABOUT US

OUR MISSION

RH FAUCHARD HOSPITAL (OWNED) 
16 bed hospital in Gauteng
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HEALTHCARE INVESTMENTS
Our healthcare portfolio includes: 

• Africa Health Care Proprietary Limited (Africa Health Care/AHC)
• Medicare Private Hospital (Medicare) 
• Rondebosch Medical Centre (RMC) 
• Vryburg Private Hospital (VPH) 
• RH Bell Clinic 
• RH Fauchard Hospital 
• Phelang Bonolo Healthcare Procurement and Management 

Proprietary Limited (PBHPM).
 
This portfolio represents approximately ninety percent (90%) 
of the Group’s total investments, which include a total of 1696 
beds, of which 511 are owned, and 1185 are managed by 
AHC and PBHPM through management contracts across eight 
South African provinces.

FINANCIAL SERVICES INVESTMENTS
This portfolio represents approximately ten percent (10%) 
of the capital invested. It mainly consists of investments in 
a short-term insurance company, as well as an Underwriting 
Management Agency (UMA) in healthcare insurance. 

Our financial services portfolio includes: 

• Wesmart Financial and Administration Solutions Proprietary 
Limited (Wesmart); and 

• Genric Insurance Company Limited (Genric).
 
Our investment in this segment will attract the employed but 
not insured. In South Africa, only 20% is currently insured, 
thereby leaving the rest of the population to rely on the public 
sector for healthcare support.

RH BOPHELO TIMELINE OVER THE YEARS
RH Bophelo listed on the JSE as a Special Purpose Acquisition Company (SPAC) in July 2017 with five hundred million rands 
(R500,000,000) in fresh capital being raised. The JSE listing allowed RH Bophelo to access the initial capital required to start 
operating and facilitated the acquisition of shares by the public in the backing of a majority Black-owned and entirely African 
healthcare investment company offering growth and returns in a heretofore defensive asset class.

Migration to main 
board of the JSE  
as an investment 
entity

OCTOBER 
2018

APRIL 
2019

JUNE 
2018

MAY 
2018

Listed on the JSE  
as a SPAC

Raised

JULY 
2017

R500m
on listing

Acquisition of 
Rondebosch  
Medical Centre 

(30%)

Acquisition of  
Africa Health Care 

 
Vryburg Private 
Hospital

(60%)

(76%)

JULY 
2019

Acquisition of  
Medicare Private 
Hospital 

(51%) 
(Effective in July 2019)

Acquisition of  
Wesmart

(60%)

 2South African total population is estimated to be approaching sixty million persons (60,000,000). Thus 48,000,000 persons form the RHB target market.
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Acquisition of  
RH Bell Clinic 
(previously  
Netcare Bell)

(100%)
Acquisition of Genric 
Insurance Company

(25%)

Acquisition of  
remaining Africa  
Health Care

(40%)
Acquisition of  
RH Fauchard 
Hospital

(100%)

Increased shareholding of 
Rondebosch Medical Centre

(100%)

SEPTEMBER 
2019

OCTOBER 
2019

Acquisition of  
Phelang Bonolo 
Healthcare 
Procurement and 
Management 
Proprietary Limited 

(49%)

JANUARY 
2020

MARCH 
2020

JUNE 
2020

RH Bophelo lists 
on the Rwanda 
Stock Exchange

Dividends 
Declared 
(ZAR 15 cents 
per share)

MAY 
2021

RH BOPHELO LISTS ON THE JSE, JULY 2017
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GENRIC INSURANCE  
COMPANY
A short-term insurer, providing innovative 
and niche insurance solutions to the market 
by partnering with specialist UMAs, start-up 
businesses, insure-tech innovators and 
brokers. The investment brings a diverse 
range of services and growth opportunities 
to an under-serviced market. 

FINANCIAL 
SERVICES 

ACQUISITIONS  
TO DATE WESMART FINANCIAL AND 

ADMINISTRATION SOLUTIONS
Provides both “off-the-shelf” and 
bespoke solutions to corporate employers 
looking to offer both primary and tertiary 
healthcare benefits to their employees. 
This represents an opportunity for an 
uninsured part of the population to migrate 
into private healthcare.

25%3 
owned

INVESTMENT GUIDELINES

3The shareholding increased to 30% in April, an additional 5% of equity was acquired.

AT INCEPTION, RHB ESTABLISHED A SET OF INVESTMENT CRITERIA FROM WHICH IT HAS NOT 
DEVIATED. RHB HAS FOUND THESE GUIDELINES TO BE BOTH INFORMATIVE AND INSTRUCTIVE 
IN SETTING ITS INVESTMENT COURSE. THE INVESTMENT SPEAKS TO THE CREATION OF 
A SELF-SUPPORTING ECOSYSTEM ENGINEERED TO DELIVER ON THE RHB MANDATE. THE 
INVESTMENT CRITERIA ARE AS FOLLOWS:

INVESTMENT CRITERIA

Acquire existing and 
operational healthcare 

infrastructure

Invest in healthcare  
related financial services  

companies

Invest in  
pharmaceutical and 
logistics companies

Invest in healthcare  
tech and large data 

companies

Identify other  
opportunities along the 
healthcare value chain

60%
owned
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HOSPITAL ACQUISITIONS TO DATE
AFRICA HEALTH CARE (AHC)
An integrated healthcare operator with 
a portfolio of hospitals, pharmaceutical 
distribution, ambulance network, 
emergency services, nursing college 
and facilities management. 21 hospitals 
within the group (4 owned and 17 
managed hospitals) across seven (7) 
provinces. A total of 1696 beds, 511 
owned and 1185 managed.

100%
owned

RH BELL  
CLINIC
RH Bell Clinic is a 51 bed private 
psychiatric hospital situated in 
Krugersdorp. The hospital has access to 
a large under-serviced market in South 
Africa. The hospital has the capacity to 
increase to 80 beds.

100%
owned

VRYBURG PRIVATE  
HOSPITAL (VPH)
VPH is a 44 bed hospital located in 
the North West Province. It is the only 
hospital within a 150km radius of the 
community. Expansion plans are being 
finalised by the Vryburg Board, including 
increasing the number of beds and 
expanding its services.

81%
owned

PHELANG BONOLO 
HEALTHCARE PROCUREMENT 
AND MANAGEMENT 
PROPRIETARY LIMITED 
(PBHPM) 
PBHPM is a healthcare management 
company currently managing Botshilu 
Private Hospital, a 100 bed hospital 
located in Soshanguve.

49%
owned

MEDICARE  
PRIVATE HOSPITAL
Medicare is a licensed 117 bed acute 
independent private hospital conveniently 
located in Rustenburg, North West 
Province. The facility is currently 
operating 110 beds with the opportunity 
to expand further to the 4th floor for 
an additional 30 to 60 beds, a cardiac 
catheterisation lab and doctors’ rooms. 

51%
owned

RH FAUCHARD  
HOSPITAL
RH Fauchard Hospital is a 16 bed day 
clinic located in Gauteng. The hospital 
has access to the growing day hospital 
market. Day hospitals are an alternative to 
acute hospitals services, with affordable 
prices that appeal to medical insurance.

100%
owned

RONDEBOSCH  
MEDICAL CENTRE (RMC)

100%
owned

RMC is an acute 123 bed hospital (with 
the capacity and potential to reach more 
than 200 beds). The hospital is located in 
Rondebosch, Cape Town, with access to 
major highways and a medical school. 

RHB-AHC DEAL SIGNING
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IN JUST THREE YEARS, RH BOPHELO HAS SUCCESSFULLY DEPLOYED (INCLUDING IN 
PROCESS) MOST OF THE INITIAL R500 MILLION IT RAISED ON LISTING. RH BOPHELO HAS 

MADE A NUMBER OF ACQUISITIONS SINCE ITS INCEPTION AND JSE LISTING, WHICH 
INCLUDES A HOSPITAL PORTFOLIO OF 1696 BEDS, 511 OWNED AND 1185 MANAGED BEDS 

UNDER MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS ACROSS EIGHT SOUTH AFRICAN PROVINCES.

CURRENT GROUP STRUCTURE

OUR CURRENT SEGMENTS 2022 FOCUS 2023 FOCUS

• Healthcare investments 
• Financial services investments

• Hospital Property (REIT) 
• Investment Funds (these funds are 

intended to increase the size reach and 
scope of RHB – “Bang for the Buck”

• Healthcare Tech Fund
• Pharmacy and logistics (warehouse 

and retail)

• Growth of existing assets
• Acquisition of additional 

complimentary assets.
• East African expansion

Razorite Fund II

RH Africa Fund

RH 12J Limited¹

20%
20%

RH Bophelo Operating Company (Pty) LtdMedical Technology RH Financial Services (Pty) Ltd

Africa
Health Care 

Rondebosch
Medical Centre

Vryburg Private 
Private Hospital
OpCo & PropCo

Medicare Private 
Hospital

OpCo & PropCo

RH Fauchard 
Hospital

OpCo & PropCo

RH Bell Clinic
OpCo & PropCo

Phelang Bonolo
Healthcare 

Procurement and 
Management 

(Pty) Ltd
(Manages Botshilo 
Private Hospital)

100% 100% 81% 51% 100% 100% 49%

100% 100%

Wesmart 
Financial & 

Administration 
Solutions (Pty) 

Ltd

Genric Insurance 
Company 
Limited²

Medical 
Bank

60% 25%
Strategic Initiatives (Work in progress, not yet completed)

¹  Disposed of the Section 12J investment at the end of February 2021 due 
to the end of the Section 12J programme for Venture Capital Companies.

²  RHB Acquired an additional 5% shareholding in Genric on 30 April 2021 
taking its shareholding to 30%.
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FOCHVILLE PRIVATE HOSPITAL (OWNED)

37 bed hospital in Gauteng
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Amounts to 70% of the capital base and capital allocated. The strategy model is “hub and spoke”,  
based on 10 (ten) entry-level hospitals for every 1 (one) specialised hospital (this is directly inverse to 
other major hospital groups, that have 10 (ten) specialised for every 1 (one) feeder). 

This hub and spoke model (based on 10 (ten) entry-level hospitals and 1 (one) specialised hospital) 
sees RH Bophelo investing in the integration of ancillary services in hospital management, emergency 
medicine and information technology to bolster earnings and provide the best possible experience to 
clients. RH Bophelo’s target is 40 hospitals in this pillar. 

Currently, RH Bophelo, through its investment into in Africa Health Care and PBHPM, manages over 
20 (twenty) co-owned hospitals (e.g. Kiaat Private Hospital, Medicare Private Hospital, Eden Gardens 
Private Hospital, Botshilu Private Hospital, KwaDukuza Private Hospital) that generate additional 
management fees for these companies. RH Bophelo’s network will provide access to an additional 20 
facilities, that generating significantly higher third-party operating fees.

This is allocated to 20% of the capital base. RH Bophelo recognises that we cannot compete on 
a capital base with other incumbents. As such, it is important to invest and support co-ownership 
structures that allow a bigger footprint on lower committed capital. This effectively gives RH Bophelo a 
multiplier effect. RH Bophelo has access to the following:

• Long-term development and property funds.
• A potential investment in funding platforms to support infrastructure expansion opportunities, a pipeline 

for growth and capital appreciation return.
 
RH Bophelo’s investor base can benefit from potential operating contracts for these hospitals, which will 
indirectly contribute to the bottom line whilst increasing the footprint without large capital outlays. RH 
Bophelo owns two hospital operators currently managing over 20 hospitals not owned by RH Bophelo. 

RH Bophelo sees an exponential growth opportunity in investing in companies that are providing 
affordable access products. This has been supported by an acquisition in Wesmart and Genric 
Insurance. The overall portfolio will also benefit from an increased insured population that can see an 
increase in private healthcare utilisation, including the hospitals that RH Bophelo owns. This is in line 
with RH Bophelo’s investment thesis of improving healthcare for the majority, representing the lower 
to middle-income market. This will support better utilisation of RH Bophelo hospitals. RH Bophelo 
believes access to private hospitals should be expanded to a larger portion of respective populations. To 
penetrate this market, RH Bophelo is investing in the following: 

• Various affordable healthcare and medical insurance plans and options that extend cover to the 
working uninsured.

• Genric, one of our investments, provides general insurance for its assets under management 
(infrastructure and equipment, professional indemnity) and medical aid gap cover.

• This portion of the value chain is complemented by seeking investment in case management and 
product distribution services.

RH BOPHELO’S R5 BILLION IN 5 YEARS STRATEGY (5/5 PLAN)

OUR STRATEGY

RH BOPHELO IS BUILDING AN ECOSYSTEM OF NETWORKED INVESTMENTS FOCUSED 
ON THE HEALTHCARE, HEALTHCARE INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY, PHARMACEUTICAL 
DISTRIBUTION AND FINANCIAL SERVICES SECTORS. THIS INVESTMENT NETWORK INCLUDES 
INFRASTRUCTURE AND RELATED ACCESS PRODUCTS THAT TARGET GROWTH IN THE LOWER 
AND MIDDLE-INCOME EARNERS AND WORKING UNINSURED. A SUCCESSFUL HEALTHCARE 
INVESTMENT ECOSYSTEM IS ACHIEVED BY INVESTING IN INNOVATIVE ACCESS PRODUCTS 
AND BUILDING ON STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIPS TO LEVERAGE GROWTH.

THE STRATEGY IS BASED ON THE FOLLOWING THREE (3) MAIN PILLARS:

Hospital 
infrastructure 
network and 

management 
contracts

Healthcare 
funds 

Healthcare 
access and 

insurance 

Will achieved through a ZAR1.5bn equity raise, ZAR R1,5bn in convertible debt instruments, and Zar 0,5bn equity swap 
acquisitions and ZAR 1bn in earnings growth to achieve an Enterprise Value (EV) of ZAR 5bn.
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OUR COMMITMENT TO OURSELVES

Growth and expansion Post investment expertise & investor 
relations Excellence in governance

Hospitals
Optimise internal  

processes and systems to manage a 
growing healthcare ecosystem

Organisational culture emanates  
from the top 

Financial services and healthcare tech 
products Improve investor relations Align systems and processes  

across the Group

 Pharmaceuticals/Pathology Labs Expand outside South Africa Effective internal and external 
communications 

OUR COMMITMENT TO SOCIETY

Collaboratively execute programmes of socio-economic change and justice

Education and training Health equity and justice

Private medical school Spread the healthcare dividend 

Private nurse training colleges Provide opportunities for Africans to  
participate in the healthcare economy 

 Positively impact the well-being of South African and African society 

Global collaboration with other  
healthcare providers Leaders in healthcare provision Lobby governments to drive change 

RH BOPHELO HAS EMBARKED ON A MISSION TO INVEST IN AFFORDABLE HEALTHCARE 
OPPORTUNITIES THROUGH CAPITAL ALLOCATION IN INNOVATION, AFFORDABLE 
INFRASTRUCTURE AND INSURANCE PRODUCTS. BY UPHOLDING OUR COMMITMENT TO 
GOOD GOVERNANCE, OUR GOAL IS TO BECOME THE MOST DYNAMIC AND MULTIFACETED 
INVESTMENT COMPANY OF CHOICE FOR ALL IN AFRICA. 

FIVE-YEAR STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK
GROWTH PLANS

BELA-BELA PHODICLINIC (MANAGED)
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STRATEGY EXECUTION

Integrated healthcare: RHB invests in healthcare 
infrastructure, a health insurer offering products (for the 
working uninsured), a hospital management company and an 
insurance company (which underwrites the health insurance 
products). Together this forms our ecosystem, which is self-
enforcing and supportive.

Owning the client: RHB’smodel is geared to acquiring 
organisations that own their clients through access products 
(health insurance), which provide the working uninsured access 
to hospitals. 

Working uninsured: RHB has deliberately targeted the working 
uninsured as a critical segment of our target market. This 
segment represents approximately 20% of the addressable 
healthcare market which has previously been poorly serviced. 

Experienced team: RHB has an experienced team with a 
record of investments in more than 30 hospitals in South Africa 
(green, brown and later stage - operational assets).

Unique position: RHB’s ambitions are supported by the Health 
Outcomes Report that found that healthcare is concentrated 
on a few large players and anticompetitive behaviour in the 
market. The outcome of these regulatory interventions is that 
the big groups must offload their assets. 

National footprint: RHB has invested in building a national 
footprint with a lower capital base than the larger groups. Part 
of our strategy is to invest in a multitude of 50 bed hospital 
developments at an approximate cost of one million rand (R1m) 
per bed.

National Health Insurance (NHI): RHB’s investments are well 
positioned as it is primarily a rural and peri-urban healthcare 
provider for NHI. RHB’s portfolio, currently on the lower tariff 
structure of National Hospital Network, will thus be able 
to provide infrastructure to the government in line with its 
hospital’s infrastructure requirements based on its payer model. 

Healthcare Information Technology: Information technology 
has become an indispensable part of healthcare delivery 
in that it drives efficiencies, can serve as a barrier to 
fraudulent practices, and brings the delivery, accounting 
and compensation for services rendered into the twenty-first 
century. RHB is committed to investing in this area for the 
above reasons and is actively seeking a suitable investment 
that will accelerate its service delivery ethos.

Pharmaceutical distribution: RHB has taken its first 
steps toward creating a national footprint in the area of 
pharmaceutical distribution to deal with chronic and other 
medicines distribution to capture margin and better service our 
hospitals and the people that patronise them.

RATIONALE  
FOR INVESTMENT

KIAAT PRIVATE HOSPITAL (MANAGED)

125 bed hospital in Gauteng

MEDICARE PRIVATE HOSPITAL (OWNED)

117 bed hospital in North West
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WE UPHOLD TRANSPARENT, ACTIVE AND ONGOING ENGAGEMENT WITH REGULATORS 
AND SUPERVISORS. WE EMBRACE OUR RESPONSIBILITY OF CONDUCTING BUSINESS IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE GOVERNING LAWS AND REGULATIONS.

BUSINESS CODE OF CONDUCT AND ETHICS POLICY

OUR CORE VALUES
HONESTY AND INTEGRITY

In line with our Business Code of Conduct and Ethics Policy, we 
commit to act in a fair, honest and responsible manner, with due 
skill, care and diligence in all our business interactions, avoiding 
any act that reflects adversely on the Company’s professional 
competence and reputation.

ACCOUNTABILITY

We abide by all applicable legislation, industry codes and the 
Company’s rules, procedures and regulations. We recognise 
and honour the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa. 
We comply with all South African and applicable foreign laws, 
regulations and company policies that are in force and have a 
bearing on our business.

We do not engage in any criminal or malicious activity that may 
harm the reputation or well-being of our Brand. The Company 
adopts zero tolerance to unethical business conduct relating to 
bribery, fraud and corruption.

QUALITY

We are committed to delivering quality and value in every aspect 
of our work. Through our investments, we dedicate ourselves to 
providing high-quality care to patients within all our facilities.

CARE, COMPASSION AND RESPECT

We are passionate about quality healthcare and professional 
excellence. We listen with empathy and respond with 
compassion. Patients are entitled to dignity and privacy, and we 
combine expertise, compassion and technology to support safe 
patient care. We comply with all applicable laws and regulations 
relating to quality healthcare and safety for all our patients, 
irrespective of social status, ethnic origin, gender, capacities, or 
any other differentiating characteristics. 

COMMUNITY RELATIONSHIPS AND THE ENVIRONMENT

We have a vital role to play within the communities we serve, 
to build and foster strong relationships, encourage open and 
transparent communication, and to manage the overall welfare of 
the community and environment.

At every level of engagement, we will continue to respect their 
rights and dignity. We pledge our commitment to improving the 
material well-being of the communities in which we operate 
and to introducing sustainable healthcare services that will fulfil 
their needs. 

We will also carefully consider the utilisation of natural resources, 
including energy and water resources and ensure effective 
contribution to sustaining our environment for the future. 

VALUES AND ETHICS

RH Bophelo is committed to the highest 
standards of business integrity, ethical 
culture and professionalism, which are 
governed by laws and legislations. Our 
Business Code of Conduct and Ethics 
Policy expresses the commitment of the 
Board and senior management of  
RH Bophelo to the values, principles and 
standards that will set the tone from the 
top to support an ethical culture within 
the Company.

RH RAND CLINIC (MANAGED)

41 bed hospital in Gauteng
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South Africa currently runs a two-tiered healthcare system, 
which is comprised of: (i) the public; and (ii) the smaller, but 
ever expanding1 private sector. According to World Bank data, 
South Africa spent 8.25% of its GDP on healthcare in 2018, 
which is 4% higher than the WHO’s recommended spending 
for a country of its socio-economic status. South Africa’s 
health expenditure remains the highest in Sub-Saharan Africa. 
Despite this high expenditure relative to GDP, South Africa’s 
health outcomes lag in comparison to similar middle-income 
countries, mostly due to the inequities between the public and 
private sectors. To eliminate this inequality, the government is 
in the process of implementing National Health Insurance (NHI) 
to establish universal healthcare2. This coverage will provide the 
population with a healthcare safety net for all its citizens.

Healthcare varies from the most basic primary healthcare, offered 
free by the state, to highly specialised hi-tech health services 
available in both the public and private sectors. The private 
sector, is operated largely on commercial lines, caters to middle- 
and high-income earners who tend to be members of medical aid 
schemes (18% of the population). The private sector also attracts 
a majority of the country’s health professionals3. Expenditure on 
South Africa’s public and private healthcare in the formal sector 
totalled more than R400bn in 20194. 

The coronavirus pandemic focused attention on the state of the 
healthcare system, and its capacity to respond effectively to 
the health crisis. While private healthcare delivery is generally 
of a high standard, most public sector healthcare facilities are 
overextended, understaffed, and poorly resourced5. 

2
PERFORMANCE
AND FUTURE 
OUTLOOK 

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

SOUTH AFRICA CURRENTLY RUNS A TWO-TIERED HEALTHCARE SYSTEM, COMPRISING OF THE 
PUBLIC AND THE SMALLER, RAPIDLY GROWING PRIVATE SECTOR. HEALTHCARE EXPENDITURE 
IN SOUTH AFRICA IS EVENLY DISTRIBUTED BETWEEN THE PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SECTORS, 
ALTHOUGH INEQUALITY PERSISTS IN THE QUALITY OF HEALTHCARE SERVICES. 

ESTCOURT PRIVATE HOSPITAL (COMMISSIONING)

KwaZulu-Natal 
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Due to the high cost of private healthcare, particularly the cost 
of hospitalisation, specialist fees and radiology, more than 83% 
of the South African population is reliant on an overburdened 
public health services sector. The prohibitive cost of private 
healthcare was a focal area of an inquiry by the Competition 
Commission, whose findings and recommendations were 
published in September 2019. To redress inequities in the 
health sector, government plans to overhaul the system and 
phase in National Health Insurance (NHI).

South Africa has a high incidence of infectious diseases, 
especially HIV/AIDS and TB, a rising prevalence of non-
communicable diseases, such as diabetes, cancer and 
hypertension and an extremely high number of trauma cases, 
largely related to the high levels of violent crime and road 
accidents. There has been considerable progress in the 
management of infectious diseases such as HIV and AIDS. 
South Africa’s ARV treatment programme is the largest of its 
kind in the world.

South Africa’s health system has been stretched to breaking 
point with COVID-19 pandemic in addition to the existing 
challenges in healthcare service delivery. Despite significant 
progress in the South African health system since 1994, the 
country faces challenges in healthcare service delivery which 
are heightened by the slow progress in restructuring the 
healthcare system, increased disease burden, and an inability 
by the government and the private sector to coalesce around a 
plan to execute on NHI. 

RH Bophelo has offered its facilities to the government to 
assist in facilitating its vaccine roll-out program.  We remain 
committed to assisting our country and communities in the 
fight against COVID-19.

It is against this backdrop that RH Bophelo, makes its 
contribution in providing accessible and affordable healthcare 
to the working uninsured and those left behind by a system that 
was not designed to meet their needs.

1 Healthcare expenditure in South Africa is evenly distributed between the public and private sectors, although inequality persists in the quality of healthcare services.
2  The country has approximately 400 public hospitals and 211 private hospitals. South Africa aims to introduce a system of National Health Insurance (NHI) over a 

period of 10 years.
3 The Department of Health has an overall responsibility for healthcare in the country, with a specific responsibility for public-sector healthcare.
4 Traditional healers largely operating in the informal sector generated an estimated R3.5bn.
5  Fitch Solutions expects the South African healthcare market to increase at a CAGR of 4.7% over five years from 2017 to reach a value of US$37 billion by 2022. It also 
expects a similar growth rate over the next decade to reach a value of US$47.1 billion by 2027.

Due to the high cost of private healthcare, particularly 
hospitalisation, specialist fees and radiology,  
more than 83% of the population relies on  
overburdened public health services.

JOHN OLIPHANT  
(Chairman)
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This is our third anniversary, and it may be useful to centre our 
supporters on where we are and how we got here.

This period of time in human history will forever be known as the 
time of the great pandemic (COVID-19), and businesses will be 
judged on their ability to sustain themselves and execute on their 
strategies. The pandemic has forced many of us to reassess, 
recalibrate and focus on our core business. We have also had to 
make critical decisions and assess what is working, what is not, 
and how we can do things better. This has meant an examination 
of our internal and external relationships and vision in the short, 
medium and long term.

The first phase of our strategy deals with the acquisition of 
assets, The second, on the operational excellence, where we 
have outsourced the day-to-day operations to our wholly-owned 
subsidiary Africa Health Care, through which management, 
operational, financial and other synergies are extracted, by a 
refinement of the portfolio’s modalities to deliver first-rate service 
at reduced costs. The third phase, on building an ecosystem that  
includes financial services, (Genric – an underwriter, Wesmart – a 
UMA). The fourth (which is still a work in progress and will require 
many bespoke interventions), is our technology platform meant to 
ensure that our client base enjoys a seamless and efficient journey 
through the RH Bophelo medical system. In short, we continue to 
refine our ecosystem by purchasing our value chain, which means 
making those items that are critical to the success, a part of our 
said business.

Our goal has been and remains to get to the the R5bn mark 
which is approximately 20% of the size of the smallest player 
of the big-three (3). With R5bn, we believe that we can have a 
lasting and profound effect on the healthcare market. It is our goal 
to significantly impact the cost of medical care in South Africa 
through the development of an ecosystem designed to address 
the unique challenges of the South African healthcare market. 

To drive further value in our portfolio holdings and to enable us 
to provide returns to shareholders, we will be taking additional 
key strategic initiatives, some of which include: (i) the creation of 
a healthcare REIT so as to limit the drag that the property has on 
our operating companies; (ii) the consolidation and spinning out of 
our hospital manager once it has reached an optimal size; and (iii) 
the declaration of a dividend to shareholders.

We want to thank our shareholders for staying with us through 
the dark days of the pandemic. We also want to provide certainty 
about the Company’s financial well-being and send a strong signal 
to shareholders that we are rock-solid and will continue to deliver 
on our strategy. Lastly, because of the illiquidity of our stock, it is 
hoped that the continuous declaration of a dividend and a share 
buyback on the part of the Company will demonstrate to our 
market that we are serious about what we do and that we are here 
for the long-haul and dedicated to changing the South African 
healthcare market for the better. 

We also want to provide 
certainty about the Company’s 
financial well-being and send 
a strong signal to shareholders 
that we are rock-solid and 
will continue to deliver on our 
strategy. 

QUINTON ZUNGA  
(Chief Executive Officer)

REPORT FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

THIS IS OUR FOURTH ANNIVERSARY, AND IT MAY BE USEFUL TO CENTRE OUR SUPPORTERS ON 
WHERE WE ARE AND HOW WE GOT HERE.
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LESEGO PRIVATE HOSPITAL (COMMISSIONING)

50 bed hospital in North West
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The effects were multidimensional, as expected for all businesses 
in the healthcare sector. The economic and social lockdowns 
initiated to curb the spread of the virus impacted some of the 
projections we had as a business related to the portfolio of 
products we offer. RH Bophelo’ s portfolio of assets, particularly 
those including properties, exhibited trends in occupancy and 
utilisation rates that mirrored the healthcare sector at large. As 
a business designated as an essential service, however, the 
financial impact of the lockdowns on our business was within the 
range of outcomes that the Board considers reasonable in light 
of the times we live in.

When we listed in 2017, we stated that our commitment would 
be to invest in a portfolio of assets throughout the healthcare 
value chain that would be managed to deliver value for our 
shareholders and stakeholders. Over the past year, not only 
have we stayed true to this commitment by increasing our 
investments in two strategic assets, Genric Insurance Company 
and Rondebosch Medical Centre, we have also taken the first 
steps towards diversifying our footprint across the Continent. 
On 1 June 2020, we finalised our listing on the Rwanda Stock 
Exchange, which we regard as an important window into the 
fast-growing African private healthcare market.

STRONG GROWTH IN KEY VARIABLES
The COVID-19 pandemic has naturally affected the ability to 
initiate and conclude transactions, affecting all businesses across 
the globe. We do still believe in the viability of the deals we are 
currently exploring on the Continent. The high-quality profile of 
our portfolio of assets has enabled us to post results that are 
a significant improvement on the prior year. We believe that a 
key contributor to these good results is the robustness of the 
processes applied in evaluating each investment case by our 
Investment Committee. Over the past year, RH Bophelo has seen 
a growth in its net asset value of 34% (from R647 million to R863 
million) and an increase in investment income of over 79% (from 
R105 million to R188 million).

The key drivers of this growth are primarily in the value of the 
underlying assets within the healthcare services portfolio. The 
value drivers include the increased utilisation and reliance 
on healthcare facilities during the past year. Additionally, the 
Company increased its shareholding in Rondebosch Medical 
Centre from 30% to 100%, which enables us to account for 
the full value of the growth in RMC over the past 12 months. 
The acquisition of Genric Insurance bolstered the Company’s 
presence in the health insurance sector and contributed 5% of 

the net investment income recorded during the year. The end of 
the Section 12J programme for Venture Capital Companies has 
persuaded the Board of Directors to approve the disposal of the 
Section 12J investment, which was valued at R2,2 million at the 
end of February 2021. 

The combined impact of the transactions undertaken during the 
year and the performance of all portfolio assets, is an increase in 
basic and headline earnings per share of 67%.

SHARE CAPITAL AND DIVIDENDS
We are especially pleased to note that the Company funded its 
acquisitions through a combination of cash and the issuance of 
shares which is in line with the Company’s investment strategy. 
During the year, an additional 8 765 244 shares were issued at an 
average issue price of R9,84 per share. The proceeds were used 
to fund the acquisitions of the additional interest in Rondebosch 
Medical Centre and Genric Insurance.

On 31 May 2021, the Company declared its maiden dividend of 
15 cents per “A” ordinary share, amounting to a total proposed 
distribution of just under R10 million. 

IASB AND JSE GUIDANCE – REPORTING 
DURING COVID-19 
The developments of the past year also required the finance team 
to be more robust in its application of accounting standards and 
principles underpinning the preparation of the Annual Financial 
Statements. The Company’s leased office buildings required 
the application of IFRS 16 Leases and also consideration 
of the recommendations by the International Accounting 
Standards Board relating to lease concessions. As the Company 
did not receive any concessions during the year, the IASB 
recommendations had no impact on the financial statements. 
The Company’s lease contract resulted in the recognition of 
a lease liability and the right-of-use asset in line with IFRS 16 
Leases. The impact on the statement of profit or loss – the 
increased depreciation and finance costs, had a minor impact 
on the reported profit for the year. As expected, the financial 
reporting processes of all companies came under increased 
scrutiny in South Africa and resulted in the JSE issuing a series 
of guidance reports relating to the preparation and presentation 
of financial statements in light of the COVID-19 effects. We are 
pleased to note that we have diligently applied the guidance 
and, where appropriate, made necessary adjustments that have 

HIGHLIGHTS FROM THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

THE YEAR TO FEBRUARY 2021 WAS EXTREMELY CHALLENGING FOR THE WORLD AT 
LARGE AND THE HEALTHCARE SECTOR IN PARTICULAR. AS THE SPREAD OF THE COVID-19 
PANDEMIC BECAME THE SINGLE GREATEST PEACETIME CHALLENGE CONFRONTING 
HUMANITY, THE VARIOUS RESPONSES INITIATED BY BUSINESS AND POLITICAL LEADERS 
ACROSS THE GLOBE BECAME THE FOCAL AREA FOR ALL OF US. FOR BUSINESS LEADERS, 
THE QUESTION OF HOW TO STEER THEIR BUSINESSES THROUGH THE STORM BECAME THE 
LITMUS TEST THAT DISTINGUISHED BETWEEN BUSINESSES THAT RESPONDED WELL AND 
THOSE THAT STRUGGLED. FOR OUR BUSINESS – RH BOPHELO – OUR PARTICIPATION IN THE 
HEALTHCARE VALUE CHAIN MEANT THAT WE WERE FIRMLY PLACED IN THE HEART OF THE 
STORM THROUGHOUT THE PERIOD.

OVERVIEW
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been independently tested by our external auditors, Mazars. 
Additionally, our Audit and Risk Committee undertook its analysis 
of management’s implementation of the recommendations and 
guidance from the IASB and the JSE, and have signed off a 
compliance certificate to this effect.

Whilst the country’s vaccination programme is moving ahead, 
we believe that the after-effects of the pandemic will linger on for 
some time yet. To this end, our assessments of the assets within 
our portfolio have been stress-tested using different scenarios, 
with the most conservative scenario that the country, through 
its vaccination programme, reaches herd immunity late 2022. 
Even in this scenario, we believe that the RH Bophelo business 
remains viable as a going concern and have duly reported on 
that basis.

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE FINANCE 
COMMITTEE
The Finance Committee was established during the current 
financial year to provide the RHB Executive Committee (ExCo) 
with senior‐level advice regarding the organisation’s business, 
finance objectives and oversight responsibilities in a timely 
manner in respect of financial planning and management, risk 
and control framework, support internal and external audits, 
adherence to appropriate standards of good practices, in 
particular, the financial rules and regulations. 

The Finance Committee assists RHB ExCo, working as an 
implementing body on behalf of ARC. The Finance Committee is 
responsible to the RHB ExCo and supports the Chief Financial 
Officer in fulfilling his financial oversight responsibilities in 
accordance with applicable best practices and industry standards. 

Over the past year, RH Bophelo has seen 
a growth in its net asset value of 34% (from 
R647 million to R863 million) and an increase 
in investment income of over 79% (from R105 
million to R188 million).

KATEKANI DION MHLABA CA(SA) 
(Chief Financial Officer)
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The pandemic and its aftermath have seen RH Bophelo 
double-down and focus on its core activities, which is 
the stewarding of its portfolio companies through these 
most unusual times. Traditionally in the healthcare sector 
performance in the third quarter is poor from a revenue 
generative perspective. Medical aid funds are generally 
depleted by the end of October, and the year-end holidays 
and festive season result in specialists and other earnings 
generators taking leave and reducing the volume of work 
through their practices.

The 2020/2021 year was an abnormal one. The initial 
performance was both strong and steady as the medical aid 
funds were robust owing to the earlier wave one COVID-19, 
disruptions having incited specialists to capitalise on the 
window between wave one and the onset of the second wave. 
During October and November 2020, South Africa lifted its 
“lockdown” restrictions resulting in a greater portion of the 
economic and some social activities returning to normal, which 
in turn saw improvement in the performance throughout the 
healthcare sector as elective surgeries were re-instated and 
doctors and hospitals attempted to catch-up on their lost 
revenues. As a result, RHB saw significant increases in bed-
days sold and our theatres were unprecedentedly busy. 

The second wave of COVID-19 hit during December, as a 
consequence, closures, elective surgery and cancellations of 
medical procedures once again disrupted our operations, with 
government reimposing a number of the first wave restrictions, 
and certain facilities and regions experiencing the cancellation 
of elective surgeries. 

However, the pandemic for RHB was a time (through our 
hospital managers) to drive operational efficiencies and 
cost-cutting initiatives, which afforded the time and space 
to navigate through the worst part of the pandemic and then 
capitalize on the uptick in business activity as it occurred.

 
 
 
 

REPORT FROM THE CHIEF INVESTMENT OFFICER

THE PANDEMIC AND ITS AFTERMATH HAVE SEEN RH BOPHELO DOUBLE DOWN AND FOCUS 
ON ITS CORE ACTIVITY, WHICH IS THE STEWARDING OF ITS PORTFOLIO COMPANIES 
THROUGH THESE MOST UNUSUAL TIMES. 

The pandemic for RHB, however, was a time 
to drive operational efficiencies, as well as the 
cost-cutting initiatives which afforded the time 
and space to navigate through the worst part 
of the pandemic and then capitalise on the 
upticks in business activity as it occurred. 

COLIN CLARKE  
(Chief Investment Officer)
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We are expecting a third wave, and as with the first two waves, 
we will focus our energies, through our hospital management 
team (AHC) on the following: 

• AHC’s cooperation with government: Various health 
departments have enhanced their relationship with the State. 
This bodes well for future opportunities and the introduction of 
the NHI.

• Cost containment: Approximately 40% of the operational costs 
of hospitals relate to staff costs and salaries, and loose controls 
here can have a significant impact on their viability. RHB has 
been closely monitoring salaries, overtime and agency costs 
and making use of “banked hours” during lean operational 
times in order to reduce additional staff costs during the 
COVID-19 peaks. 

• Centralising or improving the procurement of stock across 
the portfolio: We are in the process of rolling out a bespoke 
healthcare IT management system that will assist us with 
respect to pharmacy stock management, billing and collecting, 
as well as practice management system. Lastly, migrating all 
communications platform into a centralised platform.

• Centralising pharmacy procurement for cost saving: A 
committee for the procurement of pharmacy supplies has 
been established. It is developing a pricelist according to 
which all Group hospitals will procure ethical  surgical and 
other equipment. The ultimate goal is to generate a groupwide 
pharmaceutical savings through volume buying of 8–12%.

• Optimized operations: Enhanced standard operating 
procedures engagement at asset and portfolio level, 
with AHC-wide operational efficiencies being the focus. 
Standardising operations ensures easier comparisons 
between facilities, unlocked synergies and application of best 
practices across the Group. 

OUR VALUATION POLICY 
The RHB Valuation Policy is intended to provide transparency 
with respect to the RHB portfolio companies. The preparation 
of valuations and selection of appropriate comparable 
companies, metrics and discount rates are the responsibility of 
the investment manager (“Manco”) for each portfolio Company 
monitored through the Investment Committee. 

The investment manager uses his or her best judgment 
tailored to the specific circumstances of the Company being 
valued and market in which it operates. All methodologies and 
decisions resulting from such judgments are well documented 
in the supporting materials to the valuation and in the 
valuation report itself.

In summary, rather than further elaborating on the scope of our 
Valuation Policy, found in the Policy itself and in the valuation 
binder for each portfolio Company, we have summarised the 
RHB valuation methodology below:

i. Discounted Cash Flow Analysis 
ii. WACC determination

• Capital Asset Pricing Model (“CAPM”) and Beta:
• Beta Co-efficient:
• Specific Risk Premium
• Small Stock Premium

iii. Public Comparable Analysis
iv. Other methods could include:

• Revenue  benchmarking for similar companies to the market 
cap. 

• For hospitals, price per bed over the market cap.
• EBITDA benchmarks.

v. Discounts
• Marketability discount
• Minority discount

vi. Liquidity discounts

ESTCOURT PRIVATE HOSPITAL (COMMISSIONING)

KwaZulu-Natal 
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Whilst the country’s vaccination programme is moving ahead, we 
believe that the after-effects of the pandemic will linger on for some time 
yet. To this end, our assessments of the assets within our portfolio have 
been stress-tested using different scenarios, with the most conservative 
scenario that the country, through its vaccination programme, reaches 
herd immunity late 2022.
Katekani Dion Mhlaba CA(SA)

OUR DIVIDEND POLICY 
DIVIDEND POLICY GUIDELINE

The Company is authorized to pay dividends to its shareholders 
and uses the guidelines herein to determine and pay such 
dividend as is approved.

1. DECLARATION AND PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS 

1.1  The Dividend Policy of the Company is to distribute to its 
shareholders surplus funds from its net distributable profits 
and/or general reserves, as may be determined by the Board 
of Directors, subject to: 

• The recognition of profit and availability of cash for 
distribution; 

• The undertaking of a solvency and liquidity test;
• Any banking or other funding requirements binding the 

Company, from time to time;
• The operating and investment needs of the Company;
• The anticipated future growth and earnings of the 

Company; 
• Provisions of the Company’s Memorandum of 

Incorporation; 
• Emerging trends in dividend pay-outs in the industry; and 
• Any relevant applicable laws.  

1.2  The Company shall endeavour to maintain a dividend pay- 
out ratio of not more than 2% of the Net Asset Value (NAV)  
and/or 10% of earnings or 20 cents per share subject to the 
above considerations. This will be either an interim dividend 
or a final dividend subject to Board approval. 

1.3  Dividend payments will be in a form of either cash or shares. 
The decision of whether to choose cash or shares, or both, 
will be subject to Board approval.

1.4  The Company. prior to the declaration of any dividend, may  
transfer such percentage of its profit for that financial year as 
it may consider appropriate to the reserves of the Company. 

1.5  The Company’s Board of Directors are responsible for 
generating all proposed resolutions on the declaration and 
payment of dividends. 

1.6  The Company will not declare any dividends where the law 
prevents such payment and if there are reasonable grounds 
for believing that the Company is or would be, after a 
dividend payment, unable to pay its liabilities or discharge its 
obligations as and when they become due.

1.7  The decision of declaring and paying dividends is approved 
at a meeting of the Board of Directors.

1.8  The Board of Directors may in its discretion declare an interim 
dividend based on profits arrived at as per quarterly or half 
yearly financial results. Where no final dividend is declared, 
the interim dividend shall be regarded as the final dividend at 
the Annual General Meeting.

1.9  The list of persons entitled to receive dividends at the closure 
date is prepared by the Share Registrar according to the 
Company’s instructions and prevailing legislation. The time, 
place and procedure for payment of dividends is publicly 
communicated to shareholders in advance of the register 
closure date and payment date.

2.     All unclaimed distributions are held by the Company in trust 
indefinitely but subject to the laws of prescription. Following 
this period, the unclaimed distributions may be invested 
or otherwise used by the Directors for the benefit of the 
Company. Any unclaimed monies in respect of which the 
claims of the relevant Securities holders have prescribed 
shall be forfeited by a resolution of the Directors for the 
benefit of the Company and may be dealt with by the 
Directors or their assigns as they deem fit.

3.   The Company shall continue paying declared dividends for 
shares on which accrued dividends have not been received 
by any shareholder or which have not converted into 
unclaimed dividends and been remitted to the Unclaimed 
Financial Assets Authority.

4.   No interest shall accrue on unclaimed dividends held by 
the Company. 
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Integrated healthcare group, four owned hospitals and 17 hospitals under management contracts, facilities management 
and ambulance business and emergency services. In the current year, AHC acquired 50% of Pharmaways, a pharmaceutical 
distribution business.

AHC OWNED HOSPITALS

AHC MANAGED HOSPITALS*

Fochville Private Hospital Gauteng

Fountain Private Hospital Gauteng

St. Helena Private Hospital Free State

Platinum Private Hospital Free State

Abaqulusi Private Hospital KwaZulu-Natal

Bela-Bela Phodiclinic Limpopo

Eden Gardens Private Hospital KwaZulu-Natal

Healing Hills Hospital KwaZulu-Natal

Kiaat Private Hospital Mpumalanga

KwaDukuza Private Hospital KwaZulu-Natal

Medicare Private Hospital North West

Medical Hospital of Lebowakgomo Limpopo

RH Bell Clinic Gauteng

RH Fauchard Hospital Gauteng

RH Matjhabeng Private Hospital Free State

RH Phodiclinic (Barberton) Mpumalanga

RH Piet Retief Private Hospital Mpumalanga

RH Rand Clinic Gauteng

RMA Care Facility Free State

Rondebosch Medical Centre Western Cape

Vryburg Private Hospital North West

* Notable AHC managed hospitals

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

AFRICA HEALTH CARE

BEDS:  
1696 
(511 owned and 
1185 managed)

OWNERSHIP:  
100% 
(prior year 100%)

FAIR VALUE IN THE 
CURRENT YEAR:  
R309 million 
(38% increase compared 
to prior year)

REVENUE:  
R282.5 million 
(prior year R264 million)

CAPITAL ALLOCATED  
(COSTS):  
R122.5 million 
(prior year R122.5 million)

VALUE PROPORTION  
TO THE GROUP:  
37% 
(prior year 44%)

FAIR VALUE TO 
PROPORTION  
OF PROPERTY:  
4% 
(prior year 5%)

VALUATION METHOD: 
Discounted cash 
flows
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Specialised acute hospital servicesAcute hospital services, including pharmaceutical services

VRYBURG PRIVATE HOSPITAL RONDEBOSCH MEDICAL CENTRE

BEDS:  
44

OWNERSHIP:  
81%  
(prior year 81%)

FAIR VALUE IN THE 
CURRENT YEAR:  
R31.1 million 
(15% increase compared  
to prior year) 

REVENUE:  
R39.9 million 
(26% decrease compared 
to prior year)

CAPITAL ALLOCATED (COSTS):  
R35.8 million 
(prior year  R28.4 million)

VALUE PROPORTION  
TO THE GROUP:  
4% 
(prior year 5%)

FAIR VALUE TO 
PROPORTION  
OF PROPERTY:  
74% 
(prior year 75%)

VALUATION METHOD: 
Discounted  
cash flows

BEDS:  
136

OWNERSHIP:  
100%  
(prior year 30%)

FAIR VALUE IN THE 
CURRENT YEAR:  
R197.3 million 
(124% increase when 
compared to prior year)

REVENUE:  
R130.3 million 
(21% increase compared to 
prior year)

CAPITAL ALLOCATED (COSTS):  
R143.7 million  
(prior year R50 million) 

VALUE PROPORTION  
TO THE GROUP:  
24% 
(prior year 9%)

FAIR VALUE TO 
PROPORTION  
OF PROPERTY:  
Nil

VALUATION METHOD: 
Discounted  
cash flows
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Specialised acute hospital services Psychiatric hospital services

MEDICARE PRIVATE HOSPITAL RH BELL CLINIC

BEDS:  
51

OWNERSHIP:  
100% 

FAIR VALUE IN THE 
CURRENT YEAR:  
R29.9 million 
(58% decrease 
compared to prior year)

REVENUE:  
R12.3 million 
(60% increase compared 
to prior year) 

CAPITAL ALLOCATED (COSTS):  
R39.0 million

VALUE PROPORTION  
TO THE GROUP:  
4% 
(prior year 8%)

FAIR VALUE TO PROPORTION  
OF PROPERTY:  
113% 
(prior year 87%)

VALUATION METHOD: 
Discounted  
cash flows

BEDS:  
117

OWNERSHIP:  
51%  
of the hospital and 50,1%  
of the property company

FAIR VALUE IN THE 
CURRENT YEAR:  
R176.6 million 
(46.9% increase when 
compared to prior year)

CAPITAL ALLOCATED (COSTS):  
R123.4 million 
(prior year R120 million)

VALUE PROPORTION  
TO THE GROUP:  
21% 
(prior year 24%)

FAIR VALUE TO 
PROPORTION  
OF PROPERTY:  
41% 
(prior year 42%)

VALUATION METHOD: 
Discounted  
cash flows

REVENUE:  
R209.5 million 
(18% increase 
compared to prior year) 
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Day hospital services Hospital management services

RH FAUCHARD HOSPITAL PHELANG BONOLO HEALTHCARE  
PROCUREMENT AND MANAGEMENT

BEDS:  
16

OWNERSHIP:  
100%

FAIR VALUE IN THE 
CURRENT YEAR:  
R18.6 million 
(0.4% decrease compared  
to prior year)

REVENUE:  
R4,6 million 
(53% decrease compared  
to prior year)

CAPITAL ALLOCATED (COSTS):  
R29.5 million 
(prior year R25 million)

VALUE PROPORTION  
TO THE GROUP:  
2% 
(prior year 5%)

FAIR VALUE TO PROPORTION  
OF PROPERTY:  
48% 
(prior year 46%)

VALUATION METHOD: 
Discounted  
cash flows

BEDS:  
100

CAPITAL ALLOCATED (COSTS):  
R12.5 million

OWNERSHIP:  
49% 

VALUE PROPORTION  
TO THE GROUP:  
1% 
(prior year 2%)

FAIR VALUE IN THE 
CURRENT YEAR:  
R10.2 million 
(11.3% decrease when 
compared to prior year) 

FAIR VALUE TO PROPORTION  
OF PROPERTY:  
Nil

REVENUE:  
R2.7 million 
(210% decrease compared  
to prior year)

VALUATION METHOD: 
Discounted  
cash flows
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Healthcare insurance

WESMART GENRIC INSURANCE COMPANY
Short-term insurance 

VALUE PROPORTION  
TO THE GROUP:  
1%

FAIR VALUE TO 
PROPORTION  
OF PROPERTY:  
Nil

REVENUE:  
R1.4 million 
(40% increase compared  
to prior year)

FAIR VALUE IN THE 
CURRENT YEAR:  
R8.8 million 
(138% increase compared  
to prior year)

CAPITAL ALLOCATED (COSTS):  
R3.6 million

VALUATION METHOD: 
Discounted  
cash flows

OWNERSHIP:  
60%

VALUE PROPORTION  
TO THE GROUP:  
7% 
(prior year nil) 

REVENUE: 
R259.6 million 
(17% increase compared  
to prior year)

FAIR VALUE IN THE 
CURRENT YEAR:   
R56.2 million

CAPITAL ALLOCATED (COSTS):  
R52.5 million 

VALUATION METHOD: 
Discounted  
cash flows 

OWNERSHIP:  
30% 
(prior year nil)
Acquired an additional  
5% shareholding on 30 April 2021
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3
CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE 
OVERVIEW

RH Bophelo is committed to maintaining the highest standards of governance, ethics and integrity. The Board of Directors are 
accountable to its stakeholders and should act responsibly as ethical leaders of corporate governance within the Group.

Together with the Remuneration and Nominations Committee (RNC), the Board reviewed the skills and experience of its composition 
with emphasis on creating a diverse, efficient and transparent functional Board.

The Board members apply their skills and capability to provide strategic input and act independently on all Board matters.

THE BOARD’S PIVOTAL ROLE IS TO CREATE VALUE THROUGH ITS STRATEGY, IMPLEMENT POLICIES, 
ENSURE CAPITAL PRUDENCE, AND OVERSEE THE GROUP’S GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORKS.

Social and Ethics  
Committee

Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee

Audit and Risk  
Committee

Investment  
Committee

Information Technology 
Committee

RH Bophelo 
Shareholders

Board of  
Directors

Finance  
Committee

Executive  
Committee

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
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Females
Males

6 612
GENDER

Non-Executive Directors
Executive Directors
Company Secretary

4

1

7
12

BALANCE OF 
POWER

3

1

812
AGE

Younger than 46 years of age
46-55 years of age
Older than 55 years of age

Black Women
Black Men

6 612
DIVERSITY

RH BOPHELO BOARD

*Quinton Zunga and Colin Wayne Clarke are 
Black males with foreign nationality

*

RH BOPHELO STRATEGY SESSION
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John Oliphant is currently the Executive Chairman of Third Way Investment Group, a BEE financial advisory and investment firm. John 
is also a Director and the Chairman of Third Way Investment Partners and All Weather Capital, which has combined assets under 
management of R8 billion. He is the former Principal Executive Officer of the Government Employees Pension Fund (GEPF), with assets 
of more than R1.5 trillion (US$120 billion). Working closely with the Board, he managed to double GEPF’s assets in less than five years 
during the most challenging economic environment in recent history.

John also served on several key strategic industry initiatives, including being a member of the PRI Advisory Council and Chairman of the 
Code for Responsible Investing in South Africa (CRISA) Committee. John helped establish the CRISA, which is hailed as one of the best in 
the world. This contributed to him winning an Industry Person of the Year award in financial services in 2012. He was also recognised by 
the Mail and Guardian as one of the Top 200 Young South Africans in 2012 for his contribution to the world of pensions. In 2013 he was 
named Africa’s Top Emerging Leader by Africa Investor.

JOHN RABAGADI OLIPHANT (39) 
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairman 
Date of appointment: 27 March 2017

Qualification: BSc (Actuarial Science & Mathematical Statistics), BSc (Hons) 
Advanced Mathematics of Finance (University of Witwatersrand), and MSc 
Finance (Economic Policy) (University of London, SOAS)

Dinao is Co-Founder and Managing Partner of Maia Capital Partners, a financial services firm founded to facilitate large-scale impact 
investing. She is also the Founder of Maya Group, an infrastructure finance advisory firm. Dinao has more than 17 years of working 
experience, spent in various roles within corporate and investment banking at companies such as Nedbank Corporate Banking, EY 
Corporate Finance as well as Royal Bafokeng Holdings. Since starting her entrepreneurship journey in 2009, Dinao has been involved in 
the development finance sector, providing infrastructure advisory services to public and private sector clients.

Over the years, Dinao has emerged as a specialist finance professional in infrastructure transactions advisory. Her passion is to originate 
and implement commercially sustainable solutions that are aimed at addressing South Africa’s socio-economic challenges. 

DINAO MODIRWADI LERUTLA (41) 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
Date of appointment: 11 October 2019

Qualification: CFA Charterholder, MPhil Dev. Finance (USB), 
B.Bus.Sc (Business Finance Honours, UCT)

Dr Solly Motuba has been a consultant for various medical schemes and corporate entities on the rationalisation and structuring 
of health funds. He has served on several medical aid boards, in the capacity of a healthcare consultant or as a trustee. Dr Motuba 
previously served as a Principal Officer for two medical schemes (one closed scheme and one self-administered open scheme) 
and as a CEO for a third-party medical aid administrator. He has also worked as an Executive in charge of a Managed Care 
Organisation. 

Dr Motuba co-founded Cure Day Clinics and Vmed Medical Aid Administrators and is a former board member of BHF and 
Mamelodi Hospital. Dr Motuba still serves on several boards. Until recently, he was the Head of Private Practice at the South 
African Medical Association. He is currently employed as an Executive Director at Metropolitan Health, in the capacity of Chief 
Commercial Officer.

DR SOLOMON (SOLLY) GABRIEL MOTUBA (57) 
Lead Independent Non-Executive Director 
Date of appointment: 27 March 2017

Qualification: MBChB (MEDUNSA), MBA (University of Pretoria), Digital Marketing 
Diploma (VEGA), Diploma in Financial Management (Damelin), Certificate in Administration 
of Estates (University of South Africa), FILPA (Institute of Life and Pension Advisors)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

32 INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2021  |  INVESTING IN HEALTH FOR WEALTH



Refiloe has more than 17 years of professional experience in leading and directing high-performance teams, helping them maintain 
the overall financial well-being of their organisation. Refiloe has expertise in implementing and managing financial systems, ensuring 
robustness, compliance and agility to support the company’s goals. Refiloe started her auditing career with audits in the public and 
private sectors. For five years, she was Group Financial Director of Thebe Investment Corporation, and before that, she was the Financial 
Director of Royal Bafokeng Holdings. Currently, she is the CFO of African Rainbow Capital. Refiloe has more than 10 years’ board 
experience and has performed various roles across diverse industries. She has also been the Chairperson of Finance Committees and a 
member of Audit and Risk Committees.

Current boards include, amongst others: CMH Group Limited, African Rainbow Capital Investment Limited, Alexander Forbes Group 
Holdings Limited, African Rainbow Capital Financial Services and African Rainbow Capital.

She is a trustee of Pearl Edu Vision, an organisation that focuses on career guidance in Limpopo. 

REFILOE MMAMODIANE NKADIMENG (40) 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
Date of appointment: 11 October 2019 (Resigned 8 March 2021) 

Qualification: BCom Accounting (Wits University), Higher Diploma in 
Accounting (Wits University), CA(SA)

Dr Ntshwana is a Specialist Physician (Internal Medicine) and a sub-specialist in Medical Gastroenterology and Hepatology.

With more than 16 years of experience in the fraternity, she spent 12 years in the public sector, more than 70% of which was spent in 
academic institutions. As a specialist consultant in the Department of Medicine in the Wits circuit of teaching hospitals, she served as an 
associate lecturer. She was therefore involved in the academic training programs of medical students and registrars. During her earlier 
years in the fraternity, she worked in a variety of disciplines, including surgery, anaesthesia and paediatrics, before settling on internal 
medicine. Dr Ntshwana is currently in private practice at Mediclinic Sandton. She is also serves on the board of MEDICOOP CFI.

DR KGAOGELO RACHEL NTSHWANA (44) 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
Date of appointment: 27 March 2017

Qualification: MBChB (University of Cape Town), Fellowship of The College of 
Physicians of South Africa (CMSA), Certificate in Gastroenterology for Physicians 
(CMSA), Member of the Institute of Directors of South Africa
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Remuneration and Nominations Committee

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

Investment Committee Social and Ethics Committee Audit and Risk Committee

RH BOPHELO STRATEGY SESSION
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Bojane Segooa is a qualified chartered accountant and an award-winning social entrepreneur with extensive experience in financial 
management, corporate tax, risk management, and corporate governance. 

She is passionate about education, technology and innovation, so it comes as no surprise that her company’s leading product, 
Levelsapp, is a career guidance digital platform that offers a lot of useful information to learners and job-seekers. This app got her 
selected as a finalist in the national edutech category of the Southern African Start-Up Awards. She is also a recipient of the Innovation 
Support Programme Research Award, which is given by the Department of Science and Technology.

Last year, Bojane was appointed as the Play Your Part Ambassador by Brand South Africa. This honourary appointment recognises 
patriotic, high-impact South Africans whose work inspires, uplifts and empowers fellow South Africans. She is currently pursuing her 
studies as a Masters in Innovation candidate at Wits Business School.

BOJANE SEGOOA (36) 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
Date of appointment: 4 October 2019

Qualification: Bachelor of Accounting Science (University of South Africa); BCompt 
Honours (University of South Africa), CA(SA)

Dr PD Sekete has 38 years’ medical experience, working in both public and private hospitals. Dr Sekete has extensive management 
experience in healthcare, property and environmental health. Between 1995 and 1997, he was responsible for integrating the Ekurhuleni 
District clinics with provincial clinics and hospitals.

Dr Sekete is a Director of MEDITECH South Africa (Pty) Ltd, a leading health information company contracted to the South African 
Department of Health (DoH) (16 years). Dr Sekete owns a leading waste management company, Buhle Waste (Pty) Ltd, contracted to the 
South African DoH (14 years). 

He is also a Director of Acsion Limited, a property company listed on the JSE worth approximately R4 billion. He sits on the Investment 
Committee and Social and Ethics Committee of Acsion Limited. He is also a Director of Aberrant Medical Supplies, which provides 
medical point of care diagnostic products, especially diagnosis, timely treatment, medicine dispensing and compliance.

DR PHETOLE DAVID SEKETE (67) 
Non-independent  Non-Executive Director  
Date of appointment: 27 March 2017

Qualification: BSc (UNIC), MBChB (Natal University), MSc Med  
(University of Witwatersrand)

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Quinton Zunga is the founder and current Chief Executive Officer of RH Managers (Pty) Ltd. Prior to this, he was co-founder and 
Executive Director of Arkein Capital Partners. Quinton has 19 years of high-level business experience, including 12 years of professional 
experience at senior levels in investment banking and four years’ private equity experience. Prior to founding RH Managers and co-
founding Arkein Group, Quinton was a Director at Bank of America Merrill Lynch SA (BofAML) and Head of its debt capital markets 
for South Africa and Sub-Saharan Africa. In that role, Quinton was instrumental in developing BofAML’s Sub-Saharan Africa business, 
focusing on regional hubs in South Africa, Nigeria and Kenya, with capital raised of more than US$1.5 billion in these regions.

Prior to joining BofAML, Quinton was Head of Debt Capital Markets at Absa Capital, a role he assumed after the merger of Barclays and 
Absa Bank. Before this merger, Quinton was Head of Debt Capital Markets at Barclays. He helped develop Africa’s Debt Capital Markets, 
launching the first medium-term notes in Botswana, Tanzania, Mauritius and Zambia. He also led the issue of municipal bonds by the City 
of Johannesburg. 

As Lead Manager and Co-lead Manager during his seven years at Barclays, Quinton raised over US$2.0 billion in 40 transactions. Quinton 
has served on the Executive Committee of the Debt Insurers Association (SA), and as an associate of the Institute of Bankers, and is a 
graduate of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries.

QUINTON ZUNGA (44) 
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 
Date of appointment: 27 March 2017

Qualification: BBusSc, MSc (University of London)

Colin is an Executive Director of RH Bophelo and currently Chairman of the Board for Benguela Global Fund Managers, Africa Health 
Care, Pharmaways Healthcare, Vryburg Private Hospital, Medicare Private Hospital, RH Bell Clinic, and RH Fauchard Hospital. He is also 
the Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee of Genric Insurance Company.

Colin’s former roles as Chairman included the Investment Committee of Sizwe Medical Fund and the Compensation Committee for 
Atlatsa Group Resource. He was on the Board of Directors of ACPI Investment Managers South Africa. Colin also served as Chief 
Investment Officer for Sishen Iron Ore’s Community Development Trust and Director for the special projects division of Lonrho Africa Plc.

Colin has served as the Chief Operating Officer of the National Empowerment Fund in South Africa. He has many years of international 
experience in legal, private equity and corporate finance with multinational organisations such as BP Amoco, where he served as legal 
counsel in Western Areas (acquisitions department). Colin also held the position of Deputy Director for Trade and Investment at the African 
American Institute and Programme Director for the Africa Regional Assistance Electoral Fund. Colin is an Advocate of the High Court of 
South Africa and a Category I FSB Licence holder. 

COLIN WAYNE CLARKE (55) 
Chief Investment Officer, Chairman of Investment Committee 
Date of appointment: 2 September 2019 (Board)

Qualification: BA, Political Science, MBA, JD, Advocate High Court SA

Remuneration and Nominations Committee
COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

Investment Committee Social and Ethics Committee Audit and Risk Committee
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Vuyokazi Nomvalo holds a Bachelor of Accounting Science degree and Honours from the University of South Africa (UNISA) and is a 
qualified Chartered Accountant. Vuyokazi completed her articles with Pricewaterhouse Coopers in 2009, where she served within the 
Financial Services sector. During this period, she was exposed to the audit process of various financial institutions, including Standard 
Bank Equities, First National Bank Credit, Liberty Life, Absa Credit and RMB Merchant bank (RMB Stockbroking, RMB Securities and 
RMB Morgan Stanley). Vuyokazi subsequently joined the IDC as a Business Analyst, later promoted to Project Manager. During her time 
at the IDC, Vuyokazi gained valuable experience in deal-making within various sectors, including the Renewable Energy Independent 
Power Procurement Programme (REIPPP).

Vuyokazi was involved in various transactions (projects) and submissions to the REIPPP, with four of these projects awarded the preferred 
Bidder status and currently being implemented.

In 2014, Vuyokazi joined RH Managers as an Investment Principal, a post which she was promoted to Investment Partner, she has 
executed transactions that include greenfield projects and acquisitions of operating assets.

VUYOKAZI PHATHEKA NOMVALO (40) 
Executive Director 
Date of appointment: 27 March 2017 

Qualification: Qualification: BCom (Hons) (University of South Africa), CA(SA)

With over 25 years of professional experience, Ragni Naicker gained vast knowledge in finance, company secretarial and corporate 
governance. She worked at Investec Asset Managers and RMB Private Bank and was later appointed Group Company Secretary for a 
property fund listed on the JSE. Ragni played a pivotal role in setting up the governance structures for funds listed on the Nigerian Stock 
Exchange, the Stock Exchange of Mauritius and the London Stock Exchange.

Backed by her wealth of experience, she was instrumental in the listing of RH Bophelo on the JSE. Her current role in the Company 
includes informing the Board members of their legal responsibilities as per the the JSE Listings Requirements. Currently, Ragni serves as 
Company Secretary and corporate governance professional to Corporate Vision Consulting Proprietary Limited.

RAJESHREE (RAGNI) NAICKER (47) 
Company Secretary (Representative of Corporate Vision Consulting 
Proprietary Limited) 
Date of appointment: 27 March 2017

Qualification: CIS Professional Advanced Qualification in Governance and 
Administration, Associate Member of the Chartered Institute of Business 
Management (CIBM)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Dion Mhlaba has a BCom Accounting Degree and is an Honours graduate from the University of Johannesburg. He also holds a Wits 
Business School certificate following his completion of the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Management Development 
Programme and a Harvard University certificate on Universal Healthcare. He completed his articles with KPMG (Johannesburg), where 
he qualified as a Chartered Accountant (CA) and Registered Auditor (RA).

During his tenure at KPMG, Dion’s clients included Nedbank, Industrial Development Corporation (IDC), Development Bank of 
Southern Africa (DBSA) and Shanduka. His audit focused on credit modelling, interpretation of investment agreements, model audit, 
accounting, budgeting, taxation and accounting for financial instruments such as bonds, preference shares, debentures, loans, money 
market instruments and valuation of equity and hybrid instruments.

He also worked with Afripalm Resources and Sakhumnotho Group Holdings on fundraising, project review and stakeholder relations 
Dion is a former senior lecture for the University of Johannesburg. 

KATEKANI DION MHLABA (35) 
Chief Financial Officer 
Date of appointment: 27 March 2017

Qualification: BCom (Accounting) (Hons) (University of Johannesburg), CA(SA)

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
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INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Fulu Makwetla is the co-founder and Managing Director of Third Way Investment Partners. She is also a Non-Executive Director of 
the South African Venture Capital and Private Equity Association (SAVCA), All Weather Capital and Fundi Capital. She was previously 
the Investment Manager of the GEPF, the largest pension fund in Africa, with assets in excess of R1.8 trillion (during her tenure), 
representing the retirement interest of 1.2 million members and over 360 000 pensioners. During her tenure at the GEPF, she served on 
various committees and represented the GEPF on advisory boards of Private Equity Funds. Prior to joining the GEPF, as Executive and 
Senior Investment Consultant at RisCura, Fulu consulted for pension funds, insurance companies and medical schemes in Southern 
Africa. She was an employer elected trustee of the RisCura Provident Fund. She also worked for RMB Asset Management and has 
over 17 years of industry experience.

FULUFHELO (FULU) MAKWETLA (41) 
Member of the Investment Committee and Non-Executive Director of the ManCo 
Date of appointment: 22 March 2018

Qualification: BCom Econometrics, BCom (Hons) Economics, (University of Pretoria)

ATTENDANCE AT BOARD AND SUB-COMMITTEE MEETINGS

DIRECTOR BOARD AUDIT AND RISK 
COMMITTEE

REMUNERATION 
AND 

NOMINATION 
COMMITTEE

SOCIAL 
AND ETHICS 
COMMITTEE

INVESTMENT 
COMMITTEE 

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

John Oliphant  
(Chair of the Board) 4/4  1/2  1/1

Dinao Lerutla 3/4 6/7 2/2  1/1

Refiloe Nkadimeng² 4/4 7/7    

Dr Solomon Motuba 3/4 7/7¹  2/2 1/1

Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana 4/4 5/7 2/2¹  0/1

Dr David Sekete 4/4   2/2¹ 1/1

Bojane Segooa 4/4   2/2  

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Quinton Zunga  
(Chief Executive Officer) 4/4     

Dion Mhlaba  
(Chief Financial Officer) 4/4     

Vuyokazi Nomvalo 4/4   2/2 1/1

Colin Clarke 4/4    1/1¹

Fulu Makwetla³     1/1

¹ Chair of the Sub-Committee 
² Refiloe Nkadimeng resigned as a member of the Board and Audit and Risk Committee on 8 March 2021 
³ Director of RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited.

Remuneration and Nominations Committee
COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

Investment Committee Social and Ethics Committee Audit and Risk Committee

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2021  |  INVESTING IN HEALTH FOR WEALTH 37



Subsequent to the financial year-end, the following 
changes occurred:

Ms Refiloe Nkadimeng resigned as Director of the 
Company and as a member of the Audit and Risk 
Committee with effect from 8 March 2021. Ms Nkadimeng’ 
resignation was as a result of her current position as 
the Chief Financial Officer of African Rainbow Capital, 
precluding her from sitting on other company boards.

Dr Solomon Motuba resigned as Chairperson of the 
Audit and Risk Committee with effect from 26 May 2021. 
Dr Solomon Motuba was temporarily appointed as the 
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee after the 
untimely passing of the previous Chair Ms. Londeka Shezi 
in July 2019.

Dinao Lerutla has been nominated as Chairperson of the 
Audit and Risk Committee with effect from 26 May 2021, 
subject to shareholder approval.

Bojane Segooa has been nominated as a member of the 
Audit and Risk Committee with effect from 26 May 2021, 
subject to shareholder approval.

The Board and Audit and Risk Committee continues to be 
compliant with the composition requirements of King IV 
and the JSE Listings Requirements.

COMPLIANCE

• The King IV Report on Corporate Governance for 
South Africa;

• The JSE Listings Requirements; 
• The Rwanda Stock Exchange Listings Rules; 
• The Companies Act 71 of 2008, as amended, and 

the Companies Regulations; and
• The International Financial Reporting Standards 

THE COMPANY IS SUBJECT TO 
EXTERNAL REGULATION BY VARIOUS 
SUPERVISORY AUTHORITIES. 
THE PRINCIPAL APPLICABLE 
FRAMEWORKS INCLUDE:

CHANGES TO THE BOARD

RH BOPHELO STRATEGY SESSION
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The Board has further established the following committees; 
Audit & Risk, Investment, Remuneration and Nominations and 
Social and Ethics. The Board committees within its structures 
perform their advisory and oversight function independently 
to deliver on its duties effectively. The Board approves the 
delegations to committees that are recorded through terms of 
reference. 

The scope and responsibilities of the committees, as 
well as the appointment of new committee members, are 
determined and finalised by the Board. All terms of reference 
were reviewed and approved by the Board during the 2020 
financial year.

For the Board committees to function efficiently, they have 
access to Company information and any resources required 
to assist them in fulfilling their responsibilities, including 
professional advice, which is paid for by the Company, 
following an approved procedure.

In attendance, by invitation, the CEO, CIO, Transacting 
Executive (TE) and CFO are present at Board and Sub-
Committee meetings to optimise access to relevant 
operational information. The Company Secretary attends all 
Board committee meetings.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
MEMBERS 
Dr Solly Motuba (Chairman)  
Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana  
Dinao Lerutla 
Refiloe Nkadimeng (resigned 8 March 2021) 
Bojane Segoa (nominated 26 May 2021)

The Board has established an Audit and Risk Committee in 
compliance with Section 94 of the Companies Act, and its 
composition complies with the provisions thereof.

The role of the Audit and Risk Committee has been codified 
in the Audit and Risk Committee Charter, which the Board 
has approved. This Charter is aligned with the requirements 
of King IV, the Companies Act and the JSE Listings 
Requirements.

The Audit and Risk Committee comprises Dr Solly Motuba 
(Chairman), Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana, Dinao Lerutla and 
Refiloe Nkadimeng during the current period, all of whom 
are Independent Non-Executive Directors, in compliance 
with the requirements of King IV. The Committee members 
have unlimited access to all information, documents and 
explanations required to discharge their duties, as do the 
external auditors. 

Subsequent to the financial year-end, the following changes 
occurred within the Audit and Risk Committee:

Ms Refiloe Nkadimeng resigned as Director of the Company and 
as a member of the Audit and Risk Committee with effect from  
March 2021. Ms Nkadimeng’ resignation was as a result of her 
current position as the Chief Financial Officer of African Rainbow 
Capital, precluding her from sitting on other company boards. 
The Audit and Risk Committee wishes to thank Ms Nkadimeng 
for her valuable contribution to the Committee.

Dr Solomon Motuba resigned as Chairperson of the Audit and 
Risk Committee with effect from 26 May 2021. Dr Solomon 
Motuba was temporarily appointed as the Chairperson of the 
Audit and Risk Committee after the untimely passing of the 
previous Chair Ms. Londeka Shezi in July 2019.

Dinao Lerutla has been nominated as Chairperson of the Audit 
and Risk Committee with effect from 26 May 2021, subject to 
shareholder approval.

Bojane Segooa has been nominated as a member of the Audit 
and Risk Committee with effect from 26 May 2021, subject to 
shareholder approval.

In consultation with the Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee, the Board makes appointments to the Committee 
to fill vacancies. The process of sourcing and recruiting an 
additional Audit and Risk Committee and Board member with 
the requisite skills and experience has been launched.

Members of the Audit and Risk Committee are subject to 
re-election by shareholders annually at the Annual General 
Meeting (AGM). The Board has determined that the Committee 
members have the skills and experience necessary to 
contribute meaningfully to the Committee’s deliberations.

The Audit and Risk Committee has assisted the Board in its 
supervisory and governance responsibilities, with regards to 
the matters set out below:

•  Discharging its duties relating to the safeguarding of the 
Company’s assets;

•  The operation of adequate systems and internal control 
processes;

•  The preparation of financial reports and statements that fairly 
present the results in compliance with all applicable legal 
requirements and accounting standards;

• Compliance with good governance practices;
•  Nomination of the external auditors, considered to be 

independent, whose appointment is subject to shareholder 
approval;

• Interaction with external auditors; and
•  Ensuring that the Company has implemented a practical risk 

management plan that will enhance the Company’s ability to 
achieve its strategic objectives.

 
The Audit and Risk Committee has considered the 
requirements of 3.84(g) of the JSE Listings Requirements 
relating to:

i)  The expertise and experience of the Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO) and are satisfied that Dion Mhlaba is suitably skilled 
and experienced to carry out the role of CFO.

ii)   Ensuring that the Company has established appropriate 
financial reporting procedures that are operating; and

iii)   The Audit and Risk Committee is further satisfied that it has 
reported back on its responsibilities pursuant to paragraph 
22.15(h) of the JSE Listings Requirements relating to 
Mazars’ latest inspection performed by IRBA. The suitability 
for appointment of Mazars South Africa and specifically 
related to Rochelle Murugan, the lead Audit Partner. The 

BOARD COMMITTEES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

THE BOARD HAS ENSURED THAT ITS ARRANGEMENTS FOR DELEGATION WITHIN ITS 
STRUCTURES PROMOTE INDEPENDENT JUDGEMENT AND ASSIST WITH THE BALANCE OF 
POWER AND THE EFFECTIVE DISCHARGE OF ITS DUTIES.
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Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied that the appointment 
of Mazars South Africa, with Rochelle Murugan as their 
designated Audit Partner, is suitable for re-appointment as 
external auditors. 

The Committee met seven (7) times during the financial year 
as ended 28 February 2021.

ACTIVITIES OF THE COMMITTEE DURING THE YEAR 
During the current year, the Audit and Risk Committee paid 
particular attention to compliance, risk and internal controls 
within the Group. 

RISK MANAGEMENT  
A review of the risk register was undertaken in the current 
financial year. A discussion was held around each risk on the 
risk register. Additional risks were identified and subsequent 
amendments were made to the risk register. 

APPOINTMENT OF MAZARS SOUTH AFRICA 
The Company undertook a comprehensive tender process. 
Mazars South Africa, with Rochelle Murugan as the designated 
registered audit partner, had been nominated as the new 
external auditor effective 31 August 2020, replacing Deloitte & 
Touche as auditors. 

The change in the auditor was due mainly to less than 
desirable commercial value following internal discussions 
about the size, nature and economic considerations with 
Deloitte; as well as Deloitte’s view that companies structured 
in the construct of RH Bophelo would not, in their experience, 
be able to implement financial reporting systems that meet the 
kind of expectations they have for their listed clients.

The Audit and Risk Committee is further satisfied that it has 
received adequate report back on its responsibilities pursuant 
to paragraph 22.15 (h) of the JSE Listing Requirements relating 
to Mazars South Africa’s Audit Partner’s latest quality review 
by IRBA.

FOCUS FOR THE YEAR AHEAD 
During the coming year, the Audit and Risk Committee will 
continue developing relevant methodologies and internal controls 
to monitor the Company’s risk exposure.

The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its 
responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference for the 
reporting period.

Dr Solly Motuba 
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
MEMBERS 
Colin Clarke (Chairman)  
Dinao Lerutla 
Fulu Makwetla 
Dr Solly Motuba  
Vuyokazi Nomvalo 
Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana  
John Oliphant 
Dr David Sekete  
 
The Investment Committee is a non-statutory extension of RH 
Bophelo’s Board. The Committee is governed by the Investment 
Charter, Investment Policy and Procedures for the execution 
of the Company’s investment strategy and oversees the IC’s 
corporate actions. The Investment Committee establishes 
investment parameters and regularly reviews the performance 
of the Company’s asset acquisition activity.

As custodian of the Fund’s portfolio of assets, the Committee 
is accountable to the Board. The Investment Committee’s 

responsibilities and duties are stipulated in its Charter, and its 
mandate is aligned with the Company’s business strategy as an 
investment holding entity.

The Company’s Investment Policy prescribes the objectives, 
distribution policies and investment guidelines that govern the 
Investment Committee’s activities.

The Investment Policy was formulated by taking into 
consideration RH Bophelo’s financial needs, risk appetite and 
tolerance. It is managed consistently while heeding the short-
term and long-term financial goals of the Company. However, 
it allows for sufficient investment flexibility in lieu of changing 
market conditions and financial circumstances. 

The Committee will reviews the Investment Policy Statement at 
least once a year, and changes can only be made by affirmation 
of the majority of the Committee members and material changes 
are subject to shareholder approval, as per paragraph 15.7 of the 
JSE Listings Requirements.

On 25 February 2019, the Board approved an Investment 
Delegation of Authority (DOA) to RH Bophelo’s Investment 
Committee to permit it to make certain investments on behalf 
of RH Bophelo. The DOA is limited to investments in any one 
financial year of 20 million rands, which is in keeping with RH 
Bophelo’s strategy and mandate. During the 2021 financial year, 
no investments were made through the DOA. 

In September 2019, the Board approved an Executive DOA to 
RH Bophelo’s Executive Committee to permit it to make certain 
investments on behalf of and for RH Bophelo. The DOA is limited 
to investments in any one financial year of ten million rands (R10 
million) and is in keeping with RH Bophelo’s strategy and mandate. 
During the 2021 financial year, investments of R2,5 million were 
made to support the Medicare expansion through this DOA.

The Investment Committee met once during the financial year as 
ended 28 February 2021. 

ROLE OF THE INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
The Investment Committee acts in a fiduciary capacity with 
respect to the portfolio and is accountable to the Board 
of RH Bophelo for overseeing the investment of all assets 
owned in the portfolio.

This Investment Policy Statement sets forth the investment 
objectives, distribution policies and investment guidelines 
that govern the activities of the Investment Committee and 
any other parties to whom the Committee has delegated 
investment management responsibility for its portfolio assets.

The investment policies for RHB have been formulated in 
consideration of RHB’s anticipated financial needs and 
its tolerance and appetite for assuming investment and 
financial risk.

CONSTITUTION OF THE INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 
COMMITTEE

The Information Technology Committee was constituted 
as a sub-committee of the Investment Committee to 
assist the Board in fulfilling oversight responsibilities by 
reviewing, giving guidance and making recommendations 
to management and the Board relating to the Company’s 
technology strategy, initiatives and investments in support of 
the Company’s overall strategy and technical performance.

The Information Technology Committee engages with the 
Investment Committee and provides opinions and advice 
on the Company’s significant innovation and technology 
strategies, which are formulated and executed by the 
management of the Company. 
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In its dialogue with and provision of opinions and advice to 
the management, the Information Technology Committee 
periodically reviews: 

• The Company’s approach to major technological innovations; 
• Key technology trends that may result in disruptive threats or 

opportunities; 
• High-level risks and opportunities associated with the 

Company’s choice of technology partners and; 
• The Company’s technologic competitiveness and new 

strategic technology initiatives. 
 
EVALUATION 
When RH Bophelo listed in July 2017, there was never any 
doubt amongst the executives concerning what they wanted 
to achieve, which is to: “change the way investments are 
undertaken in healthcare in South Africa and Africa.”

Refer to the portfolio accumulation under Section 2 of the report.

Of the initial R500 million raised, approximately 90.4% 
of the funds have been fully deployed. Though we have 
experienced rapid growth, we remain conscious of our 
mandate, the people we serve and the faith that our 
investors have placed in us.

For us, it is about doing well by doing good.

Colin Clarke 
Chairman of the Investment Committee

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATIONS 
COMMITTEE
MEMBERS 
Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana (Chairperson)  
Dinao Lerutla 
John Oliphant 
 
The Remuneration and Nominations Committee comprises three 
Non-Executive Directors, the majority of whom are independent 
and is chaired by an Independent Non-Executive Director.

The role of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee has 
been codified in the Remuneration and Nominations Committee 
Charter approved by the Board. This Charter is aligned with the 
requirements of King IV, the Companies Act and the JSE Listings 
Requirements.

The Company has a small payroll; therefore, all reference to 
‘employees’ refers to current and future employees of the Company. 

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee has been 
established by the Board to:

• Assist the Board in determining and administering the 
Remuneration Policy;

• Approve the remuneration of all the Executives;
• Oversee incentivisation of all employees;
• Consider any other matters relevant to remuneration of the 

Executive Directors and staff;
• Identify suitable Board candidates to fill vacancies on the 

Board and sub-commitees; 
• Ensure that there is a succession plan in place for key 

management and members of the Board; and
• Assess the independence of Non-Executive Directors and the 

composition of the Board Sub-Committees.
 
The Remuneration and Nominations Committee met twice during 
the financial year as ended 28 February 2021.

ACTIVITIES OF THE COMMITTEE DURING THE YEAR  
The Remuneration and Nominations Committee’s responsibilities 
and duties are governed by a Charter approved by the Board. 
The Board reviewed the Charter during the 2020 financial year.

DIRECTORS’ INDEPENDENCE EVALUATION 
During the 2021 financial year, the Board, with the assistance 
of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee, undertook 
an evaluation of the Non-Executive Directors’ independence. 
Through the analysis conducted, which is reflected in the King 
Code and Corporate Governance Report on pages 47 to 55, the 
Board was able to classify five Directors as independent and two 
Directors as non-independent.

SUB-COMMITTEE REVIEW 
The Remuneration and Nominations Committee reviewed the 
Board sub-committees composition based on skills, gender 
and race diversity. In light of the intended resignation of Ms 
Nkadimeng, the Committee has acknowledged that in the 
selection of a suitable board replacement, it will consider the 
skills and experience required as well as gender and race 
representation in keeping with the Company’s Gender and Race 
Diversity Policy.

REMUNERATION POLICY REVIEW 
The Company’s Remuneration Policy during the 2020 financial 
year was reviewed by an independent consultant. The Policy was 
based on current board remuneration practices in the market and 
the realisation of a benchmark study of similar size organisations 
in the financial services sector. The revised Remuneration 
Policy provides the approach and necessary guidelines on the 
remuneration of services rendered to the Board by its members. 

The methodology used included the following:
• Study of the annual reports;
• Remuneration practices of the Company;
• Frequency of meetings;
• Skills levels of board members (ascertained through 

discussions with management);
• Size of the Company; and
• The Company’s previous Remuneration Policy document.

No further amendments were made to the Remuneration Policy 
during the current financial year.

PERFORMANCE MATRIX FOR NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS 
The Remuneration and Nominations Committee through the 
ManCo assisted in overseeing the performance matrix for 
Non-Executive Directors. Non-Executive Directors were rated 
during the current year on their performance, which ratings are 
reflected on the Remuneration Implementation Report below.

RH BOPHELO REMUNERATION POLICY 
EXTRACTS
BOARD REMUNERATION 

1.  Board members will be remunerated in the form of 
meeting fees per meeting attended, as well as an annual 
retainer fee paid quarterly. Meeting fees incorporate 
meeting preparation, research and post-meeting follow-
up (collectively “pre-meeting preparation”), as well as the 
length of the meeting itself, based on an estimate of the 
total time required. The meeting fees payable to Boards 
are as stated in the Financial Statements of the Company.

2.  If a Board member is requested by the Board to form part 
of a task team or attend a Strategic Planning Session of 
the Board, they will be remunerated at the rate of a Board 
meeting fee for each sitting of the Committee, irrespective 
of the actual number of days of the session.
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3.  Board members who are not formal members of a specific 
committee shall be remunerated for attending such a 
committee meeting if the Chairperson of that Committee 
has formally invited the Board member to attend or if 
the Chairperson of the Committee on which the Board 
is serving formally requests the Board to represent 
the Committee. The Board Member’s attendance is 
remunerated at an hourly rate in accordance with the 
relevant agenda item.

4.  If a Board member who is not a committee member of 
a specific meeting attends a meeting, without a formal 
invitation, in that case, no remuneration or subsistence 
or travel claim will be processed in favour of that Board 
member.

5.  A Board member is expected to attend at least three-
quarters of a meeting; otherwise, the meeting fee for that 
meeting shall not be paid.

RETAINER FEE

Principles of the Retainer Fee

The following principles for the payment of a retainer fee 
should be followed:

1.  Retainer fees will be paid to Board members, Chairpersons 
of Board committees and the Chairperson of the Board.

2.  The annual retainer fee will be paid quarterly to RHB Board 
members. 
  

General provisions

1.  The Board remuneration is benchmarked to the 
2nd percentile.

2.   The Chairman of the Board shall not be a chairman of any 
other committee of the Board.

3.   No fees, remuneration or incentives shall be paid to 
Executives who sit on the RH Bophelo committees in an 
ex-officio capacity.

4.   To determine the remuneration benchmark for Board 
members, the following principles shall be applied:
•  RH Bophelo’s remuneration calculated according to the 

median fee of a Non-Executive of an equivalent group of 
a JSE small size listed company at a turnover and asset 
size comparable to that of RH Bophelo. The parameter 
of the comparator JSE Company shall be R600m to 
R1,2bn asset value.

5.  Board members will not be remunerated for non-
attendance of meetings.

6.  Where a Board member attends a meeting where there 
is no quorum, the attendees of the meeting will be 
remunerated as per the meeting fee applicable, i.e., as if 
there were a quorum.

7.  If a Board member is appointed to sit on a Board or any 
other such structure on behalf of the Board and qualifies 
for remuneration in terms of that Board or structure’s 
Remuneration Policy, then such a person may elect to 
be remunerated either in terms of RH Bophelo’s Board’s 
Remuneration Policy or in terms of the Policy of that 
Board or structure. The election of preferred remuneration 
would be applicable for the entire term of the person’s 
appointment to that Board or structure.

8.   Board fees and retainers may not be escalated at an 
amount greater than an average increase offered to 
Executives and employees.

9.   The Board and Remuneration and Nominations Committee 
shall recalibrate Board fees every second year to ensure 
relevance.

10.  Board and committee assessments should be performed 
regularly to assess the individual Board member’s 
contributions.

11.  There should be control and regular review of the number 
of committees on which Board members serve to ensure 
that they have the ability and capacity to discharge their 
duties effectively.

12.  The CEO will submit a written report regarding all 
payments made to all Board members to the Board on an 
annual basis.

 
Limitations and conditions

1.  The Company’s rules will take precedence in the event 
of any apparent conflict or dispute in respect of the 
interpretation of this Policy.

2.  The remuneration of Board members in terms of this 
Policy specifically excludes travel, accommodation and 
other authorised reasonable expenses incurred by Board 
members as provided in the RH Bophelo Travel Policy.

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee and Board 
approved the revised Remuneration Policy in February 2020.

REMUNERATION IMPLEMENTATION 
REPORT
BACKGROUND 
The ManCo employs RH Bophelo’s Executive Committee. 
A management contract has been entered into between RH 
Bophelo and RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary 
Limited (ManCo). RH Bophelo’s Remuneration Policy guides 
the ManCo on best practice principles to be applied.

The management agreement discharges all staffing obligations 
from RH Bophelo to the ManCo. The ManCo has developed 
a Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors and staff 
and a Performance Scorecard Matrix with Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs) to measure the performance of executives 
and staff.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
REMUNERATION
Non-Executive Directors’ fees reflect the Directors’ role and 
membership on the Board and its sub-committees. The Non-
Executive Directors do not have an employment contract with 
the Company.

The fees for Non-Executive Directors are based on proposals 
from the Board of Directors and the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee, which are submitted to shareholders 
for approval in accordance with the Companies Act. The fees 
for Non-Executive Directors are annually reviewed by the Board 
and the Remuneration and Nominations Committee. Increases 
are based on inflation, and the Committee utilises benchmark 
studies on similar-sized investment holding companies.

The fees paid to Non-Executive Directors comprises a 
monthly retainer fee and a per meeting attendance fee. With 
the assistance of an external consultant, the Remuneration 
and Nominations Committee completed a review against the 
industry market for Director’s remuneration during 2020. The 
fees proposed for Non-Executive Directors are in line with 
similar sized companies listed on the JSE. 
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FEE PER MEETING 
ATTENDANCE (R)

Board meeting 10 000

Board Chairperson 20 000

Investment Committee meetings (including Chairperson) 10 000

Audit and Risk Committee meetings 10 000

Audit and Risk Committee Chairperson 15 000

Social and Ethics Committee meetings (including Chairperson) 10 000

Remuneration and Nominations Committee meetings (including Chairperson) 10 000

Retainer (R)

Payable monthly to Board member 10 000

At the Company’s AGM held on 30 September 2020, Shareholders approved the following fees to be payable to Non-executive Directors:

Non-Executive Director’s fees for the current financial year have 
remained unchanged.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS REMUNERATION
REMUNERATION PRINCIPLES

1.   Remuneration is aimed at being competitive in the appropriate 
market. It is standard practice to reward employees between 
the market 25th and 75th percentiles while aiming to reward 
acceptable performers at the 50th percentile.

2.  Rewarding management gives due consideration to internal 
equity and allows for a reasonable level of differentiation, 
i.e., rewarding high performers at the 75th percentile of the 
market and the developing of newly promoted employees 
at the market 25th percentile. Where employees are paid 
outside the salary range of the 25th and 75th percentile, future 
increments shall be treated as a cost-of-living allowance until 
the employee falls within the band.

3.  The ManCo considers the individual employee’s merit and 
performance in determining employee salary levels and 
salary increases.

4.  Remuneration is reviewed and benchmarked regularly 
through independent external professional service providers 
to maintain external competitiveness of reward and address 
any possible pay anomalies.

5.  In setting remuneration levels, consideration is given to the 
following:
•  The position, including job size and internal relativities (job 

grade);
• The competencies that the person brings to the role;
• The ManCo’s capacity to pay; and
• The relevant market comparisons.

 
PAY PREMIUMS 
The ManCo will pay a premium where appropriate. A premium 
is not guaranteed and its payment will take into consideration 
several factors, such as:
1.  The market for the job (position/scarcity premium);
2.  The skills and experience of the person (person-specific/skill/

competency premium); and
3.  Role-specific premium in case of blended/dual 

responsibilities.

MARKET PREMIUM

A market premium may be applicable where:

1.  There have been sustained and significant market pressures in 
recruitment and retention evidenced through supporting data;

2.  In consideration of current practice in competing 
organisations in relation to premiums, e.g., salary surveys 

or discipline, occupational group or industry segment in the 
general market; and

3.  There has been a high turnover of staff in a particular area 
due to a lack of competitive remuneration.

 
PERSON SPECIFIC (SKILLS/COMPETENCY) PREMIUM 
A person specific premium may be applicable where:

1.  The staff member’s contribution is critically important to the 
achievement of the organisation’s strategic objectives;
• The staff member adds exceptional value to the 

organisation and, if lost, would have a detrimental impact 
on the organisation;

• The staff member has a critical skill set that, if lost, would 
be detrimental to the organisation. Plans for the transfer of 
critical knowledge and skills will need to be put in place.

 
ROLE SPECIFIC PREMIUM 
A role-specific premium may be applicable where:

The position requires substantial additional duties above the 
current level of the individual’s classification.

REMUNERATION COMPONENTS 
The ManCo adopts a total cost-to-company package. 
Remuneration refers to all forms of financial returns and tangible 
services and benefits staff members receive as part of an 
employment relationship.

Total guaranteed package:

The total guaranteed package comprises the basic salary of 
employees or Executive Management, including all benefits 
such as pension, medical aid and insurance. The total 
guaranteed package is payable for fulfilling the expected day-
to-day job requirements.

ANNUAL SHORT-TERM INCENTIVES (STI) 
Employees are eligible for an annual STI calculated on total 
guaranteed remuneration paid at the end of the financial year. If 
the employee has less than one years’ service but more than six 
months, the annual STI is paid on a pro-rata basis. The annual 
STI will only be paid to employees who are in the employ of the 
ManCo at the time the STI is paid.

A short-term incentive of 50% of annual guaranteed earnings 
for Executive Directors will be paid on the achievement of an 
on-target performance level. Short-term incentive payments 
will be capped at a maximum of 80% of guaranteed annual 
remuneration for the CEO and 60% for other Executive Directors, 
with a sliding scale between the threshold and the maximum.
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*Assigned by the CEO to Members of the Executive Score Weighting Score Weighting Score Weighting Score Weighting

No.

Key 
Performance 

Indicator – 
Financial

Weighting 
% Target Responsible 

Executive Quinton Zunga Colin Clarke Dion Mhlaba Vuyokazi Nomvalo

1 Net asset value 
(NAV) Increase 15% CPI – 

YOY
Executive 

Team 100% 15% 80% 12% 90% 14% 60% 9%

2 Return on 
investment (ROI) 25% CPI+5 CIO, CEO, 

ED 100% 25% 90% 23% N/A N/A 70% 18%

3 Governance 15% Clean 
report

CEO, CFO, 
CIO, ED 100% 15% 80% 12% 80% 12% 80% 12%

4 Capital raise 3%
As and 
when 

required

Executive 
Team 100% 3% 60% 2% 80% 2% 60% 2%

5 Investor relations 4% Satisfied 
Investors

Executive 
Team 100% 4% 60% 2% 70% 3% 50% 2%

6 Balance sheet 
management 13% Constant CFO, CIO, 

CEO 100% 13% 70% 9% 90% 12% N/A N/A

 TOTAL 75%  

RH BOPHELO EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION SCORECARD MATRIX SUMMARY - FINANCIAL INDICATORS 
FEBRUARY 2021

*Assigned by the CEO to Members of the Executive Score Weighting Score Weighting Score Weighting Score Weighting

No.

Key 
Performance 

Indicator Non-
Financial

Weighting 
%

Responsible 
Executive Target Quinton Zunga Colin Clarke Dion Mhlaba Vuyokazi Nomvalo

7 Implementation of 
strategy 5% CEO primary Execute 100% 5% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

8

Implementation of 
policies required 
in terms of the 

Companies Act; 
King IV and other 

legislation

5% Executive 
Mgmt team Execute 100% 5% 90% 5% 50% 3% 70% 4%

9

Adherence to 
JSE Listings 

Requirements, 
Companies Act 

and King IV

5% CIO Execute N/A N/A 90% 5% N/A N/A N/A N/A

10
Compliance with 
the Income Tax 

Act
5% Executive 

Mgmt team Execute 100% 5% 90% 5% 60% 3% 80% 4%

11

Adequately 
addressing audit 

findings and 
implementation of 

controls

5% CFO Execute N/A N/A N/A N/A 40% 2% N/A N/A

 TOTAL 25%  

TOTALS 100% 79% 70% 67%

RH BOPHELO EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION SCORECARD MATRIX SUMMARY NON-FINANCIAL INDICATORS 
FEBRUARY 2021

KEY PERFORMANCE SCORECARD MATRIX
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No STI was paid to staff or Executive Directors during this 
financial year in review. 

Management is committed to a long-term relationship with  
RH Bophelo. As such, the executives have decided to delay 
their incentives for one year to demonstrate their commitment 
to RHB and, in return reflecting their faith in the strategy that 
they have developed and are in the process of initiating.

LONG-TERM INCENTIVES (LTI) 
LTI for Executive Management will have two mechanisms to 
effect their long-term interest in the ManCo. These mechanisms 
are structured considering the low management fees and ability 
of the Fund to compensate management at market rates and 
keep the Executive Management’s interest tied to the Fund. 
The two types of incentives are as follows:

•  SHAREHOLDING  
Executives shall have a shareholding in the ManCo. The 
percentage shareholding shall be determined by the ManCo 

Board in consultation with the Executives. It shall be set no 
later than three years after the anniversary date of RHB’s 
listing on the JSE. The shares shall vest with the Executive 
Director after the fourth anniversary date of the listing.

•  PROFIT SHARE 
A yearly profit share of 20% of the Net Distributable 
Earnings (NDE) of the ManCo shall be paid to the 
Executive Directors of RHB. The distribution of the profits 
to Executive Management shall be in accordance with the 
KPIs assigned to the Executive Management. 
 
No LTI payments were made during this financial year 
in review.  

REMUNERATION IMPLEMENTATION FEBRUARY 2021

Name Salary Bonus Other Profit Share

Total 
Guaranteed 
Package

Quinton Zunga R2,000,000 0 0 0 R2,000,000

Dion Mhlaba R1,800,000 0 0 0 R1,800,000

Colin Clarke R1,620,000 0 0 0 R1,620,000

Vuyokazi Nomvalo R1,293,864 0 0 0 R1,293,864

RAND MUTUAL ASSURANCE (MANAGED)

120 bed hospital in Free State
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DISCLOSURE OF REMUNERATION
Refer to note 4.9 in the Annual Financial Statements for the 
remuneration paid to Directors for the year ended 28 February 
2021. No deviations from the Remuneration Policy were 
authorised or paid during the year.

FOCUS FOR THE YEAR AHEAD 
The Committee will focus on deepening and strengthening 
governance and growing the skills and experience during the 
coming year.

The Committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its responsibilities 
in accordance with its terms of reference for the reporting period.

DR KGAOGELO NTSHWANA 
Chairperson of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee

SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE
MEMBERS 
Dr David Sekete (Chairman)  
Dr Solly Motuba 
Vuyokazi Nomvalo  
Bojane Segooa

The Social and Ethics Committee is constituted as a Statutory 
Committee of the Company for those duties assigned to it in 
terms of section 72(4) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 (read in 
conjunction with regulation 43 of the Companies Regulations, 
2011) (the Act), and as a Committee of the Board for all other 
duties assigned by the Board.

In addition, as required in line with the King IV Report on Corporate 
Governance for South Africa, 2016, the Committee is to have 
oversight of and report on organisational ethics, responsible 
corporate citizenship, sustainable development and stakeholder 
relationships. This is to ensure sustainability while serving the 
interests of stakeholders on whom the business depends.

The Social and Ethics Committee is responsible for, 
inter alia:

• Fulfilling the statutory duties set out in regulation 43 of the 
Act;

• Overseeing and reporting on organisational ethics, 
responsible corporate citizenship, sustainable development 
and stakeholder relationships;

• Assisting the Board in facilitating and supporting the 
development of transformation objectives, ensuring the 
corporate culture is supportive of the approach and monitoring 
and reporting actual performance against transformation 
objectives;

• Monitoring the Company’s activities against global 
responsibility protocols, including the United Nations Global 
Compact (UNGC) and the principles of the Organisation 
for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) 
recommendations regarding corruption;

• Monitoring compliance with the Broad-Based Black Economic 
Empowerment (B-BBEE) Act, gender and race diversity 
principles; and monitoring corporate citizenship, consumer 

relations and the Company’s impact on the environment, 
health and public safety within its investments.

 
The Committee comprises three Non-Executive Directors and 
one Executive Director. The Social and Ethics Committee’s 
responsibilities and duties have been codified in the 
Committee’s Charter that has been approved by the Board. The 
Charter was reviewed in the 2020 financial year.

The Committee met twice during the 2021 financial year. The 
Company is committed to making a positive impact on the 
country, notably within the healthcare industry, through its 
investments in healthcare.

ACTIVITIES OF THE COMMITTEE DURING THE YEAR 
During the past year, the Committee focused on the Group’s 
B-BBEE compliance, gender and race diversity, stakeholder 
engagement and Corporate Social Initiative (CSI) projects. 
Refer to page 68 for details on the Company’s CSI projects 
undertaken during the year.

ETHICS AWARENESS 
As the responsibility for the governance of ethics is one of 
the principles of King IV, the Committee plays a key role in 
setting the direction for how ethics should be approached and 
addressed by the Company. In giving direction, the Committee 
considered and approved, for adoption by the Board, a revision 
of the following policies during the current financial year:

• Code of Conduct and Ethics Policy
• Anti-Corruption and Bribery Policy
• Whistle-Blower Policy
• Non-Discrimination Policy
• Politically Exposed Persons Policy
• Environmental Sustainability Policy
• Stakeholder Relations Policy
• Gifts and Other Courtesies Policy
• Procurement Policy
• Gender and Race Diversity Policy
• B-BBEE Policy
 
B-BBEE 
The Company had engaged the services of a BEE verification 
agency to undertake a scorecard rating for RHB. At the time of 
finalising this report, the BEE scorecard was still outstanding. 
The BEE scorecard results will thereof will be made available on 
www.rhbophelo.co.za.

FOCUS FOR THE YEAR AHEAD. 
During the coming year, the Committee will focus on ensuring 
that our investments are undertaken in an ethical manner 
cognisant of BEE in all its forms and work towards spreading 
the healthcare dividend.

DR DAVID SEKETE 
Chairperson of the Social and Ethics Committee
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• Ethical culture;
• Good performance;
• Effective control;
• Trusted Brand; 
• Good Reputation; and
• Legitimacy.
 
RH Bophelo is listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange, operated by the JSE Limited (JSE), as well as the Rwanda Stock 
Exchange (RSE). The Company complies with the principles of King IV, the mandatory corporate governance requirements of the 
JSE and the RSE Listing Rules.

The application of King IV is on an “apply and explain” basis, and the practices underpinning the principles espoused in King IV 
are entrenched in the Company’s internal controls, policies and procedures. RH Bophelo applied all the principles of King IV as 
disclosed below:

PRINCIPLE 1: THE GOVERNING BODY SHOULD LEAD ETHICALLY AND EFFECTIVELY.

Application and Explanation

BOARD CHARTER

RH Bophelo’s Board is its governing body.

A formal Board Charter was adopted by the Board and is complementary to the provisions of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 
(Companies Act), the Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI) of RH Bophelo, King IV, the JSE Listings Requirements and the 
provisions governing the relationship between the Board and its sub-committees as contained in the charters of the sub-
committees, which have been adopted by the Board. 

The Charter sets out the ethical foundation on how the Company operates and the Board’s composition, delegation, duties, roles 
and responsibilities, meetings procedures and other related matters of the Company. 

The Board takes note of the declaration of interest tabled at each meeting and identifies and acts on conflicts. RH Bophelo 
Directors, Executives, employees and related parties are prohibited from trading in the Company shares during closed periods.

The Board reviews the Charter every two years. The Charter was last reviewed in February 2020.

RH Bophelo is committed to high standards of business integrity and ethics. The Company’s Business Code of Conduct and 
Ethics Policy expresses the commitment of the Board, senior management and employees of RH Bophelo to the Company’s 
values, principles and standards.

The Board meets to consider the business and strategy of the Company. The Board reviews reports from the sub-committees and 
independent advisors.

During the financial year-end, 28 February 2021, four Board meetings were held. Agendas for Board meetings are prepared by the 
Company Secretary in consultation with the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE KING CODE

THE KING IV REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FOR SOUTH AFRICA 2016 (KING IV) 
CONTAINS PRINCIPLES AND RECOMMENDED PRACTICES AIMED AT ACHIEVING CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE OUTCOMES. THE PHILOSOPHY OF THE CODE CONSISTS OF THREE KEY 
ELEMENTS; LEADERSHIP, SUSTAINABILITY AND GOOD CORPORATE CITIZENSHIP. THE 
TERM ‘GOOD GOVERNANCE’ CAN BE REFLECTED AS EFFECTIVE AND ETHICAL LEADERSHIP 
TOWARDS THE ACHIEVEMENT OF THE FOLLOWING GOVERNANCE OUTCOMES:

GOVERNANCE OUTCOME ONE: ETHICAL CULTURE
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME ONE: ETHICAL CULTURE

PRINCIPLE 2. THE GOVERNING BODY SHOULD GOVERN THE ETHICS OF THE ORGANISATION TO SUPPORT THE 
ESTABLISHMENT OF AN ETHICAL CULTURE.

Application and Explanation

ETHICAL PERFORMANCE

The Board determines and sets the tone for RH Bophelo’s values, including principles of ethical practice and human rights. While 
control for the Company’s day-to-day management is delegated to management, the Board retains complete and effective control 
over the Group. The Board exercises ongoing oversight of the management of ethics through the Social and Ethics Committee. 
The Social and Ethics Committee approved the Business Code of Conduct and Ethics Policy for the Company. 

RH Bophelo has adopted the following policies towards the application of the Company’s ethical standards:

CODE OF CONDUCT AND ETHICS POLICY

The Policy provides a framework of the standards of business conduct and ethics required of the Board, management and 
employees to promote and enforce ethical business practices within the Company. Refer to our Business Code of Conduct and 
Ethics Policy on page 15. 

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND BRIBERY POLICY

The Company’s Policy is to conduct all its business honestly and ethically. The Board prohibits corruption in any form, whether 
direct or indirect and applies a zero-tolerance approach to acts of bribery and corruption by any of its members, employees, 
business partners, suppliers and service providers.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company has a culture of ethical conduct and openness and encourages honest whistleblowing. Employees, suppliers and 
stakeholders are advised to report malpractice without fear of penalty or punishment. The Policy provides the Company and the 
whistle-blower with all the rights and duties defined in the Protected Disclosure Act.

The monitoring of adherence to the Company’s ethical standards is undertaken by the Company’s Social and Ethics Committee 
on a bi-annual basis.

The Board is not aware of any transgressions of its ethics policies during the financial year.

GOVERNANCE OUTCOME TWO: PERFORMANCE AND VALUE CREATION

PRINCIPLE 3. THE GOVERNING BODY SHOULD ENSURE THAT THE ORGANISATION IS AND IS SEEN TO BE A  
RESPONSIBLE CORPORATE CITIZEN.

Application and Explanation

RESPONSIBLE CORPORATE CITIZEN

The Board is responsible for monitoring the overall responsible corporate citizenship performance of RH Bophelo. With the 
support of the Social and Ethics Committee, the Board oversees and monitors how the operations and activities of the Company 
affect its status as a responsible corporate citizen.

The Board operates in a manner that considers the sustainability and financial health of the business by integrating environmental 
and social risk management into the Company’s business processes. RH Bophelo’s Governance Report (page 30), Sustainability 
Report (page 65) and Stakeholder Engagement Plan (pages 59-63) details the Company’s progress in the context of ethics and 
human rights, safety, governance, protection of the environment and our contribution to society.

PRINCIPLE 4: THE GOVERNING BODY SHOULD APPRECIATE THAT THE ORGANISATION’S CORE PURPOSE, ITS RISKS 
AND OPPORTUNITIES, STRATEGY, BUSINESS MODEL, PERFORMANCE AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT ARE ALL 
INSEPARABLE ELEMENTS OF THE VALUE CREATION PROCESS.

Application and Explanation

FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD

The Board’s principal responsibility is to ensure that RH Bophelo creates value for its shareholders. In so doing, the Board 
considers the legitimate interests and expectations of its stakeholders.
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE: ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE CONTROL

PRINCIPLE 5: THE GOVERNING BODY SHOULD ENSURE THAT REPORTS ISSUED BY THE ORGANISATION ENABLE 
STAKEHOLDERS TO MAKE INFORMED ASSESSMENTS OF THE ORGANISATION’S PERFORMANCE AND ITS SHORT, 
MEDIUM AND LONG-TERM PROSPECTS.

Application and Explanation

REPORTING

The Company is committed to good corporate governance and ensuring that all material information is timely and accurately 
communicated to its stakeholders, in line with regulatory requirements.

Through the Audit and Risk Committee, the Board ensures that the necessary controls are in place to verify and safeguard the 
integrity of the Company’s annual reports and any other disclosures. The Audit and Risk Committee oversees and reviews the 
Annual Financial Statements, which are audited by the external auditors.

RH Bophelo details both its historical and future performance outlook in its interim and annual report to stakeholders.

This, together with supplementary information in the Integrated Report, enable stakeholders to make informed assessments of the 
prospects of RH Bophelo.

Refer to pages 72 to 98 for RH Bophelo’s performance.

GOVERNANCE OUTCOME TWO: PERFORMANCE AND VALUE CREATION (CONTINUED)

PRINCIPLE 4: THE GOVERNING BODY SHOULD APPRECIATE THAT THE ORGANISATION’S CORE PURPOSE, ITS RISKS 
AND OPPORTUNITIES, STRATEGY, BUSINESS MODEL, PERFORMANCE AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT ARE ALL 
INSEPARABLE ELEMENTS OF THE VALUE CREATION PROCESS. (Continued)

Application and Explanation (Continued)

The Board assumes responsibility for the Company’s performance by steering and setting the direction for the realisation of 
the Company’s core purpose and values through its Investment Policy strategy. With the support of its committees, the Board 
oversees and monitors the implementation and execution by management of the policies and priorities and ensures that the 
Company accounts for its performance.

RH Bophelo’s Risk Policy is aimed at embedding risk management into key decision-making processes. The Audit and Risk 
Committee assists the Board with the governance of risk. The Committee monitors the Company’s risks and ensures the 
implementation of various mitigating controls. This responsibility is contained in the Board and the Audit and Risk Committee 
Charters.

ROLE OF THE DIRECTORS

Members of the Board assume collective responsibility for:

• Steering and setting the direction of the Company; 
• Approving policy and planning;
• Overseeing and monitoring of implementation and execution by management; and 
• Ensuring accountability for the Company’s performance.
 
The Remuneration and Nominations Committee reviews the effectiveness of the Board, its committees and individual Directors.

PRINCIPLE 6: THE GOVERNING BODY SHOULD SERVE AS THE FOCAL POINT AND CUSTODIAN OF CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE IN THE ORGANISATION

Application and Explanation

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is the focal point and custodian of corporate governance of RH Bophelo. Although certain responsibilities are 
delegated to committees or management, the Board acknowledges that it is not discharged from its obligations regarding these 
matters.

The Board follows an approved protocol in the event that it, or any of its members or committees, needs to obtain independent, 
external professional advice at the cost of the Company on matters within the scope of its duties.

The Board’s role and responsibilities and how it executes its duties and decision-making are documented and set out in the Board 
Charter.
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE: ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE CONTROL(CONTINUED)

PRINCIPLE 6: THE GOVERNING BODY SHOULD SERVE AS THE FOCAL POINT AND CUSTODIAN OF CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE IN THE ORGANISATION (Continued)

Application and Explanation (Continued)

The Board has developed appropriate governance policies and frameworks to ensure that the Company adheres to the required 
governance standards. RH Bophelo’s Governance framework is disclosed in its Integrated Report on page 30.

Prior to each Board meeting, an information pack, which provides background information on the Company’s performance and 
any other matters for discussion at the meeting, is distributed to each Board member. At meetings, the Board considers both 
financial and non-financial information that may have an impact on stakeholders.

Details of the Board meetings held during the year as ended 28 February 2021 and the attendance at the Board sub-committee 
meetings by individual Directors are disclosed on page 37.

PRINCIPLE 7: THE GOVERNING BODY SHOULD COMPRISE THE APPROPRIATE BALANCE OF KNOWLEDGE, 
SKILLS, EXPERIENCE, DIVERSITY AND INDEPENDENCE FOR IT TO DISCHARGE ITS GOVERNANCE ROLE AND 
RESPONSIBILITIES OBJECTIVELY AND EFFECTIVELY.

Application and Explanation

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD 

RH Bophelo has a unitary Board with 11 Directors, the majority of whom are Non-Executive Directors. The Board comprises four 
Executive Directors, five Independent Non-Executive Directors and two Non-Independent, Non-Executive Directors.

The JSE Listings Requirements prescribe that the chairperson must be an Independent Non-Executive Director, failing which 
the Company must appoint a Lead Independent Director. The Board is chaired by John Oliphant, and Dr Solly Motuba has been 
appointed as Lead Independent Director.

The Board has approved a Policy on the Balance of Power at Board level to ensure a clear division of responsibilities. The roles of 
Chairperson and CEO are separate, and the composition of the Board provides a balance of authority, precluding any one Director 
from exercising unfettered powers of decision-making.

The Board of RH Bophelo comprises the appropriate balance of knowledge, skills, experience, diversity and independence, 
facilitating independent judgement and broad deliberations in the decision-making process. All Directors, including the 
Independent Directors, have a comprehensive understanding of the healthcare industry as well as the business of the Group. The 
Board appreciates that diversity at Board level is essential for sustaining a competitive advantage and is committed to ensuring a 
diverse and inclusive culture at Board level. 

The Board has established arrangements for periodic, staggered rotation of its members to invigorate its capabilities by 
introducing members with new expertise and perspectives, while retaining valuable knowledge, skills and experience and 
maintaining continuity. The Board has an immediate and interim succession plan in place in the event of an unforeseen event.

No Director has an automatic right to a position on the Board. All Directors are required to be elected by shareholders at an AGM. 
In a general meeting, the shareholders may appoint any person to be a Director, subject to the provisions of the MOI.

ONGOING TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

At the Company’s first Strategy Session held during October 2019, Directors underwent an induction on the JSE Listings 
Requirements and King IV provided by the Company’s Sponsors, Deloitte & Touche.

All new Directors are provided with an induction pack containing information on the Company’s constitution documents, policies 
and charters.

For details of Directors’ full names, appointment dates and a brief career synopsis, refer to pages 32 to 37. 
 
GENDER AND RACE DIVERSITY AT BOARD LEVEL

The Board is committed to actively managing diversity as a means of enhancing the Company’s performance. The Board has 
adopted a Policy on the promotion of gender and race diversity at Board level. The process of identifying suitable candidates for 
appointment to the Board involves taking into consideration diversity and inclusion.

The current Board structure comprises 83% Black Directors, of which 50% are female. The Social and Ethics Committee set the 
following targets for gender and race diversity for the Company:
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE: ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE CONTROL (CONTINUED)

PRINCIPLE 7: THE GOVERNING BODY SHOULD COMPRISE THE APPROPRIATE BALANCE OF KNOWLEDGE, 
SKILLS, EXPERIENCE, DIVERSITY AND INDEPENDENCE FOR IT TO DISCHARGE ITS GOVERNANCE ROLE AND 
RESPONSIBILITIES OBJECTIVELY AND EFFECTIVELY. (Continued)

Application and Explanation (Continued)

 

Gender Race

Male Female Black Non-Black

 Current Current  Current Current

50% 50% 83% 17%

Target Target Target Target

 50% 50%  70% 30%

The Board has achieved the targets set for gender and race representation.

The Gender and Race Diversity Policy will be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that it continues to facilitate the principles of 
gender and race diversity at Board level.

The Board is satisfied that there is a balance of skills, experience, diversity and knowledge needed to discharge its role and 
responsibilities.
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PRINCIPLE 8: THE GOVERNING BODY SHOULD ENSURE THAT ITS ARRANGEMENTS FOR DELEGATION WITHIN ITS 
OWN STRUCTURES PROMOTE INDEPENDENT JUDGEMENT AND ASSIST WITH THE BALANCE OF POWER AND THE 
EFFECTIVE DISCHARGE OF ITS DUTIES.

Application and Explanation

INDEPENDENCE OF DIRECTORS

Non-Executive Directors of the Board are categorised as independent if it has been concluded that there is no interest, position, 
association or relationship which, when judged from the perspective of a reasonable and informed third party, is likely to 
influence unduly or cause bias in decision making in the best interests of the Company.

The Board’s independence from the Executive Management team is ensured by the following:

• Separation of the roles of Chairman and Managing Director. 
• The appointment of a Lead Independent Director. 
• The Board being dominated by Non-Executive Directors.
• The Audit and Risk Committee, Remuneration and Nominations Committee and Social and Ethics Committee having a majority 

of Independent Directors.
• Non-Executive Directors not holding service contracts.
• All Directors having access to the advice of the Company Secretary. 
• With prior arrangement from the Chairman, all Directors are entitled to seek independent professional advice concerning the 

Company’s affairs at the Company’s expense.
 
The independence evaluation of Non-Executive Directors is an annual requirement in terms of King IV. The Board, through the 
Remuneration and Nominations Committee, undertook an exercise to evaluate the independence of all Non-Executive Directors 
during February 2021 and all Non-Executive Directors completed an assessment matrix to analyse their autonomy. Five Non-
Executive Directors were considered to be independent in terms of the requirements of King IV.

Factors considered during the independence inquiry, including whether or not a particular Director:

• is a significant provider of financial capital, or ongoing funding to the Company; or is an officer, employee or representative of 
such provider of financial capital or funding;

• participates in a share-based incentive scheme offered by the Company;
• owns securities in the Company, the value of which is material to the personal wealth of the Director;
• has been designated as the Company as an Executive Manager during the preceding three financial years, or is a related party 

to such Executive Manager;
• has been the designated external auditor responsible for performing the statutory audit for the Company, or a key member of the 

audit team of the external audit firm, during the preceding three financial years;
• is a significant or ongoing professional advisor to the Company, other than as a member of the Board;



GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE: ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE CONTROL (CONTINUED)

PRINCIPLE 8: THE GOVERNING BODY SHOULD ENSURE THAT ITS ARRANGEMENTS FOR DELEGATION WITHIN ITS 
OWN STRUCTURES PROMOTE INDEPENDENT JUDGEMENT AND ASSIST WITH THE BALANCE OF POWER AND THE 
EFFECTIVE DISCHARGE OF ITS DUTIES. (Continued)

Application and Explanation (Continued)
• is a member of the Board or the Executive Management of a significant customer of, or supplier to, the Company;
• is a member of the Board or the Executive Management of another organisation which is a related party to the Company; or
• is entitled to remuneration contingent on the performance of the Company.
 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEES

The Board delegates certain responsibilities to well-structured committees without abdicating accountability. The delegation 
is formal in terms of Board-approved Charters for each Committee. The Board appoints members for the skills required to 
effectively provide direction, as well as monitor and provide strategic direction to the Company. 

The Board has established seven sub-committees to assist the Directors in fulfilling their duties and responsibilities.

The committees are as follows: 
 

Board Committees

• Audit and Risk Committee 
• Investment Committee
• Remuneration and Nominations Committee
• Social and Ethics Committee

Management Committees

• Finance Committee (Sub-Committee of ExCo) 
• Information Technology Committee (Sub-Committee of 

Investment Committee)
• Executive Committee (ExCo)

 
Each Committee has a formal charter and reports at regular intervals to either the Board or its Sub-Committee. The charters, which 
set out the objectives, authority, composition and responsibilities of each Committee, have been approved by the Board. All the 
Committees are free to obtain independent professional advice, as and when required, at the Company’s expense.

Membership of the Committees is as recommended in King IV. Non-Executive Directors chair the various Sub-Committees of the 
Board.

All Sub-Committees are appropriately constituted, and members are appointed by the Board or its respective sub-committees, with the 
exception of the Audit and Risk Committee, whose members are nominated by the Board and elected by shareholders of the Company.

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee annually reviews the composition of Board committees. It makes recommendations to 
the Board with regard to their composition, considering factors such as diversity and skills and the need to create a balance of power. 

The Board applies its collective mind to the information, opinions, recommendations, reports and statements presented by the 
chairperson of a committee at each Board meeting.

Refer to pages 39 to 46 for the members of each Committee and their reports. 

The CFO is the head of the finance function, with senior managers reporting to him. The CFO is responsible for overseeing and 
coordinating the effective functioning of the outsourcing arrangement. An assessment of the effectiveness of the CFO function is 
performed annually by the Audit and Risk Committee.

INDEPENDENCE OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The external auditors report directly to the Audit and Risk Committee. 

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Committee considered the nature, risks and internal control environment at the head office and concluded that it was not necessary 
to have a dedicated internal audit function. Specific internal audit assignments are considered periodically and are outsourced.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

Subject to legal provisions, each member of the Board submits a declaration of all financial, economic and other interests held by the 
Director and related parties to the Board at least annually, or whenever there are significant changes.

At the beginning of each meeting of the Board or its committees, all Directors are required to declare whether they have any conflict of 
interest regarding matters on the agenda. Any such conflicts are proactively managed, as determined by the Board and subject to legal 
provisions.

Directors recuse themselves from any discussion and decision on matters in which they have a material financial interest.

Directors’ interests in the shares of the Company are disclosed on page 95. 
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE: ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE CONTROL (CONTINUED)

PRINCIPLE 8: THE GOVERNING BODY SHOULD ENSURE THAT ITS ARRANGEMENTS FOR DELEGATION WITHIN ITS 
OWN STRUCTURES PROMOTE INDEPENDENT JUDGEMENT AND ASSIST WITH THE BALANCE OF POWER AND THE 
EFFECTIVE DISCHARGE OF ITS DUTIES. (Continued)

Application and Explanation (Continued)

DEALING IN SECURITIES BY THE DIRECTORS

Dealing in the Company’s securities by Directors and Company officials is regulated and monitored as required by the JSE Listings 
Requirements. In addition, RH Bophelo maintains a closed period from the end of a financial period to the date of publication of the 
financial results and during any period when the Company’s shares are trading under a cautionary announcement.

PRINCIPLE 9: THE GOVERNING BODY SHOULD ENSURE THAT THE EVALUATION OF ITS OWN PERFORMANCE AND 
ITS COMMITTEES, ITS CHAIRPERSON, AND ITS INDIVIDUAL MEMBERS SUPPORT CONTINUED IMPROVEMENT IN ITS 
PERFORMANCE AND EFFECTIVENESS.

Application and Explanation

The Board and sub-committee charters include the onus of assessments every two years. The Directors believe the Board and 
the sub-committees have discharged all their responsibilities in terms of their respective charters.

The performance evaluation of the Board, its committees and individual Directors are conducted every second year as 
recommended by King IV. In February 2020, a formal review of the effectiveness of the Board, its sub-committees and 
individual Directors were undertaken through the Remunerations and Nominations Committee with the assistance of the 
Company Secretary. An opportunity was provided for reflection and discussion by the Board of its performance and that of its 
Committees, its chair and its members as a whole.

Two of the weaknesses identified related to the poor timing of the distribution of board packs and the need for a Human 
Resources specialist to sit on the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. Overall, there were no major issues or concerns 
identified, and it was agreed that the Board was operating effectively.

PRINCIPLE 10: THE GOVERNING BODY SHOULD ENSURE THAT THE APPOINTMENT OF AND DELEGATION TO 
MANAGEMENT CONTRIBUTES TO ROLE CLARITY AND EFFECTIVE EXERCISE OF AUTHORITY AND RESPONSIBILITIES.

Application and Explanation

DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY (DOA)

In line with the Board charter, the Board’s responsibilities include the appointment of the CEO, CIO, CFO and the 
implementation of the Company’s strategy, risk management and corporate governance. The Board reviews and approves the 
business plans and monitors the financial performance of the Company and the implementation of the strategies.

The Board approved a Delegation of Authority Policy that details the powers and matters reserved for itself and those to be 
delegated to management.

The Board ensures that key management functions are led by suitably competent individuals. The Board is satisfied that RH 
Bophelo is appropriately resourced, and its delegation to management contributes to an effective arrangement by which 
authorities and responsibilities are exercised.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Corporate Vision Consulting Proprietary Limited, represented by Ragni Naicker, acts as Company Secretary to RH Bophelo, duly 
appointed by the Board in accordance with the Companies Act. All Directors have unlimited access to her services, and she is 
responsible to the Board for ensuring proper adherence to corporate governance principles.

In compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements, the Board has considered and is satisfied that the individuals who perform 
the Company Secretary role are suitably qualified and experienced to carry out the duties and responsibilities of Company 
Secretary competently and that there is an arm’s length relationship between itself and the Company Secretary. In addition, the 
Board confirms that Ragni Naicker has not served as a Director on the Board, nor does she take part in Board deliberations, but 
only advises on matters of governance, form and procedure. The role and responsibilities of the Company Secretary are set out 
in the Board Charter.

PRINCIPLE 11: THE GOVERNING BODY SHOULD GOVERN RISK IN A WAY THAT SUPPORTS THE ORGANISATION IN 
SETTING AND ACHIEVING ITS STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES.

Application and Explanation

GOVERNANCE OF RISK

The Board retains the overall responsibility for the governance of risk with delegated responsibility to the Audit and Risk 
Committee and Management to execute effective risk management. The Board is aware of the importance of risk management 
as it is linked to the business’s strategy, performance and sustainability.
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PRINCIPLE 12: THE GOVERNING BODY SHOULD GOVERN TECHNOLOGY AND INFORMATION IN A WAY THAT 
SUPPORTS THE ORGANISATION IN SETTING AND ACHIEVING ITS STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES.

Application and Explanation

The Board, together with the Audit and Risk Committee, oversees the governance of information and technology (IT). The Board is 
aware of the importance of IT in relation to RH Bophelo’s strategy. 

In May 2021, the Board approved the constitution of the Information Technology Committee. The purpose of this Committee is to 
assist the Board in fulfilling oversight responsibilities by reviewing, giving guidance and making recommendations to Management 
and the Board relating to the Company’s technology strategy, initiatives and investments in support of overall Company strategy and 
performance. 

PRINCIPLE 13: THE GOVERNING BODY SHOULD GOVERN COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND ADOPTED NON-
BINDING RULES, CODES AND STANDARDS IN A WAY THAT SUPPORTS THE ORGANISATION BEING ETHICAL AND A 
GOOD CORPORATE CITIZEN.

Application and Explanation

The Board, with the assistance of the Audit and Risk Committee and the Company Secretary, ensures that the Company complies 
with applicable laws and legislation. Legal compliance processes are in place and are continuously improved to ensure the risk of 
non-compliance.

There were no regulatory penalties, sanctions or fines for contravention, or non-compliance with, statutory obligations.

GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE: ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE CONTROL (CONTINUED)

PRINCIPLE 11: THE GOVERNING BODY SHOULD GOVERN RISK IN A WAY THAT SUPPORTS THE ORGANISATION IN 
SETTING AND ACHIEVING ITS STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES. (Continued)

Application and Explanation (Continued)

The Audit and Risk Committee implemented a process whereby inherent risks of the Company are identified and managed 
within acceptable parameters. The Audit and Risk Committee delegates to management to continuously identify, assess, 
mitigate and manage risks within the Company’s operating environment. Mitigating controls are formulated to address the risks, 
and the Board is kept up to date on the progress of the risk management plan.

Refer to pages 57 to 58 for an overview of RH Bophelo’s risks.

PRINCIPLE 14: THE GOVERNING BODY SHOULD ENSURE THAT THE ORGANISATION REMUNERATES FAIRLY, 
RESPONSIBLY, AND TRANSPARENTLY TO PROMOTE THE ACHIEVEMENT OF STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES AND POSITIVE 
OUTCOMES IN THE SHORT, MEDIUM, AND LONG TERM.

Application and Explanation

The Board, assisted by the Remuneration and Nominations Committee, ensures that Directors are remunerated fairly, responsibly, 
transparently and in line with industry standards to promote the creation of value sustainably. This responsibility is contained in the 
Remuneration and Nominations Committee’s charter and the Company’s Remuneration Policy.

An independent consultant was utilised to revise the Company’s Remuneration Policy. The Policy was based on current board 
remuneration practices in the market and the realisation of a benchmark study of similar size organisations in the financial services 
sector. The Remuneration Policy provides the approach and guidelines necessary with regards to the remuneration of services rendered 
to the Board by its members.

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee and Board approved the Remuneration Policy in October 2020. Refer to pages 41 to 42 
for the Company’s Remuneration Policy. Since Executive Directors are paid from the ManCo, the ManCo has developed a scorecard of 
key performance measures utilised to measure the executives’ performances. 

RH Bophelo’s remuneration implementation report is reflected on pages 42 to 46, and the individual Director’s remuneration is disclosed 
on pages 94 to 95 of the financial statements.

PRINCIPLE 15: THE GOVERNING BODY SHOULD ENSURE THAT ASSURANCE SERVICES AND FUNCTIONS ENABLE AN 
EFFECTIVELY CONTROLLED ENVIRONMENT AND THAT THESE SUPPORT THE INTEGRITY OF INFORMATION FOR INTERNAL 
DECISION-MAKING AND OF THE ORGANISATION’S EXTERNAL REPORTS.

Application and Explanation

The Board, assisted by the Audit and Risk Committee, ensures that the combined assurance from the external auditors appropriately 
addresses the identified Company risks.

The Board is satisfied that the assurance results indicate an adequate and effectively controlled environment and integrity of reports for 
better decision-making. This responsibility is contained in the Board Charter and the Audit and Risk Committee Charter.

Refer to pages 76 to 77 for information on assurance contained in the Audit and Risk Committee report.
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME THREE: ADEQUATE AND EFFECTIVE CONTROL (CONTINUED)

PRINCIPLE 16: IN THE EXECUTION OF ITS GOVERNANCE ROLE, AND RESPONSIBILITIES, THE GOVERNING 
BODY SHOULD ADOPT A STAKEHOLDER-INCLUSIVE APPROACH THAT BALANCES THE NEEDS, INTERESTS AND 
EXPECTATIONS OF MATERIAL STAKEHOLDERS IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE ORGANISATION OVER TIME.

Application and Explanation

RH Bophelo strives to ensure a systematic and integrated approach to stakeholder engagement across the business to enable 
increased assurance to the Board that stakeholder issues have been identified, prioritised and appropriately addressed. The Board, 
through the Social and Ethics Committee, takes the legitimate interests and expectations of stakeholders into account in its decision-
making.

The Board believes that corporate social responsibility policies promote a culture of social responsibility within the Company. This helps 
improve the well-being of people, promotes the economic and social development of the communities in which it has a presence, and 
creates sustainable value for shareholders and investors, employees, investee companies, suppliers and other stakeholders of the 
Company.

The Social and Ethics Committee is ultimately responsible for supervising and coordinating the development of the strategy for relations 
between the Company and its stakeholders through the Company’s stakeholder engagement plan. Various stakeholder groups have 
been identified, and the Board will balance its legitimate and reasonable needs, interests and expectations.

Refer to pages 59 to 64 for information on RH Bophelo’s stakeholder relationship and engagements.

PRINCIPLE 17: THE GOVERNING BODY OF AN INSTITUTIONAL INVESTOR ORGANISATION SHOULD ENSURE THAT 
RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT IS PRACTISED BY THE ORGANISATION TO PROMOTE GOOD GOVERNANCE AND VALUE 
CREATION BY THE COMPANIES IN WHICH IT INVESTS.

Application and Explanation

The Board, through RH Bophelo’s Investment Policy, ensures that responsible investment is practised by RH Bophelo to promote good 
governance and the creation of value by the companies in which the RH Bophelo invests.

FOUNTAIN PRIVATE HOSPITAL (OWNED)

163 bed hospital in Gauteng
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RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES
The Board remains ultimately responsible for the management 
of risk, which is integrated into the Company’s strategy. The 
risk management framework is embedded in the business 
activities and decision-making processes at all levels of the 
Group. The Board has mandated the Audit and Risk Committee 
to monitor the Company’s risks.

Risk management is an ongoing process in every organisation. 
Its primary purpose is to adequately position the Company to 
understand and respond to the potential risks that could impact 
brand reputation, strategy and value creation.

A risk strategy workshop was held, during which an in-depth 
review of the Group’s risks was undertaken. The purpose 
of the workshop was to identify and address the current 
and potential risks of the Company. This was linked to the 
Company’s operations and its underlying investments, the 
strategic direction that the Company is taking, and any other 
risks that affect the industry that the Company operates in. 
Different stakeholders attended this risk assessment workshop 
and presented their professional opinions on the risks in 
the market and their potential impact on the Company. The 
workshop was hosted by the Audit and Risk Committee. The 
sponsors in attendance included the lawyers/legal counsel of 
the Company, the independent auditors and representatives 
from the companies that the business is insured with, and by 
invitation, the internal audit practitioners. Several of the Group’s 
employees, hospital managers and operators also attended. 
Thereafter, the Company engaged an independent company to 
assist with the development of a risk matrix.

OUR RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

The risk matrix is part of the risk management process. It 
involves identifying risks, gathering background data, calculating 
their likelihood and severity and outlining risk prevention and 
management strategies. The risk assessment matrix details the 
probability of an event occurring and its potential severity. By 
visualising existing and potential risks, the Company can assess 
their impact and identify which ones are of the highest priority. 
The Company would then create a plan for responding to the 
risks that need the most attention.

The Company contracted a reputable internal audit firm to assist 
in carrying out the process of developing a risk register. Lawyers, 
auditors, hospital operators and information technology firms 
were invited to present potential risks specific to the Company 
and were benchmarked against industry practices. In the current 
year, the ARC hosted a special risk workshop that reviewed and 
updated the risk register. Notable changes included the impact 
of any potential COVID-19 outbreaks and their impact on the 
business and its investments.

RISK REGISTER DOCUMENT COMPILATION

The principal risks were identified and described within the 
different divisions. The likelihood or frequency of the risk was 
assessed within a range of one to five, with one being the lowest 
and five the highest. The impact the risk has on the business 
was also evaluated from normal to severe, ranging from one to 
five. Based on this, the inherent risk would be determined.

There was also an assessment of whether there was a 
compensating control for the risk identified, as this would then 
determine the level of residual risk, if any.

The document was then provided to management for updating 
and commentary. The draft risk register was then formulated from 
this process.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

RH Bophelo has a strict internal control environment. All 
governance structures within the Company, including the Audit 
and Risk Committee (ARC), Investment Committee (IC) and our 
newest Non-Statutory Committee, the Finance Committee (FC), 
monitor the internal control environment including any risks 
identified and responses to those risks.

The Finance Committee and the Audit and Risk Committees 
have identified the risk of material misstatement in the financial 
statements, assessed it and concluded that it is low due to the 
strict internal controls surrounding financial reporting within the 
Company. The preparation of financial statements is in line with 
all the applicable reporting frameworks including International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The Company applies the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations (COSO) method as an internal control framework:

THE CONTROL ENVIRONMENT

The internal control environment consists of 
standards, processes and structures that form the 
basis for carrying out the internal controls in the 
Company. The Board, Audit and Risk Committee, 
Investment Committee, Executive Committee and 
the Finance Committee set the tone regarding the 
importance of internal controls, as well as the integrity 
and ethical values of the Company.

RISK ASSESSMENT

Risk assessment is a dynamic and interactive process 
applied to identify and assess risk. The risks are being 
managed by the employees together with the Finance 
Committee through the continuous monitoring and 
updating of the Company’s risk register.

CONTROL ACTIVITIES

All the relevant policies and procedures within 
the Company are there to ensure risk mitigation 
procedures are carried out to meet the business 
objectives. The policies and procedures centre around 
significant business activities.

INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION

This is an ongoing, interactive process of sharing and 
obtaining necessary information with all stakeholders. 
The relevant IT processes are in place to safeguard 
the information of the business.

MONITORING ACTIVITIES

This refers to ongoing evaluations to ascertain 
whether each of the components of internal controls 
are present and functioning. These evaluations 
are built into our business processes at different 
levels of the organization. Findings from same are 
evaluated against the criteria established by the 
regulators and other statutory bodies. Deficiencies are 
communicated to the ARC who are the custodians of 
risk as well as the Board.

RISK MANAGEMENT
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PRINCIPAL RISK CONTEXT MITIGATING ACTIONS

1 Ability to remain
sustainable as a
result of COVID-19
and other
extraordinary
event.

Ability to remain sustainable as
a result of COVID-19 and other
extraordinary events.

• In the aftermath of the COVID-19 outbreak, the Board has revisited the key ratios 
used in the assessment, solvency, profitability and liquidity indicators and concluded 
that they remain within the range that the Board deems appropriate to support 
the going concern assumption. A key factor in this assessment was the fact that 
the Company’s operating units are in the healthcare sector and were classified as 
essential services, while the financial services sector continued to operate. The 
impact of this classification is that the decline in occupancy rates and capacity 
utilisation was marginal and a majority of our investee companies continued to 
operate within the normal range. To this end, the going concern assumption has 
been determined to be the appropriate basis for financial reporting as at 28 February 
2021.

2 Risk associated  
to governance 
breaches

Non-compliance with best practise 
corporate governance framework 
both at Board and Exco levels.

• The Board and management are dedicated to upholding best practice corporate 
governance structures. 

3 Risk associated to 
non-compliance

Non-compliance with JSE Listings
Requirements, the Companies Act,
and new laws & regulations e.g.
POPIA

• The Company engages both in-house and external legal advisors.
• Training is provided when relevant new legislation is introduced.
• Management and the auditors monitor compliance with the legal requirements.
• The Group’s employees regularly attend conferences and training specific to their 

area of responsibility within the Company that would assist in their identification of 
the new and relevant legislation.

4 Risk associated
to raising
capital therefore
lack of capital
growth

Inability to raise additional capital • The Board through the Investment Committee (IC) engages with management to 
ensure adequate funding is available for capital measures. 

• Company has thus far been successful in capital raising.

5 Risk associated
to investments
not meeting
investment targets

Investments not meeting targeted 
rate of returns

• Detail project due diligence Investment Committee approvals are obtained.
• Close monitoring on the performance of assets. Monthly calls/meetings with 

underlying business CEO’s and CFO’s.
• The speed of onboarding of investments is quicker and aligned with achieving 

budgeted targets. The target setting is bi-annual and linked with monitoring by the IC 
and ExCo. 

6 Risk associated
to asset liquidity

Inability to enforce dividend policy 
distribution to investors 
Inability to service financial 
obligations as they fall due

• Management is well represented on the governance structures of the assets as well as 
maintaining daily asset and portfolio monitoring to manage cashflows amongst other key 
strategic initiatives.

7 Risk associated
to declaration of
dividends

Inability to meet shareholder 
expectation for a dividend 
distribution in the subsequent 
financial periods.

• RH Bophelo has declared a dividend of 15 cents (ZAR) per “A” ordinary share.
• The dividend declaration decision is made in accordance with the requirements of 

the Companies Act and the Dividend Policy of the Company.

8 Risk associated
to the 
measurement
of investments

Risk of fair value estimation 
resulting in either an under and/or 
over valuation of investments

• The judgements and assumptions used in the process of valuation for the 
investments in unlisted equities were consistent to those applied in the prior years. 

• The Audit and Risk Committee (ARC), alongside the Investment Committee, 
challenge and debate the significant subjective inputs and assumptions and the 
valuation principles applied in the valuation of unlisted investments and properties. 

• The ARC is satisfied that the process applied in the valuation process is sufficiently 
robust to give a fair indication of the fair value of all investments.

9 Risk associated
to new projects

Incorrect investment decisions 
made and management making 
investments that do not align with 
strategic initiatives of RH Bophelo 
as mandated by the Board

• A minimum of two transactors work on a deal. There is also oversight by the ExCo 
on all deals and that includes reading and signing of all agreements based on 
procedures performed.

• The IC interrogates all new investments and ensures that they align with the overall 
strategic initiatives of the Company.

10 Risk associated
to inadequate
Information
Technology

Unauthorised access to 
the Information Technology 
infrastructure especially virtual 
attacks
Inadequate Disaster Recovery 
Plans
Unauthorised access to data as 
protected by POPIA

• RH Bophelo’s management, as approved by the ARC, has undertaken an exercise 
to re-evaluate the Information Technology systems and processes and ensures that 
they are adequate for a growing investment company. 

• The assessment is being done with growing technology breach risk that comes with 
working virtually.

RISK REGISTER
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EFFECT AND ONGOING CONCERN 

The South African Government declared a National State of 
Disaster in March 2020. As we are approaching the one-year 
mark, recuperating from the impact of the second wave with 
the third wave in near sight, many uncertainties linger. The 
soaring numbers of infected people during the second wave in 
December 2020 crippled the healthcare sector, with the private 
sector impacted the most, seeing hospitals full to capacity.

South Africans witnessed an increase in fatalities due to this 
virus, social media feeds flooded with funeral notices, and 
virtual funerals have become the norm. 

For many South Africans, a sense of relief was felt when the 
Government announced that it would be procuring vaccines that 
would address the virus and subsequently set out its roll-out 
plans. The vaccines are currently being rolled out by Government, 
firstly to healthcare professionals. The success of a vaccine and 
efficient roll out will also boost the economy and necessitate a 
return to and normalisation of socio-economic activities.

RH Bophelo, as a significant player in the South African 
healthcare sector’s value chain, found itself in the frontline of 
this pandemic with swift intervention measures to curb the risks 
around COVID-19 in its facilities through Africa Health Care and 
its role as responsible corporate citizen.

In response to this pandemic, RH Bophelo stands firmly in 
solidarity with the communities they serve, its employees, 
shareholders and the Government. RH Bophelo remains 
committed to communities, providing state-of-the-art 
medical facilities to patients, carrying their ethos of affordable 
healthcare for all. 

In the aftermath of the COVID-19 outbreak, the Board has 
revisited the key ratios used in assessing its solvency, 
profitability and liquidity indicators and concluded that they 
remain within the range that the Board deems appropriate to 
support the going concern assumption. A key factor in this 
assessment was the fact that the Company’s operating units 
are in the healthcare sector and were classified as essential 
services. The impact of this classification is that the decline in 
occupancy rates and capacity utilisation was marginal, and all 
units continued to operate within the normal range. To this end, 
the going concern assumption has been determined to be the 
appropriate basis for financial reporting as at 28 February 2021.

IAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period are the accounting 
standard that guides how companies need to account for 
events that occur from their reporting date (28 February 
2021) to the date of the publication of the Annual Financial 
Statements. Events that do materialise during that time are 
classified either as adjusting or non-adjusting events. The 
primary distinction is that adjusting events must provide further 
evidence or insight into matters that already existed at the 
reporting date (28 February 2021). Non-adjusting events, on 
the other hand, relate to events that materialised only after the 
reporting date and consequently did not provide evidence or 
insights into matters that already existed on the reporting date.

RISK AROUND 
COVID-19
THE SECOND WAVE AND 
VACCINE ROLLOUT IN SA
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The Board has adopted a Stakeholder Relations Policy to 
foster a framework of relations based on the principles of 
transparency, open communication, consultations and fair 
and trustworthy treatment. Our policies favour the inclusion of 
stakeholders in the Company’s business and activities through 
effective coordination and communication that is forthright 
and fosters relations based on trust on an ongoing basis. The 
Social and Ethics Committee is responsible for monitoring the 
Company’s compliance with regard to stakeholder engagement.

The corporate website of the Company is the channel 
of communication serving the Company’s Stakeholder 
Relations Policy.

The Company’s goal is to encourage the engagement of the 
Company’s stakeholders.

STAKEHOLDER  
RELATIONS

IDENTIFY

PLAN

COMMUNICATE

ENGAGE

ANALYSE

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

STAKEHOLDER  
ENGAGEMENT

MEDIA

SUPPLIERS

SHAREHOLDERS AND 
INVESTORS

DOCTORS AND SPECIALISTS

GOVERNMENT  
AND REGULATORS

WORKFORCE

CUSTOMERS
COMMUNITIES 

AND THE 
ENVIRONMENT

STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS

THE COMPANY RECOGNISES THAT 
TRUST, CONTINUOUS ENGAGEMENT AND 
TRANSPARENCY ARE KEY ELEMENTS IN 
STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS. WE ARE KEEN 
TO WORK WITH ALL STAKEHOLDERS, 
HONOURING THE OBLIGATIONS TO 
FUNCTION AS A CREDIBLE BRAND, 
TAKING ACCOUNTABILITY FOR ROLES, 
ACTIONS AND OUTCOMES BY CREATING 
SUSTAINABLE SHARED VALUE.

IN ITS RELATIONS WITH STAKEHOLDERS, 
THE COMPANY ACCEPTS AND PROMOTES 
THE FOLLOWING BASIC PRINCIPLES:

WE EMBRACE A PEOPLE-CENTRIC AND STAKEHOLDER-INCLUSIVE APPROACH TO CREATING 
VALUE OVER THE SHORT, MEDIUM AND LONG-TERM. RELATIONSHIPS ARE FOCAL TO WHO 
WE ARE AND WHAT WE WANT TO ACHIEVE. WE ARE COMMITTED TO UNDERSTANDING OUR 
STAKEHOLDERS’ NEEDS, EXPECTATIONS  AND CONCERNS, RECOGNISING THAT THERE ARE 
SEVERAL GROUPS THAT IMPACT OUR ABILITY TO CREATE VALUE.

OUR STAKEHOLDERS
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SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

Our shareholders and investors provide the financial capital needed to sustain and grow.
Nature of engagement
• Annual and interim results presentation.
• Trading updates and statements. 
• Updating investors on material developments through the Johannesburg Stock Exchange News Service (SENS). 
• Company website.
• The Integrated Report.
• Property tours.
• Investor interaction, including road shows, conferences, meetings for specific topics. 
• Annual General Meeting (AGM).
• Investor perception surveys.
Priority interests
• Strategy to ensure sustained financial performance.
• Responsible investments to ensure growth and to manage the risks and opportunities in our industry.
• Timeous and adequate information.
• Minimizing the risk of their investment.
• Sound corporate governance practices.
• Promotion of ethical corporate governance.
Key initiatives undertaken
• We remain committed to ensuring transparent communication and engagement with investors.
• We communicate our long-term focus and strategy through our Integrated Report. Refer to page 12 for the Company’s strategy.
• The Company’s AGM was held on 30 September 2020.
• Integrated Report published on SENS and distributed to shareholders.
• Shareholders were invited by the Company to discuss the Company’s Remuneration Policy.
• Material events published on SENS.
• Meetings with current and potential shareholders were held to expand and deepen RH Bophelo’s investor base.
• Continued and deepening explanations of where RH Bophelo is going with respect to a product lead healthcare company where 

the assets become a conduit to the distribution of products. 
• Securing well trained and competent staff well versed in governance and other moral and ethical standards with respect to 

investing and investment management.
• Continuous risk monitoring through our risk analysis and impact assessments. Refer page 56 for our Risk Report.
• During the COVID-19 outbreak, we have increased our engagement with senior management through virtual platforms on 

COVID-19 protocol and implementations, and we remain committed to operational efficiencies at our facilities that will take the 
Group beyond this pandemic. This includes providing our services in the most economical efficient and socially responsible way 
possible.

The table below briefly outlines the stakeholder groups who have a substantive impact on our ability to create value, outlining how 
they impact on value and identifying some of their primary interests relating to our business activities.

GOVERNMENT AND REGULATORS

The custodians of legislative and regulatory requirements and providers of licenses. 
Nature of engagement
• Consultations and periodic meetings with regulatory authorities, both through direct contact and through industry organisations.
• Membership in industry associations.
Priority interests
• Affordable healthcare structures
• Regulatory compliance
Key initiatives undertaken
• Liaising with government health departments directly and through industry forums.
• Participation in government forums.
•  Meetings held with government healthcare officials around National Health Insurance (NHI).
• Engagements with National Hospital Network (NHN).
• Monitoring regulatory compliance.
• Through our interactions with society and our stance on affordable healthcare, we have begun to change the debate and 

become one of the thought leaders on the topic of affordability as it relates to healthcare. 
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GOVERNMENT AND REGULATORS (CONTINUED)

The custodians of legislative and regulatory requirements and providers of licenses. (Continued)
Key initiatives undertaken (Continued)
• We have also begun to focus on products (health insurance), and others as a way to expand the affordable healthcare franchise 

at price points our people can afford.
• With the outbreak of COVID-19, RH Bophelo was actively involved in working together with the Department of Health (DoH) and 

Government in supporting its hospitals for readiness to admit COVID-19 patients, and more recently dealing with a second wave 
and an approaching third wave.

• We are committed to government protocols on pandemic management, and our facilities are equipped to service the nation.
 
To date, the following has happened:
• Offered hospitals in five provinces as dedicated facilities to assist the DoH.
• Through our subsidiaries Africa Health Care Proprietary Limited and Galindo Trading Proprietary Limited, we have been 

manufacturing non-surgical masks and protective gear. 
• We have provided training on COVID-19 protocols as set out by the National Department of Health for our facilities.

CUSTOMERS

Our market utilises our financial services offerings to access our facilities, thus driving our earning growth
Nature of engagement
• Investment strategy
• Surveys and media platforms
Priority interests
• Access to healthcare
• Enhanced value
Key initiatives undertaken
• The Company’s investment strategy is to pursue acquisitions of healthcare and financial services assets in exceptionally 

managed commercial entities or special situations across the South African market. A tenth of the fund is allocated to the 
acquisition of social assets.

• Our focus on health insurance products and others are ways to expand on the affordable healthcare as a priority investment 
class.

• Our facilities are ready to provide support and care during the next wave of the COVID-19 pandemic.

WORKFORCE

Our workforce is our employees based at the health facilities in which we are involved. Their skills and involvement 
determine our ability to provide quality healthcare services and to collectively deliver on the business strategy, brand 
mission and vision.
Nature of engagement
• Benchmarking remuneration
• Employee Committees and regular meetings
• Employee surveys
• Suggestion boxes
• Training and Development Committees within the Group’s hospitals
Priority interests
• Build a resilient workforce
• Ensure the health and safety of our employees
• Increase engagement
• Provide employees with the necessary resources and support to remain safe and productive as we adapt to the ‘new normal’
• Fair and market related remuneration
• Career development opportunities
• Transformation at all levels
Key initiatives undertaken
• Employee participation and feedback are encouraged to stimulate two-way communication.
• Formalised induction to ensure information is relevant, clear and easily retrievable for new employees.
• Remuneration is benchmarked against industry companies. 
• We support and encourage our staff to improve their skills and capabilities to remain relevant.
• We consider employee promotions, where suitable, and encourage internal career growth.
• Our nurses and hospital staff are exposed in the frontline of the Corona Virus and we are committed to protecting all of our 

employees. This includes proper knowledge, training and protective equipment to enable them to service our communities. 
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SUPPLIERS

The companies that provide equipment, legal, financial, IT services, professional and outsourced services. Our suppliers’ 
impact on our ability to cost-effectively provide services.
Nature of engagement
• Maintain processes for supplier registration and meetings with suppliers. 
• Contract and service agreement negotiations.
• Continuous engagement with our suppliers throughout our procurement and vendor application process.
Priority interests
• Fair negotiations.
• Quality and cost effectiveness.
• Fair payment terms.
• Local representation and opportunities to uplift small enterprises.
• Work with suppliers with regard to our ESG goals.

COMMUNITIES AND THE ENVIRONMENT

These are communities within which our healthcare facilities operate. They add to the longer-term viability of our 
business by strengthening the socio-economic context in which we operate. 

Nature of engagement
• Corporate Social Initiatives (CSI).
• Company website.
• Direct engagement around community concerns. facilitated through personal interaction.
Priority interests
• Focus on improving lives by creating:

 » Business opportunities for local enterprises
 » Jobs for unemployed youth and other community members
 » Collaboration with non-governmental organisations (NGOs)
 » Build skills capacity
 » Invest in CSI projects
 » Climate change, biodiversity, energy efficiency and water management.

Key initiatives undertaken
• RH Bophelo is committed to being a good corporate citizen and frequently evaluates the impact of its projects and developments 

on society and the environment.
• Strong emphasis is placed on supporting local business as well as ensuring local employment through the various service 

providers, to improve the lives of surrounding communities.
• The inclusion of local groups as shareholders within our investments.
• Interactions within the community included meetings with church leaders, municipalities, schools, South African Police Service 

(SAPS) and old age homes.
• Community outreach programmes undertaken by hospitals.
• ESG reporting within hospitals.
• CSI projects undertaken by RH Bophelo as reflected on page 68.
• Africa Health Care donations to the Nelson Mandela Children’s Hospital.
• The majority of Africa Health Care subsidiary entities and hospitals did not undertake any CSI initiatives, as the funds were spent 

on Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) to help combat the COVID-19 pandemic.
• Genric Insurance Company Limited (“Genric”) made a generous donation to the Solidarity Response Fund.
• Rondebosch Medical Centre allocated funds to the following initiatives:

 » World Heart Month.
 »  In support of Heart Awareness Month, Rondebosch Medical Centre, The Heart Foundation, Pathcare, Lancet Labs and 

Ampath Pathology hosted a wellness event on the Facility premises. 
 » Diabetes Screening. 
 » Rondebosch Medical Centre partnered with Pathcare and Lancet Labs to host a Free Finger Prick Blood Sugar check in 

support of World Diabetes Day.
 » Saartjie Baartman Centre for Abused Women & Children.
 » Rondebosch Medical Centre provided a donation to Saartjie Baartman Centre.

          -  This centre offers them a safe place to call home, food, legal intervention and counselling. They also provided stationery 
and toiletries for the children and mums.

 » Red Cross Children’s Facility. 
 » Friends of Red Cross is an organization that accommodates about 50 families that come from far and wide for the 

treatment of their children. Pharmacy staff prepared and donated food parcels to the families.
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MEDIA

The media has a critical role in keeping stakeholders informed of business developments, new products and services and 
the impact of our business operations. 
Nature of engagement
• Press releases. 
• Individual and group meetings. 
• A mailbox for questions on the corporate website. 
• Channels of communication on social networks.
Priority interests
• Drive brand awareness.
• Crafting key messages setting out the direction and strategic imperatives of RH Bophelo.
• Building media relationships.
• Transparent and accurate reporting to media.
• Managing media enquiries.
Key initiatives undertaken
• A mailbox which allows the public to engage with the Company.
• With the recent outbreak of COVID-19 and its impact on the Group, RH Bophelo has provided numerous media updates based 

on the Company’s role within the healthcare industry. The following interviews were undertaken:
•  17 March 2020: Metro FM - The private sector’s role in the current crisis
• 20 March 2020: CNBC – What are SA’s private healthcare companies doing about COVID-19: RH Bophelo’s role
• 21 March 2020: Newsroom Afrika – Managing the Coronavirus
• 23 March 2020: SAfm - Managing the Coronavirus
• 23 March 2020: eNCA - Managing the Coronavirus
• 24 March 2020: SABC News - Managing the Coronavirus
• 25 March 2020: KAYA FM - The private sector’s role in dealing with COVID-19

FOUNTAIN PRIVATE HOSPITAL (OWNED)

163 bed hospital in Gauteng
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OUR STATEMENT ON SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT GOALS
RH Bophelo’s commitment to our stakeholders includes 
ensuring that our business practices and platform enable a 
more sustainable and just world. Therefore, we are committing 
to the United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) 
by investing in initiatives that provide opportunities and 
benefits, both for South Africans and the global community that 
we are a part of.

By directly linking our performance to the SDGs, we will be able 
to track our impact with regards to important goals such as 
improving healthcare access, eliminating poverty and furthering 
economic development, and to tie and measure our work to a 
framework that is universally understood more clearly. We will 
provide more detailed reporting next year, with a dashboard that 
synthesizes our yearly performance and highlights key impacts 
while also setting future targets. 

It will emphasize working towards SDG 3, the “Good Health” 
goal, which sets international targets to “ensure healthy lives 
and promote well-being for all at all ages.” Now more than 
ever, the necessity of investment in South African healthcare 
is apparent, with an overcrowded public infrastructure and 
underfunded and understaffed rural healthcare institutions. 
Our investments in eight hospitals, primarily in rural and peri-
urban locations across four provinces, will play a pivotal role in 
reducing the high burden of disease and making South Africa’s 
SDG 3 targets attainable.

RHB is also committed to creating an ecosystem that delivers 
value to South Africans in the lower to middle-income brackets, 
for example by investing in decreasing the costs of healthcare 
insurance, which is otherwise out of reach for most. Another key 
part of RHB’s mission is working towards achieving universal 
health coverage in concert with the government’s NHI rollout.

RHB is also targeting the shortage of healthcare workers 
and specialists in South Africa through its investments in a 
nursing college and plans to invest in other private medical 
and dental schools.

As part of our ongoing commitment to being a market leader in 
corporate social responsibility and sustainability, we are excited 
to be one of the first healthcare-related businesses in South 
Africa to directly tie our goals and progress to the SDGs. 

RH Bophelo continues to establish policies and practices for 
conducting operations in an environmentally sound manner; to 
respect and protect the local, regional and global environment; 
and to support sustainable, social and economic development 
while fulfilling our healthcare mission. 

RH Bophelo Board has developed various ESG Policies, 
which are filtered through as a guiding principle to the 
various subsidiary boards to be implemented and approved. 
The hospitals/facilities further develop additional Standard 
Operating Procedures to regulate compliance with the policies.

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) reporting is 
undertaken through independent assurance providers at all RH 
Bophelo’s assets annually. Corrective action plans are drawn 
up, and time frames are provided to rectify any shortcomings 
discovered. The reports are tabled to the Social and Ethics 
Committee, which monitors the compliance thereof.

OUR ESG PROCESS
Our Policy is to integrate ESG considerations and effectively 
manage ESG issues at all stages in the investment process. 
RH Bophelo incorporates the International Finance 
Corporation (IFC) Performance Standards, the King Report for 
Corporate Governance (King IV) and all relevant legislation. 
These are key components of a proper and responsible 
framework for ESG evaluations.

We review all investment opportunities against our 
Environmental and Sustainability Policy and any additional 
requirements imposed by funders. In addition to this, we review 
the compliance of all investments against the respective local 
social and environmental legislative requirements. Where 
investments are undertaken within Africa, the Company 
considers the respective legislation of the country in which it is 
invested and applies all relevant local legislation to that country.

The management of ESG issues consists of assessment 
and plans for the avoidance and mitigation of ESG risks for 
proposed investments. At the pre-investment screening phase, 
an ESG due diligence is undertaken on potential opportunities. 
Based on this outcome, a suitable level of ESG due diligence 
is assigned, together with the appropriate internal/external 
resources to support the process. Where investment 
opportunities have a high ESG risk profile, RH Bophelo utilises 
independent experts and consultants for an impact assessment 
and recommendations on avoidance and mitigation. All the 
outcomes of this process are included in the transaction 
documentation and investment plan, which is fundamental to 
our post-investment implementation strategy.

RH Bophelo standardises and codifies the ESG requirements 
and guidelines at the post-investment phase, thereby assisting 
the investee companies in effectively and proactively avoiding 
and/or mitigating all ESG risks. Where complete avoidance 
of adverse effects is not feasible, RH Bophelo puts in the 
necessary controls and management thereof to reduce the 
possibility and magnitude of such adverse effects to the 
absolute minimum.

In cases where RH Bophelo is not a majority shareholder, 
we seek alignment with shareholders at the transaction 
structuring phase. In addition, every reasonable effort is made 
to encourage the other shareholders to give full consideration of 
ESG issues and apply best practice. 

CREATING SUSTAINABLE VALUE

RH BOPHELO HAS AN OBLIGATION TO ENSURE THAT IT IMPROVES SUSTAINABILITY 
BY MANAGING ITS RESOURCES RESPONSIBLY AND EFFICIENTLY TO THE BENEFIT OF 
STAKEHOLDERS. THE COMPANY HAS AN ENVIRONMENTAL AND SUSTAINABILITY 
POLICY THAT FORMALLY DOCUMENTS THE COMPANY’S STRATEGY AND GOVERNANCE 
APPROACH TO MANAGE ITS ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS AND PERFORMANCE ACROSS 
ITS INVESTMENTS.
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POTENTIAL ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RISKS WITHIN OUR 
INVESTMENTS
The Environmental issues associated with healthcare facilities include the following: 

• Encouraging the efficient use of natural resources and promoting the protection of the environment.
• Considering the impact of its operations on the local community and ensuring that potentially harmful environmental and social 

effects are appropriately assessed, addressed and monitored.

ENVIRONMENTAL

1. Resource efficiency and pollution prevention

The Investee companies consider ambient conditions and apply technically and financially feasible resource efficiency and 
pollution prevention principles and techniques that are best suited to avoid, or where avoidance is not possible, minimise adverse 
impacts on the environment.

2. Air emissions

Sources of air emissions at the hospital/facility may include exhaust air from heating, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) 
systems. Emissions may consist of exhaust emissions from medical waste incineration if this waste management option is 
selected by the hospital. In addition, air emissions may result from combustion-related to power generation. 

Some hospital/facilities use the heat from the HVAC system to regenerate heat for alternate use. Air emissions from incineration is 
not applicable to RH Bophelo as none of our facilities have incinerators. All generators at our facilities are diesel-powered.
3. Wastewater

Contaminated wastewater may result from discharges from medical wards and operating theatres. 
Hospital operators have health-related risk management plans covering risks related to laundry, cleaning and waste segregation.
All wastewater is discharged into the municipal sewage system as per municipal regulations. 

4. Waste management

The hospitals/facilities will avoid the generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste materials. Where waste generation 
cannot be avoided, the facility will reduce the generation of waste and recover and reuse waste in a manner that is safe for human 
health and the environment. 

The hospital operator ensures that a waste segregation procedure is incorporated and documented into the hospital’s waste 
management plan. The waste management plan includes training provided to staff on the proper management of waste storage. 
The ESG process also ensures that waste management processes and policies are in place.

The removal of healthcare hazardous waste is outsourced to third parties. Contractor’s licences are verified through the ESG 
reporting process. 
5. Biodiversity conservation and sustainable management of living natural resources

RH Bophelo has a Biodiversity Policy that ensures, through its investments, that it sustainably manages and mitigates impacts on 
biodiversity and ecosystems throughout its operations to:

i) Protect and conserve biodiversity;
ii) Maintain the benefits from ecosystem services; and
iii)  Promote the sustainable management of living natural resources by adopting practices that integrate conservation  

needs and development priorities. 

We consider direct and indirect project-related impacts on biodiversity and ecosystem services through our risks and 
consequences identification process and identify any significant residual effects. This process considers relevant threats to 
biodiversity and ecosystem services, mainly focusing on habitat loss, degradation and fragmentation, invasive alien species, 
overexploitation, hydrological changes, nutrient loading and pollution. It also considers the different values attached to 
biodiversity and ecosystem services by Affected Communities and, where appropriate, other stakeholders. 

As a matter of priority, the Company seeks to avoid impacts on biodiversity and ecosystem services. When avoidance of impacts 
is not possible, measures to minimise the effects and restore biodiversity and ecosystem services are implemented. Given the 
complexity in predicting project impacts on biodiversity and ecosystem services over the long term, the Company adopts a 
practice of adaptive management. The implementation of mitigation and management measures are responsive to changing 
conditions and the results of monitoring throughout the hospital’s/facilities lifecycle. 

If applicable during the acquisition of vacant land, the Company retains competent professionals to conduct the risks and 
impacts identification process to conclude a Biodiversity and Heritage Impact Assessment prior to investing. 
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SOCIAL

1. Labour and working conditions

The policies of RHB and our investee companies are:

• To promote fair treatment, non-discrimination and equal opportunity of workers. 
• To establish, maintain and improve the worker-management relationship. 
• To promote compliance with national employment and labour laws. 
• To protect workers, including vulnerable categories of workers such as children, migrant workers, workers engaged by third 

parties and workers in the Company’s supply chain. 
• To promote safe and healthy working conditions.
 
The human resources policies for our healthcare facilities are managed through the hospital operating companies or directly 
through the investee company. Compliance is monitored through the ESG reporting. 

Employee forums are created, and employees are encouraged to participate and provide feedback to stimulate two-way 
communication. 

RH Bophelo supports and encourages its staff to improve their skills and capabilities to remain relevant. Within our hospitals and 
facilities, these are done through Training and Development Committees. We consider employee promotions, where suitable, and 
encourage internal career growth.

Our Remuneration Policy, if developed, is to ensure fair and competitive salaries. Remuneration is benchmarked against industry 
companies. 

Our nurses and hospital staff are exposed in the frontline of COVID-19, and we are committed to protecting all of our employees. 
This includes proper knowledge, training and protective equipment to enable them to serve our communities. 

2. Broad-Based Black Employment Equity

RH Bophelo promotes the economic empowerment of all Black people, including women workers, youth, people with disabilities 
and people living in rural areas, through diverse but integrated socio-economic strategies. Refer to page 68 for further details on 
RH Bophelo’s BEE Policy.

The graphs below reflect our current labour composition at RH Bophelo owned hospitals/facilities based on race and gender.

THE SOCIAL ISSUES ASSOCIATED WITH HEALTHCARE FACILITIES INCLUDE THE FOLLOWING: 

• Providing safe and healthy working conditions for employees and contractors. 
• All employees are to be treated fairly in terms of recruitment, progression, remuneration and work conditions, irrespective of 

gender, race, colour, language, disability, political opinion, age, religion, or national/social origin.
• Allowing consultative workplace structures and associations which provide employees with an opportunity to present their views to 

management.
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SOCIAL

3. Occupational health and safety

Through our hospitals and facilities, we provide a safe and healthy work environment by taking steps to prevent accidents, injury 
and disease arising from, associated with, or occurring in the course of work. 

4. Stakeholder relations

A community liaison officer is appointed to manage the local community’s expectations in relation to sub-contractors that are 
utilised during the construction of a hospital/facility. The hospital operator is required to manage the community’s expectations 
post-operation of the hospital. Should the required skills be available within the community, the local community will be prioritised 
for the staff vacancies within the hospital. The hospital operator endeavours to utilise the skilled SME’s from within the community 
for sub-contracted services.

• Refer to our CSI initiatives on below and our Stakeholder Engagement Plan on page 59 for further details. 

TRANSFORMATION AND BROAD-BASED 
BLACK ECONOMIC EMPOWERMENT (B-BBEE)
The Board of RH Bophelo is committed to the transformation and 
empowerment objectives of South Africa. The Company believes 
that a B-BBEE Policy is necessary to detail the Company’s plan 
to ensure adherence to social and economic transformation.

We recognise that integrating transformation into our 
business practise is crucial for the sustainability of the 
Company and industry, and it is especially imperative in the 
context of South Africa.

The Company recognises the importance of a multifaceted, 
broad-based and integrated approach to BEE in the 
transformation of the macro socio-economic space where it 
is active, as well as for the long-term sustainability of South 
Africa; these are essential ingredients in ensuring continued 
stability and prosperity.

In this context, the Company has developed its B-BBEE Policy 
based on the following principles:

• The Company recognises its responsibility towards its 
shareholders to continually deliver attractive returns on their 
investment continually. Any B-BBEE initiative must remain 
cognisant of the interests of shareholders as stakeholders in 
the business.

• An inclusive approach to BEE, which is broad-based and 
deliberately advances previously disadvantaged communities, 
ensuring that the benefits are spread as widely as possible.

• The empowerment of the Company’s own employees remains 
a priority. However, being a responsible corporate citizen, the 
Company has a role to play in the empowerment, economic 
development and social upliftment of the broader society.

• In advancing B-BBEE, the Company ensures that there is a 
positive net effect on its business interests. Human resources, 
development and skills transfer remain critical components 
for sustainable B-BBEE, and they are perceived to be the key 
ingredients in the success of any B-BBEE programme.

• The Board is committed to promoting diversity in its members 
across a variety of attributes relevant for promoting better 
decision-making and effective governance, including the field 
of knowledge, skills and experience as well as age, culture, 
independence, race and gender.

• The Board has approved a Race and Gender Policy that 
sets out the Board’s commitment and approach in promoting 
race and gender diversity at Board level over a reasonable 
transition period. The Board sets targets for gender and race 
representation in its membership through its Remuneration 
and Nominations Committee. The Company has disclosed 
its performance against these targets on page 51 of the King 
Compliance Report.

• The Company has identified that the previously applied 
B-BBEE and transformation strategy needs improvement and 
has performed a detailed analysis of its B-BBEE score. The 
Company, together with the Social and Ethics Committee, 
have developed an approach that seeks to improve the 
Company’s rating from its previous rating, with the aim to 
achieving a Level 3 rating in the current year. The Company 
has engaged the services of a BEE verification agency to 
obtain their BEE scorecard, and at the time of publishing 
this report, was still awaiting the scorecard. The Company’s 
B-BBEE rating for the current financial reporting period is still 
underway; the results will be made available on  
www.rhbophelo.co.za

 
CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
RH Bophelo participated in a number of CSI projects through 
the RH Foundation NPC. RHB  made a donation to the 
foundation which gave  the foundation a mandate to spend the 
money for Education and training initiatives, Corporate social 
responsibility projects and Supplier development. The following 
projects were funded by the foundation and attributable to the 
Corporate Social Responsibility initiatives.

PROFESSOR MODIBA SCHOLARSHIP 
FOUNDATION

The foundation donated money towards the funding of medical 
students through the professor Modiba Scholarship Fund that’s in 
partnership with the Sefako Makgatho Health Sciences University. 
The funds beneficiaries are mainly historically disadvantaged 
medical students. The scholarship is a one-year bursary program 
that includes travel and accommodation for deserving students 
that are currently studying towards a medical qualification.

AFRICAN WOMEN CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS  
(AWCA)

The Fund donated to the African Women Chartered 
Accountants (AWCA), a Non-Profit Organisation founded 
in 2002 on the premise of mutual support and personal 
development of African Women Chartered Accountants. Their 
mandate is to identify and develop young girls who aspire 
to be CA(SA)s for entry into universities to pursue a relevant 
degree. In addition, the organisation also focuses on training 
and nurturing Black women who are completing their articles 
and supporting newly qualified Black women CA(SA) as well as 
leadership development for Black women CA(SA)s to groom 
them to hold key decision-making positions in Corporate SA 
and the Public Sector.
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ANNUAL GRANNY CHRISTMAS PARTY

The Foundation donated to the Granny Christmas drive, hosted 
annually for senior citizens. This year was different due to COVID- 
19 and the social distancing protocol that had to be observed. 
The drive supplied food parcels to the homes of the elderly in the 
spirit of the festive season and giving back to the community.

COMMUNITY PROVISION AND SOCIAL SERVICES  

A donation was made to Compass, a programme that assists 
abused/abandoned babies, children and women (Community 
Provision & Social Services). The donations will be used to buy 
food and clothes for the women and children.

LITTLE EDEN

The Company donated to Little Eden, which cares for 300 
children and adults with profound intellectual and physical 
disabilities. Many were abandoned or come from disadvantaged 
families unable to care for them or contribute towards their care. 

FOREVER FRIENDS

A fund contribution was made to the ‘Forever Friends 
Foundation’, which provides via the Life-Line Kit Project to assist 
and ease the pain and trauma of abused and abandoned children 
and babies removed from their homes. Several reasons are 
documented for removing children from their homes, mainly due 
to abuse caused by direct family members or friends. Many of the 
cases related to sexual, physical, drug abuse and alcohol abuse.

THUTHUZELA AID COMMUNITY CENTRE

The Thuthuzela Aid Community Centre (“Thuthuzela”) is an 
orphanage and day-care centre that provides a place of safety 
for Alexandra’s abandoned, abused and neglected children. They 
have the vision to educate, care and develop the children at 
the centre and give them a chance to enhance their future. The 
donation funds the operational costs to run the centre, which 
includes paying for salaries, electricity, toiletries and medication.

ARTS AND CULTURE

A donation was made for the benefit of uplifting arts and culture 
in South Africa. Also, the pandemic affected the artists’ ability 
to generate income, and the foundation contributed towards 
partially remedying the effects of the hard lockdown. South 
African society faced various challenges, some of which can have 
a long-lasting impact if left unattended. To mention a few:
• Xenophobia
• Not developing youth and women in the arts
• Lack of promoting vernacular languages usage promotion 

within the arts and society 

EDUCATION AND TRAINING

The Fund donated towards Bursaries that were awarded to 
the employees for the different fields of studies. The Fund 
also donated towards an internship programme that Gini 
Finance runs and Compliance Proprietary Limited that provides 
graduates with work experience in various fields, including 
accounting, internal audit, and investments.

EDEN GARDENS PRIVATE HOSPITAL (MANAGED)

125 bed hospital in KwaZulu-Natal 
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1. REMUNERATION OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
1.1. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1:

RESOLVED THAT in terms of Section 66(9) of the Companies Act the Company be and is hereby authorised to remunerate its Non-
Executive Directors for their services as Directors on the basis set out below, provided that this authority will be valid until the next 
AGM of the Company.

FEE PER MEETING ATTENDANCE

Board meeting 10 000

Board Chairperson 20 000

Investment Committee meetings (including Chairperson) 10 000

Audit and Risk Committee meetings 10 000

Audit and Risk Committee Chairperson 15 000

Social and Ethics Committee meetings (including Chairperson) 10 000

Remuneration and Nominations Committee meetings (including Chairperson) 10 000

Retainer (R)(excluding VAT)

Payable monthly to Board member 10 000

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS PASSED

2.  INTER-COMPANY FINANCIAL 
ASSISTANCE

2.1. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 2:

RESOLVED THAT in terms of section 45(3)(a)(ii) of the 
Companies Act, as a general approval, the Board of the 
Company be and is hereby authorised to approve that the 
Company provides any direct or indirect financial assistance 
(‘financial assistance’ will herein have the meaning attributed to 
it in section 45(1) of the Companies Act) that the Board of the 
Company may deem fit to any person, company or corporation 
that is related or interrelated (‘related’ or ‘interrelated’ will herein 
have the meaning attributed to it in section 2 of the Companies 
Act) to the Company, on the terms and conditions and for 
amounts that the Board of the Company may determine, 
provided that the aforementioned approval shall be valid until 
the date of the next AGM of the Company.

 
 
 
 
 
 

2.2. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3:

RESOLVED THAT, in terms of section 44(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies 
Act, as a general approval, the Board of the Company be and is 
hereby authorised to approve that the Company provides any 
direct or indirect financial assistance (‘financial assistance’ will 
herein have the meaning attributed to it in sections 44(1) and 
44(2) of the Companies Act) that the Board of the Company 
may deem fit to any company or corporation that is related or 
interrelated to the Company (‘related’ or ‘interrelated’ will herein 
have the meaning attributed to it in section 2 of the Companies 
Act) and/or to any financier who provides funding by subscribing 
for preference shares or other securities in the Company or any 
company or corporation that is related or interrelated to the 
Company, on the terms and conditions and for amounts that the 
Board of the Company may determine for the purpose of, or in 
connection with the subscription of any option, or any shares 
or other securities, issued or to be issued by the Company 
or a related or interrelated company or corporation, or for the 
purchase of any shares or securities of the Company or a 
related or interrelated company or corporation, provided that the 
aforementioned approval shall be valid until the date of the next 
AGM of the Company.
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ST HELENA PRIVATE HOSPITAL (OWNED)

131 bed hospital in Free State 
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4
ANNUAL
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

PREPARATION

The summary abridged financial results have been prepared internally under the supervision of the Chief Financial Officer,  
Dion Mhlaba CA(SA), and approved by the Board of Directors. 

The Board takes full responsibility for the preparation of this report and ensuring that the financial information has been 
correctly prepared. 

The summary abridged annual financial results have been extracted from audited information but the abridged statement has 
not itself audited. An unmodified audit report was issued by our external auditor, Mazars on the annual financial statements 
from which this report is extracted. The directors take full responsibility for the preparation of the abridged report and that the 
financial information has been correctly extracted from the underlying annual financial statements. Any reference to future financial 
performance included in this announcement has not been audited or reported on by the external auditor. Shareholders are therefore 
advised that in order to get a full understanding of the nature of the auditor’s engagement, they should obtain a copy of the auditor’s 
independent audit report together with the accompanying Annual Financial Statements from the Company’s website  
https://www.rhbophelo.co.za/investment/for-our-investors/

RAND MUTUAL ASSURANCE (MANAGED)

120 bed hospital in Free State
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 RHB PERFORMANCE

THE FOLLOWING IS A SUMMARY OF RHB PERFORMANCE:

The Net  
Asset Value  
increased by

year on year, in 
comparison to the 
current year balance 
of R864 million and a 
prior year of R646.6 
million.

34%

Our total  
investment revenue 
increased by

year on year, in 
comparison to 
the current year 
investment revenue of 
R188 million and a prior 
year of R105 million.

79%

Total income 
before tax  
increased by

year on year, in 
comparison to the 
current year operating 
profit of R166 million 
and a prior year of 
R90 million

84%

Our total income after 
tax increased by

87%
year on year, in 
comparison to the 
current year net profit 
of R131 million and a 
prior year of R71 million 
with our basic earnings 
per share and headline 
earnings per share 
increasing by 67% year 
on year.

The Company and its investments 
remain liquid and solvent, with sufficient 
resources to continue operating into the 
feasible future.

The Net Asset Value 
Per Share (NAVPS) 
increased by

15%

per “A” ordinary 
share 

15 CENTS 
(ZAR)

Board approved and 
declared a final gross 
dividend of R842,7 M

The investment portfolio increased to

R509,7 M
in comparison to year-end balance of

R174 M
and a fair value movement
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The directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the Annual Financial Statements of RH Bophelo 
Limited (“the Company”). The Annual Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”), including interpretations of such standards as issued by the Interpretations Committee, the Financial Reporting 
Pronouncements as issued by Financial Reporting Standards Council, the requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, the 
King Code on Corporate Governance IV (King IV), Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE) Listings Requirements, the Rwanda Stock 
Exchange (RSE) Listings Requirements and compliance with applicable laws.

The directors confirm that in preparing the Annual Financial Statements they have used the most appropriate accounting policies, 
consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, and that all International Financial 
Reporting Standards that they consider to be applicable have been followed. The directors are satisfied that the information 
contained in the Annual Financial Statements fairly presents the results of operations for the year and the financial position of the 
Company at the end of the financial year.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the 
Company, and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet these 
responsibilities, the directors set standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost- effective manner. 
The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures 
and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the Company 
and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the Company’s business is conducted in 
a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management is on identifying, assessing, 
managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the Company. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, an endeavour 
is made to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed 
within predetermined procedures and constraints.

Based on the information and explanations given by management, the directors are of the opinion that the system of internal control 
provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the Annual Financial Statements. 
However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

The Annual Financial Statements were prepared on the going concern basis. The assets of the Company, fairly valued, exceed 
its liabilities fairly valued. The valuation of assets and liabilities includes the current and projected impacts of COVID-19. Having 
considered the collective effects of the operating environment, the projected cash flows and all COVID-19-related matters the 
directors are of the opinion that the Company will continue as a going concern in the foreseeable future.

The Annual Financial Statements were audited by the independent auditors, to whom unrestricted access was given to all financial 
records and related information, including minutes of all meetings of shareholders, the board of directors and committees of the 
board.

In terms of JSE Listings Requirements 3.84(k), the directors, whose names are stated below, hereby confirm that:

a.  The Annual Financial Statements fairly present in all material respects the financial position, financial performance, changes in 
equity and cash flows of the Company in terms of IFRS;

b.  No facts have been omitted or untrue statements made that would make the Annual Financial Statements false or misleading;

c.  Internal financial controls have been put in place to ensure that material information relating to the Company and its subsidiaries 
has been provided to effectively prepare the financial statements of the Company; and

d.  The internal financial controls are adequate and effective and can be relied upon in compiling the annual financial statements, 
having fulfilled our role and function within the combined assurance model pursuant to principle 15 of the King Code. Where we 
are not satisfied, we have disclosed to the Audit and Risk Committee and the auditors the deficiencies in design and operational 
effectiveness of the internal financial controls and any fraud that involves directors and have taken the necessary remedial action.

Chief Executive Officer 
Quinton Zunga 31 May 2021

Chief Financial Officer 
Dion Mhlaba 31 May 2021

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
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COMPANY SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATION

DECLARATION BY THE COMPANY SECRETARY IN RESPECT OF SECTION 88(2)(E) OF THE 
COMPANIES ACT
In my capacity as the Company Secretary, I hereby confirm, in terms of the South African Companies Act 71 of 2008, as amended, 
that for the year ended 28 February 2021, RH Bophelo has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission (CIPC) 
all such returns as are required of a public company in terms of the Act, and that all such returns are, to the best of my knowledge 
and belief, true, correct and up to date.

The Board of RH Bophelo hereby confirms that the relationship with the Company Secretary is at arm’s length and satisfies itself of 
the competence, qualifications and experience of the Company Secretary.

 

Corporate Vision Proprietary Limited Company Secretary 
Ragni Naicker 
Date: 31 May 2021
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INTRODUCTION
The Audit and Risk Committee (“ARC”) presents its report for the financial year ended 28 February 2021. The Committee reports 
that it has adopted formal terms of reference as its Audit and Risk Committee Charter (“the Charter”), and that it has discharged all 
of its responsibilities for the current financial year, in compliance with the Charter.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE ARC
In discharging its responsibilities, the ARC, among other functions:

• Examined and reviewed the Annual Financial Statements and other financial announcements to ensure balanced and faithful 
presentation consistent with the application of appropriate accounting policies and standards;

• Reviewed and considered the appropriateness of the going concern basis in preparing the Annual Financial Statements
• Considered material risks and internal controls to the financial reporting and fraud;
• Nominated an auditor (Mazars South Africa) that the Audit and Risk Committee regards as independent;
• Determined the audit fee and the auditor’s terms of engagement ensuring that the appointment of the auditor complies with the 

Companies Act and other relevant legislation;
• Made submissions to the board regarding the Company’s accounting policies, financial controls, records and reporting;
• Satisfied itself with regard to the expertise, resources and experience of the finance function;
• Ensured that the proposed individual auditor does not appear on the JSE list of disqualified individual auditors when 

recommending the auditor for appointment or re-appointment at the annual general meeting; and
• Reviewed the JSE proactive monitoring reports and assessed the Company’s compliance with the recommendations and 

commitments made in response to the JSE proactive monitoring reports.

COMPOSITION OF THE COMMITTEE
The Committee consisted of four Independent Non-Executive Directors, who are appropriately qualified and experienced to execute 
their responsibilities. Two members are required to have a quorum. Whilst the Committee had 4 members throughout the period 
under review, Ms Refiloe Nkadimeng subsequently resigned on 8 March 2021.

During the year under review, the members of the Committee were as follows:

• Dr Solly Motuba (Chairperson)
• Ms Refiloe Nkadimeng (Resigned 8 March 2021)
• Ms Dinao Lerutla
• Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana
 
In addition, Mr Quinton Zunga (Chief Executive Officer), Mr Dion Mhlaba (Chief Financial Officer), Ms Vuyokazi Nomvalo (Investment 
Executive), Colin Clarke (Chief Investment Officer) and Mazars South Africa (the external auditors) are also permanent invitees to the 
meetings of the committee.

MEETINGS
The Committee held seven scheduled meetings during the year and the quorum was met at all the meetings.

2021 OVERVIEW
The Committee is satisfied that an adequate system of internal controls is in place to reduce significant risks faced by the Company 
to an acceptable level, and that these controls have been effective throughout the period under review. The system is designed to 
manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure and to maximise opportunities to achieve business objectives. This can provide 
only reasonable, but not absolute assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the Annual Financial 
Statements. In addition, the Committee reviewed the financial control systems, the accounting systems and is satisfied with the 
design and effectiveness of the systems in the current period.

As required by the JSE Limited Listings Requirements 3.84(f), the Audit and Risk Committee has satisfied itself that Mr Dion Mhlaba, 
who served as the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) throughout the financial year under review, has the appropriate experience and 
expertise to fulfil the responsibilities of the finance function.

The Committee has considered the key audit matters set out in the independent auditor’s report and is satisfied that the key audit 
matters have been appropriately presented.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT
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Key audit matter How the matter was addressed

1.  Valuation of financial 
assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

The Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) received presentations on valuation of the material investments across the group including 
an analysis of the key judgements and assumptions applied and approved the valuation adjustments proposed by management 
for the year ended 28 February 2021 and the appropriateness of the IFRS 13 and IFRS 7 disclosures on fair value.
The judgements and assumptions used in the process of valuation for the investments in unlisted equities were consistent 
to those applied in the prior years. The ARC, alongside the Investment Committee, challenged and debated the significant 
subjective inputs and assumptions, and the valuation principles applied in the valuation of unlisted investments and 
properties. The ARC was satisfied that the process applied in the valuation process was sufficiently robust to give a fair 
indication of the fair value of all investments.

2.  Impact of the outbreak 
of COVID-19 on 
the going concer 
assumptions made 
by management, the 
business operations 
and the valuation of 
financial assets

In the aftermath of the Coronavirus outbreak, the Board has revisited the key ratios used in the assessment – including 
solvency, profitability and liquidity indicators – and concluded that they remain within the range that the Board deems 
appropriate to support the going concern assumption. A key factor in this assessment was the fact that the Company’s 
operating units are in the healthcare sector and were classified as essential services, while the financial services sector 
continued to operate. The impact of this classification is that the decline in occupancy rates and capacity utilisation was 
marginal and a majority of our investee companies continued to operate within the normal range. To this end, the going 
concern assumption has been determined to be the appropriate basis for financial reporting as at 28 February 2021.

The review of the Integrated Report together with the Annual Financial Statements are also the responsibility of the Audit and Risk 
Committee. The committee has evaluated the Integrated Report and Annual Financial Statements of RH Bophelo for the year ended 
28 February 2021 and based on the information provided to the Audit and Risk Committee, considers that it complies, in all material 
respects, with the requirements of the various acts and regulations governing disclosure and reporting.

 INTERNAL AUDIT
The Committee considered the nature, risks and internal control environment at RH Bophelo Ltd and concluded that due to the nature 
of the business, and size of the business, a full-scope internal audit function is not deemed necessary. The Committee evaluates the 
decision on a continuous basis. As part of its Charter, the committee has adopted the following approach in relation to internal audit:

• By practice, the Audit and Risk Committee assesses and updates its risk register and tasks and has mandated management to 
perform a risk rating on each risk identified monitors the related mitigating risks; and

• In the current year, a special risk assessment meeting was scheduled in order to review and where necessary, update the 
currentrisk register and to update the risk ratings for all risks identified.

 EXTERNAL AUDIT
In the current year, Mazars was appointed as new auditors by the shareholders at the AGM on 30 September 2020, as successors 
to Deloitte. In line with its Charter, the Committee assessed Mazars’ independence and was satisfied with their independence in 
relation to the Company.

The Committee is further satisfied that Mrs Rochelle Murugan (Engagement Partner), who has been designated as the lead partner for 
the current year, complies with the relevant provisions of the JSE Listings Requirements. The Committee is satisfied with Mrs Murugan’s 
independence in relation to the Company and also with her fitness after having reviewed her qualifications and past experience.

 NON-AUDIT SERVICES
There were no non-audit services rendered by Mazars in the current year.

 OTHER MATTERS
The Committee applied its judgement to the treatment of the various post-reporting period events, including the classification of 
the events and the additional disclosures provided in note 24. The Committee is satisfied that the post-reporting period events have 
been adequately assessed and where applicable are disclosed appropriately.

 RECOMMENDATION FOR APPROVAL
Based on the information obtained and discussions with management and the external auditors, the Committee has no reason to 
believe that there was any material breakdown in the design and operational effectiveness of the internal financial controls during 
the year. The Committee therefore believes that the financial records may be relied upon as the basis for the preparation of the 
Annual Financial Statements.

In discharging its responsibilities, the Committee evaluated significant judgements and reporting decisions; determined that 
the going concern basis of reporting is appropriate; evaluated the material factors and risks that impact the Annual Financial 
Statements and associated reports; and evaluated the completeness of the Annual Financial Statements and the disclosures 
included therein.

The Committee is of the opinion that the Annual Financial Statements comply in all material respects with the statutory requirements 
of the various regulations governing their disclosure and reporting. These include IFRS and Financial Reporting Pronouncements 
issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, as well as the requirements of the Companies Act, the JSE Listings 
Requirements and the RSE Listings Requirements for Investment Entities.

The Committee accordingly recommended the Annual Financial Statements to the board for its approval.

 
 
 
Dr Solly Motuba 
Audit and Risk Committee Chairperson  
31 May 2021
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A NOTE FROM THE AUDITORS

The summary abridged annual financial results have been extracted from audited information and the abridged statement has been 
audited. An unqualified audit report was issued by our external auditor, Mazars on the Annual Financial Statements from which this 
report is extracted. The directors take full responsibility for the preparation of the abridged report and that the financial information 
has been correctly extracted from the underlying Annual Financial Statements. Any reference to future financial performance 
included in this announcement has not been audited or reported on by the external auditor. Shareholders are therefore  advised 
that in order to get a full understanding of the nature of the auditor’s engagement, they should obtain a copy of the auditor’s 
independent audit report together with the accompanying Annual Financial Statements from the Company’s website:  
https://www.rhbophelo.co.za/investment/for-our-investors/
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INTRODUCTION 
 
As the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic became the single greatest peacetime challenge confronting humanity, the various 
responses initiated by business and political leaders across the globe became the focal area for all of us. For business leaders, the 
question of how to steer their businesses through the storm became the litmus test that distinguished between businesses that 
responded well and those that struggled. For our business – RH Bophelo – our participation in the healthcare value chain meant that 
we were firmly placed in the heart of the storm throughout the period.

Financially, the effects were multidimensional, as expected for all businesses in the healthcare sector. The economic and social 
lockdowns initiated to curb the spread of the virus impacted some of the projections we had as a business related to the portfolio 
of products we offer. RH Bophelo’ s portfolio of assets – particularly those including properties, exhibited trends in occupancy and 
utilisation rates that mirrored the healthcare sector at large. As a business designated as an essential service, however, the financial 
impact of the lockdowns on our business was within the range of outcomes that the Board considers reasonable in light of the 
times we live in.

When we listed in 2017, we stated that our commitment would be to invest in a portfolio of assets throughout the healthcare value 
chain that would be managed to deliver value for our shareholders and stakeholders. Over the past year, not only have we stayed 
true to this commitment by increasing our investments in two strategic assets – Genric Insurance Company and Rondebosch 
Medical Centre – we have also taken the first steps towards diversifying our footprint across the continent. On 1 June 2020, we 
finalised our listing on the Rwanda Stock Exchange, which we regard as an important window into the fast-growing African private 
healthcare market. 

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of the Company is pleased to present the abridged results for the year ended 28 February 
2021. The Company seeks to generate returns for its shareholders through various investments in the healthcare and financial 
services sector. The Company is involved in making equity, quasi-equity, and equity-related investments in healthcare and financial 
services. The Company executes its investment mandate primarily through two wholly-owned subsidiaries, RH Bophelo Operating 
Company Proprietary Limited (“RHBO”) and RH Financial Services Proprietary Limited (“RHFS”). These subsidiaries are utilised in 
order to acquire various investments on behalf of the Company.

1. THE COMPANY
RH Bophelo Limited (“the Company”) is an investment entity listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (“JSE”) and the Rwanda 
Stock Exchange (“RSE”).

The Company’s Annual Financial Statements have been prepared for the year ended 28 February 2021.

2. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company seeks to generate returns for its shareholders through various investments in the healthcare sector and financial 
services. The Company is involved in making equity, quasi-equity, and equity-related investments in healthcare and financial 
services, specifically in operational infrastructure, health insurance, private hospital infrastructure, pharmaceuticals, retail and 
distribution. The Company executes on its investment mandate primarily through two wholly- owned subsidiaries, RH Bophelo 
Operating Company Proprietary Limited (“RHBO”) and RH Financial Services Proprietary Limited (“RHFS”). These subsidiaries are 
utilised to acquire various investments on behalf of the Company.

3. FINANCIAL RESULTS
The directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company produces a set of Annual Financial Statements which fairly present the state 
of affairs of the Company at the end of each financial year and the profit or loss for the year, in accordance with IFRS, the Companies Act, 
and the interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board, the Financial Reporting Pronouncements (as issued by 
the Financial Reporting Standards Council), the RSE Listings Requirements and the JSE Listings Requirements.

For the financial period ending 28 February 2021, the Company recorded total comprehensive income of R131 217 214 (2020: 
R69 988 958). Full details of the financial position and financial performance of the Company are contained in the detailed Annual 
Financial Statements.

4. DIVIDENDS
The board approved and declared a final gross dividend of 15 ZAR cents per “A” ordinary share from income reserves for the year 
ended 28 February 2021 (2020: 0 ZAR cents per share).

THE YEAR TO FEBRUARY 2021 WAS EXTREMELY CHALLENGING FOR THE WORLD AT LARGE 
AND THE HEALTHCARE SECTOR IN PARTICULAR.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

5. DIRECTORS’ FEES AND REMUNERATION
The directors’ emoluments and earnings have been disclosed under note 20.

6. DIRECTORATE
During the period covered by this report, the directors of the Company were: 

• Dr Solomon Motuba Independent, Non-Executive
• Dr Kgaugelo Ntshwana:Independent, Non-Executive
• Refiloe Nkadimeng: Independent, Non-Executive (Resigned - 8 March 2021) 
• Dinao Lerutla: Independent, Non-Executive
• Bojane Segooa: Non-Independent Non-Executive
• John Oliphant: Non-Independent Non-Executive Director (Chairman)
• Dr David Sekete: Non-Independent Non-Executive
• Quinton Zunga: Executive
• Dion Mhlaba: Executive
• Vuyokazi Nomvalo: Executive
• Colin Clarke: Executive
  

7. GOING CONCERN
The Annual Financial Statements are prepared on the going concern basis, as the directors are of the view that the Company has 
adequate financial resources to continue for the foreseeable future, based on cash flow forecasts and available cash resources. As at 
year end the Company had a positive net asset value of R864 076 058 (2020: R646 608 844) and a positive net current asset position 
of R39 668 699 (2020: R123 476 138). In addition to its normal assessments regarding the Company’s going concern, the Company 
undertook additional assessments relating to the impact of the ongoing Covid- 19 pandemic in the short and medium term.

8. STATED CAPITAL
The Company’s authorised stated capital is 10 000 000 000 “A” no par value ordinary shares with voting rights. (2020: 10 000 000 
000 “A” no par value ordinary shares with voting rights).

The Company also has 1 “B” restrictive class of shares with voting rights. (2020: 1 “B” restrictive class of shares with voting rights).

During the period, the Company issued 8 765 244 “A” ordinary shares at a market average price of R9,84 per share (2020: 4 684 
179 shares at an average price of R9,93 per share).

The total number of ordinary shares in issue as at 28 February 2021 is 64 691 298 (2020: 55 934 179).

9. MATERIAL EVENTS 
Investments

During the year, the Company increased its investments in unlisted equity investments. The amount allocated to investments for the 
current year was R161,4 million (2020: R272,9 million).

The amounts were allocated as follows:
• Investment in RH Bophelo Financial Services Proprietary Limited (RHFS) – R52,5 million; and
• Investment in RH Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary Limited (RHBO) – R108,9 million.

The investments were deployed to facilitate the following transactions:

New acquisitions made by RHFS:
• Acquisition of 25% in Genric Insurance for R52,5 million split between an equity injection of R45 million and shareholder loan of 

R7,5 million
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Additional investments made by RHBO:

• Acquisition of an additional 70% in Rondebosch Medical Centre for R93,75 million split between a cash consideration of  
R15 million and issue of RHB shares for R78,7 million.

• Capital contribution for R2,5 million to Magnacorp Proprietary Limited (“Medicare Private Hospital”) for the expansion of the property.
• In addition, shareholder loans of R7,4 million were advanced to Vryburg Holdings Proprietary Limited (“Vryburg Private Hospital”) 

as part of a board approved Covid relief. An amount of R4,5 million was advanced to Fauchard Tandheelkundige Sentrum 
Proprietary Limited (“Fauchard Hospital”) for refurbishment of its property.

Dual listing

On 1 June 2020, the Company concluded its secondary listing on the Rwanda Stock Exchange (“RSE”) by way of an introduction 
(“RSE Listing”). The Company’s primary listing and exchange will remain as the Johannesburg Stock Exchange with the RSE Listing 
being a secondary listing (“Secondary Listing”). The purpose of the RSE Listing is to enable the Company’s “A” Ordinary Shares 
(“Shares”) to be available to the wider East African investor public, in order to further diversify the Company’s investor base and 
provide an easy and efficient way for the Company’s stakeholders and partners in the region to participate beneficially in the growth 
and fortunes of the Company through direct ownership.

COVID-19 Impact

The year ending February 2021 was unprecedented as the COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent lockdowns led to a rapid slowdown 
in global economic growth. In South Africa, the pandemic and resultant domestic lockdowns had a severe impact on economic 
activity that led to a decline in the country’s Gross Domestic Product (GDP). As such, the Directors have undertaken an assessment 
of COVID -19 on the following key areas:

• Effect on valuation of investments;
• Effects on going concern status;
• Effect on funding and deal pipeline; and
• Effects on operations.

10.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
On 31 May 2021, the board approved and declared a final gross dividend of 15 ZAR cents per “A” ordinary share from income 
reserves for the year ended 28 February 2021 (2020: No dividends declared).

Changes in Investments

The Company acquired additional 5% of equity investment in Genric Insurance Company Limited for R9 million.

The Company’s interest in RH 12J Limited was sold for R2,1 million, as the 12J tax incentive scheme for Venture Capital Companies 
had been discontinued in South Africa.

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2021  |  INVESTING IN HEALTH FOR WEALTH 81



STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 28 FEBRUARY 2021

2021 2020

Note R R

ASSETS
Non-Current Assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4.1 842 778 946 509 735 040

Loans to group companies 4.2 38 453 570 35 945 632

Property, plant and equipment 4 041 260 –

885 273 776 545 680 672

Current Assets

Loans to group companies 4.2 5 365 502 4 307 909

Other receivables 322 507 1 120 555

Current tax receivable 19 562 –

Cash and cash equivalents 34 699 084 120 069 140

40 406 655 125 497 604

Total Assets 925 680 431 671 178 276

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity

Stated capital 633 589 672 547 339 672

Retained income 230 486 386 99 269 172

864 076 058 646 608 844

LIABILITIES
Non-Current Liabilities

Lease liabilities 3 017 866 –

Deferred tax 57 848 552 22 547 966

60 866 418 22 547 966

Current Liabilities

Other payables 116 063 1 582 078

Current tax payable – 439 388

Lease liabilities 621 892 –

737 955 2 021 466

Total Liabilities 61 604 373 24 569 432

Total Equity and Liabilities 925 680 431 671 178 276
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2021 2020

Note R R

Investment income

Interest income 7 020 713 21 526 749

Interest expense – (203 859)

Dividend income 7 336 107 –

Gains from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4.3 174 477 925 84 063 771

Total investment income 188 834 745 105 386 661

Other income 430 411 1 984 110

Expenses

Professional services fees (9 207 269) (7 911 712)

Management fees (6 904 402) (3 374 698)

Other operating expenses (6 635 685) (5 625 632)

4.4 (22 747 356) (16 912 042)

Total income before tax 166 517 800 90 458 729

Income tax (35 300 586) (20 469 771)

Total income after tax 131 217 214 69 988 958

Other comprehensive income – –

Total comprehensive income 131 217 214 69 988 958

Earnings and diluted earnings per share (R) 2.18 1.31
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Total stated 
capital 

R

Retained 
income 

R

Total  
equity 

R

Balance at 1 March 2019 500 839 672 29 280 214 530 119 886

Total comprehensive income for the year – profit – 69 988 958 69 988 958

Shares issued 46 500 000 – 46 500 000

Balance at 1 March 2020 547 339 672 99 269 172 646 608 844

Total comprehensive income for the year - profit – 131 217 214 131 217 214

Shares issued 86 250 000 – 86 250 000

Balance at 28 February 2021 633 589 672 230 486 386 864 076 058

Notes
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Notes

Feb-21

R

Feb-20

R

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash (used in)/generated from operations 4.5 (10 929 279) 5 471 338

Income tax paid (807 122) (867 882)

Net cash generated/(utilised) from operating activities (11 736 401) 4 603 456

Cash flows from investing activities

Increase in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4.1 (75 214 343) (226 421 515)

Decrease in loans to group companies 4.2 1 866 862 2 338 541

Increase in loans to group companies 4.2 – (34 000 000)

Net cash utilised in investing activities (73 347 481) (258 082 974)

Cash flows from financing activities

Capital repayment on lease liabilities (286 174) –

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (85 370 056) (253 479 518)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 120 069 140 373 548 658

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 34 699 084 120 069 140

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATION
  The summary abridged financial results have been prepared by applying the investment entity exemption in accordance with 

the investment company framework concepts using the investment entity exemption and the measurement and recognition 
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and interpretations of IFRS, as issued by the International 
Accounting Standard Board, Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards. The 
Financial Pronouncements as issued by Financial Reporting Standards Council, the JSE Limited Listings Requirements, 
Rwanda Stock Exchange Listings Requirements and the requirements of the South African Companies Act 71 of 2008, and the 
presentation and disclosure requirements of IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.

  The financial results have been prepared on the historical cost basis except that financial assets at fair value, through profit 
or loss, are stated at their fair value. The results are presented in Rand, which is the Company’s functional and presentation 
currency and are consistent with prior years unless otherwise stated.

 The accounting policies applied are in terms of IFRS and are consistent with those of the underlying financial statements.

2.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
  The preparation of the Annual Financial Statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any 
future periods affected.

  In particular, information about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the Annual Financial Statements includes the 
determination of fair value for assets that are carried at fair value through profit or loss.

2.1 Investment entities

  The Company, its subsidiaries and indirectly held associates – RH Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary Limited 
(“RHBO”) and RH Bophelo Financial Services Proprietary Limited (“RHFS”) are classified as investment entities in line with 
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements.

  According to IFRS 10, RH Bophelo as an investment entity measures its investments in subsidiaries and its indirectly held 
associates at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9.

  After conducting an assessment of the Company’s activities and business purpose, the Board of Directors have concluded 
that the Company meets the definition of an investment entity as per IFRS 10 based on the following factors:
•  The Company and its subsidiaries obtained funds from more than one investor with the purpose of providing those 

investors with investment management services;
•  The Company and its subsidiaries also committed to its investors that its business purpose is to invest in commercially 

viable healthcare and financial services assets that are cashflow positive or will be cashflow positive within 12 months; and
• The Company and its subsidiaries measure and evaluates the performance of all its investments on a fair value basis.

  Furthermore, the Company, its subsidiaries and its indirectly held associates has more than one investment; the Company 
also has more than one investor and its investors are not related parties, additionally our interest is mainly in equity form in 
all our investments. The Company’s approved Investment Policy, documents the Company’s exit strategy which outlines 
the Company’s approach to managing its investments.

  The Company has set up RHBO and RHFS as separate legal entities in line with the business model for managing 
healthcare and financial services as discrete business segments. RHBO and RHFS also committed to investors that the 
business purpose is to invest in commercially viable healthcare and financial assets that are cashflow positive or will be 
cashflow positive within 12 months. The two subsidiaries measure and evaluate the performance of all investments on a 
fair value basis.

  Based on the above assessment, it was concluded that the Company and its subsidiaries (RHBO and RHFS) are 
investment entities and are therefore exempt from consolidation in line with paragraph 31 of IFRS 10. The underlying 
investments in subsidiaries held by the Company are accounted for as financial assets measured at fair value through 
profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9. Additionally, as RHBO and RHFS are investment entities in their own capacity that 
have been structured separately in order to distinguish between the healthcare and the financial services portfolio, they are 
accounted for at fair value through profit or loss.

  The Company received its investment management services from RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited 
(“RHBM”), an entity that is not controlled by the Company. The investment management company is an autonomous entity, 
that is not influenced or controlled by RH Bophelo, as RH Bophelo has no shareholding or managerial involvement in 
RHBM. RHBM is able to provide investment management services and to raise capital for parties other than RH Bophelo. 
As a result, even though RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited provides management services to the 
Company, it is not a service subsidiary in terms of IFRS 10 and is therefore not consolidated.

NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

86 INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2021  |  INVESTING IN HEALTH FOR WEALTH



2.2 Loans to group companies

 When advancing and valuing loans to group companies, the Company considers the following factors:

• The purpose of the loan including the growth and expansion opportunities identified by the investee companies;
• The capacity of the investee companies to service the loans;
• Term of the loan; and
• Market interest rate for purposes of valuing the loans.

 
Such factors are also considered in the classification of the loans to group companies as financial assets at amortised cost or 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
3.   NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS

 The following accounting standards, interpretations and amendments became effective during the current year.

  Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 
On 26 September 2019, the IASB issued ‘Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7).

 As a first reaction to the potential effects the IBOR reform could have on financial reporting.

 Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 
  On 31 October 2018, the IASB issued ‘Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8)’ to clarify the definition of 

‘material’ and to align the definition used in the Conceptual Framework and the standards themselves.

 Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 
  Amendments: Provide relief from the potential effects on hedge accounting due to the uncertainties caused by interest rate 

benchmark reform (the phasing out of interest-rate benchmarks such as the interbank offered rates (IBOR)).

4. NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4.1 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Feb-21 
R

Feb-20 
R

Opening balance 515 503 218 157 896 791

Additions – acquired in shares 86 250 001 46 500 000

Additions – acquired in cash 75 214 343 226 421 515

Fair value gains* 171 579 562 84 684 912
848 547 124 515 503 218

Day 1 gains deferred (5 768 178) (5 768 178)
842 778 946 509 735 040

  The Company’s investments are unlisted equity made in entities that are operating in South Africa. The investments are 
measured at fair value through profit or loss. The investments under RHBO and RH 12J have been designated into healthcare 
investments portfolio and investments under RHFS have been designated into financial services investments portfolio.

  *  Loans provided to the investee companies are regarded as transactions between equity participants and the resultant Day 1 gains and losses; are 
presented as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the investments.

NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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4. NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.1 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

 Investments in unlisted equity instruments – reconciliation

2021
Opening 
balance Additions

Fair value 
changes Total Day 1 gains

Closing  
balance

RHFS 3 746 257 52 500 001 8 852 000 65 098 257 – 65 098 258

RHBO 509 542 516 108 964 343 162 727 562 781 234 421 (5 768 178) 775 466 243

RH 12J 2 214 445 – – 2 214 445 – 2 214 445

515 503 218 161 464 344 171 579 562 848 547 123 (5 768 178) 842 778 946

2020
Opening 
balance Additions*

Fair value 
changes** Total Day 1 gains

Closing  
balance

RHFS – 3 650 000 96 257 3 746 257 – 3 746 257

RHBO 157 896 791 266 771 515 84 874 210 509 542 516 (5 768 178) 503 774 338

RH 12J – 2 500 000 (285 555) 2 214 445 – 2 214 445

157 896 791 272 921 515 84 684 912 515 503 218 (5 768 178) 509 735 040

The valuation of the investments in unlisted equities relies on various unobservable inputs that are sensitive to changes that 
would affect the recognised value of the investments in the Annual Financial Statements. To aid stakeholders understand the 
significant unobservable inputs that influence the valuation process, the Company has identified the key inputs used in the 
valuations. A sensitivity analysis on this input has been prepared and disclosed in order to illustrate the potential impact of 
the changes to this input on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The valuation of investments and resultant 
sensitivity analysis include COVID-19 impact.  

 
The ranges (and absolute values) used for the key unobservable inputs are as follows:

Input
Range used 

(2021)
Range used 

(2020)

Capitalisation rate 10% to 12% 10% to 12%

TGR (Terminal Growth rate) 3,3% to 4,4% 5,1%

WACC (Weighted Average Cost of Capital) 17,20% to 21,05% 16,9% to 22,2%

EBITDA (Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation 
and amortisation)* 13% 8%

Market interest rate 7% to 8% 9,75% to 10,75%

  *  The disclosures relating to EBITDA are based on a seven-year compounded annual growth rate and have been provided as part of the enhanced 
reporting on the sensitivity analysis for investments.

NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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4. NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.1 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

 Investments in unlisted equity instruments – reconciliation 

 Explanation of key valuation inputs and possible impact of changes in inputs:

Significant unobservable input
Current unit of 
measurement Favourable changes Unfavourable changes

Capitalisation rate # 10% – 12% Increase by 25 basis points, will 
result in decrease in the value of 
investments at year-end.

Increase by 25 basis points, will 
result in decrease in the value of 
investments at year-end.

Terminal Growth rate 3,3% to 4,4% Increase by 25 basis points, will 
result in increase in the value of 
investments at year-end.

Decrease by 25 basis points, will 
result in decrease in the value of 
investments at year-end.

WACC (range) 17,20 to 
21,05%

Decrease by 25 basis points, will 
result in increase in the value of 
investment at year-end.

Increase by 25 basis points, will 
result in decrease in the value of 
investments at year-end.

EBITDA (Using the seven-year 
compounded annual growth rate  
on EBITDA)

13% Increase by 250 basis points, will 
result in an increase in the value 
of investments at year-end.

Decrease by 250 basis points, will 
result in a decrease in the value of 
investment at year-end.

Market interest rate (Prime + 1%) 
(for loans to group companies

7% to 8% Decrease by 25 basis points, 
will result in increase in the loan 
balance at year-end.

Increase by 25 basis points, will 
result in decrease in the loan 
balance at year-end

  The sensitivity analysis relating to the terminal growth rate was applied on the combined terminal value for all investments of 
R401 272 788 (prior year: R209 517 476).

  The Company does not expect the unobservable inputs to fluctuate by more than 25 basis points on the capitalisation rate, 
terminal growth rate, weighted average cost of capital and market interest rates and 250 basis points on earnings before 
interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation was deemed as an appropriate measurement for the sensitivity analysis on 
investments.

 # The capitalisation rate is used in the valuation of properties acquired as part of investments.

Sensitivity analysis – investments in unlisted equities
  The table below reflects the effect of changes in significant unobservable inputs that affect the valuation of the Company’s 

financial assets. As the investments are held at fair value through profit or loss, the changes – if materialised – would be 
reflected in the statement of profit or loss.

2021 2020

Significant unobservable input
Favourable 
changes (+)

Unfavourable 
changes (-)

Favourable 
changes (+)

Unfavourable 
changes (-)

Capitalisation rate 30 340 065 (30 188 743) 11 854 303 (11 327 445)

Terminal growth rate 9 507 319 (5 156 411) 4 519 454 (4 023 933)

WACC 16 818 024 (12 102 919) 8 213 262 (7 573 753)

EBITDA 19 738 150 (15 612 578) 12 512 709 (12 189 157)

Total 76 403 558 (63 060 651) 37 099 728 (35 114 288)

Current fair value as at year end 842 778 945 842 778 945 509 735 040 509 735 040

Fair value after accounting for total effect 
of changes in inputs 919 182 503 779 718 294 546 834 768 474 620 752

NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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4. NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.1 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Summary of significant investments

2021

Entity Description
Economic 

interest
Fair value  

at year-end (R) WACC
Proportion of  

total investment

Investments in subsidiaries*

Africa  
Healthcare

Operates and 
owns hospitals 
and manufactures 
healthcare clothing 100% 224 517 546 17,2% 44%

Medicare Hospital Hospital services and 
investment property 51% 120 282 740 16,9% 24%

RH Bell Clinic Hospital services and 
investment property 100% 39 088 060 19,0% 8%

RH Fauchard Hospital Hospital services and 
investment property 100% 28 452 081 20,2% 6%

Vryburg Private Hospital Hospital services and 
investment property 81% 26 545 792 17,2% 5%

Investments in indirectly held associates*

Rondebosch Medical 
Centre Hospital services 30% 46 130 735 18,3% 9%

*  Each of the investments listed here represents at least 3% of the total value of the investments at fair value through profit or loss. The DCF 
method was used to value all investments using a terminal growth rate of 3.3% to 4.4%.

4.2 Loans to group companies

R 2021 2020

Opening balance 40 253 541 2 338 541

Additions – 34 000 000

Day 1 gains – 5 768 178

Capital repayments (4 705 424) (2 338 541)

Interest accrued 5 372 592 1 106 504

Fair value adjustment 2 898 363 (621 141)

43 819 072 40 253 541

Classification

Current assets 5 365 502 4 307 909

Non-current assets 38 453 570 35 945 632

43 819 072 40 253 541

In determining the Day 1 gains or losses and the fair value adjustments; the Company discounts all expected cash flows at the market-related rate 
to determine the fair value of each loan. In cases where there is a difference between the actual loan advanced (transaction price) and present value 
of the cash flows discounted at the market rate (fair value); a Day 1 gain or loss is recognised.
At the end of the financial period, remaining cash flows are discounted at the prevailing market rate of prime +1%. The difference between the present 
value of the remaining cash flows (discounted at the market rate) and the cumulative balance on the loan accounts, is a fair value adjustment for the 
period.
The classification between current and non-current assets is based on the expected date of settlement. Any amounts due within 12 months which 
are made up of any capital and interest are classified as current; the remainder is classified as non-current.

NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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4. NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.2 Loans to group companies (continued)

Sensitivity analysis
 Explanation of key valuation inputs and possible impact of changes in inputs:

  The Company has a Financial Assistance Policy that governs the provision of financial assistance to group companies. A key input – 
the interest charged on the financial assistance – is dependent on the profile of each entity and is regarded as an unobservable input. 
This input is central to the valuation of the loans provided to group companies. As a result, any change to this and other unobservable 
input would affect the recognised value of the loans in the Annual Financial Statements. To aid stakeholders understand the possible 
impact of the change in significant inputs that influence the valuation process for the loans to group companies, the Company has 
prepared a sensitivity analysis based on changes – both favourable and unfavourable – to the inputs.

  The table below reflects the potential effect of changes in significant unobservable inputs that affect the valuation of the 
Company’s loans. As the loans are held at fair value through profit or loss; the changes – if they materialised – would be 
reflected in the statement of profit or loss.

R 2021 2020

Significant unobservable input
Favourable 

changes
Unfavourable 

changes (-)
Favourable 
changes (+)

Unfavourable 
changes (-)

Market interest rate (prime + 1%) 314 784 (317 469) 337 170 (347 280)

Current fair value as at year end 43 819 072 43 819 072 40 253 541 40 253 541

Fair value after accounting for total effect 
of changes in inputs 44 133 856 43 501 603 40 590 711 39 906 261

4.3 Gains from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

R 2021 2020

Fair value adjustment of investments in subsidiaries 171 579 562 84 684 912

Fair value adjustment of loans to group companies 2 898 363 (621 141)

174 477 925 84 063 771

4.4 Expenses

R 2021 2020

Other operating expenses included the following

Marketing and advertising (569 796) (1 375 278)

Depreciation – Property, plant & equipment (48 887) -

Depreciation – Right-of-use Asset (318 067) -

Listing fees (338 757) (343 888)

Management fees (6 904 402) (3 374 698)

Remuneration for non-executive directors (1 178 467) (830 607)

Office rent* (248 312) (453 179)

Employment costs (77 574) -

Due diligence expenses (371 572) (3 657 641)

Financial reporting and audit fees (6 461 477) (1 268 741)

Professional services (1 144 604) (2 985 330)

Secretarial fees (1 142 555) (854 653)

Write off of non-financial assets (111 978) (41 358)

Interest expense: lease liabilities (109 126) -

Enterprise and supplier development expenses (2 430 438) -
* Relates to short-term lease office rent expense per IFRS 16.53 (c) exemption.
**  Enterprise and supplier development expenses mainly consist of a donation of R2 118 043 to RH Foundation NPC which is a related party. 

The relationship is mainly through the cross directorship of Vuyokazi Nomvalo in both RH Bophelo and RH Foundation NPC.
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4. NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.5 Cash (used in)/generated from operations

R 2021 2020

Total income before taxation 166 517 800 90 458 729

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 366 954 –

Gains from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (174 477 925) (84 063 771)

Lease liability interest 109 126 –

Interest accrued on loans to group companies (2 893 723) (1 106 504)

Write off of non-financial assets 111 978 –

Changes in working capital:

Other receivables 802 522 312 181

Other payables (1 466 011) (129 297)

(10 929 279) 5 471 338

4.6 Segment reporting
  The Company’s Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) – the Executive Committee – makes strategic resource allocations 

on behalf of the Company. The Company has identified operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed 
by the executive committee and used to inform decision-making. The executive committee regards the business as consisting 
of two segments – the healthcare segment and the financial services segment. The geography of the two segments is South 
Africa. The two segments are measured on the basis of the investment income and capital appreciation. The investment income 
comprises of gains or losses in the fair value of underlying investments in indirectly held associates and subsidiaries, plus any 
interest income.

 The segment information provided to the CODM for the year ended 28 February 2021 is as follows:
2021 segment information

Reconciliation

Healthcare  
segment 

R

Financial  
services segment 

R
Total 

R

Gains from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 172 170 904 2 307 021 174 477 925

Interest income 5 372 592 – 5 372 592

Dividend income – 7 336 107 7 336 107

Segment investment income 177 543 496 9 643 128 187 186 624

Segment other income 371 240 20 700 391 940

Segment income 177 914 736 9 663 828 187 578 564

Segment expenses (371 572) – (371 572)

Total segment net income 177 543 164 9 663 828 187 206 992

Segment assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 775 466 243 65 098 257 840 564 500

Loans to group companies 43 819 072 – 43 819 072

Total segment assets 819 285 315 65 098 257 884 383 572
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4. NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.6 Segment reporting (continued)

2020 segment information

Reconciliation

Healthcare  
segment 

R

Financial  
services segment 

R
Total 

R

Gains from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 84 253 069 96 257 84 349 326

Interest income 2 234 997 – 2 234 997

Segment investment income 86 488 066 96 257 86 584 323

Segment other income 1 712 897 – 1 712 897

Segment income 88 200 963 96 257 88 297 220

Segment expenses (3 484 641) (173 000) (3 657 641)

Total segment net income 84 716 322 (76 743) 84 639 579

Segment assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 503 774 338 3 746 257 507 520 595

Loans to group companies 40 253 541 – 40 253 541

Total segment assets 544 027 879 3 746 257 547 774 136

Segment investment income is reconciled to total income before tax as follows:

2021 2020

Segment investment income 187 186 623 86 584 323

Non-segment investment income 
Interest income 1 648 122 19 087 893

Losses from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - (285 555)

Total investment income 188 834 745 105 386 661

Segment other income 391 940 1 712 897

Non-segment other income 38 471 271 213
Total income 189 265 157 107 370 771

Segment expenses (371 572) (3 657 641)

Non-segment expenses (22 375 785) (13 254 401)

Total Expenses (22 747 357) (16 912 042)
Total income before tax 166 517 800 90 458 729

Total reportable segment assets are reconciled to total assets as follows:

2021 2020

Segment assets for reportable segments 884 383 571 547 774 136

Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 214 446 2 214 445

Other non-current assets 4 041 260 –

Other current assets 35 041 154 121 189 695

Total assets 925 680 431 671 178 276

Total liabilities 61 604 373 24 569 432
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4. NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.7 a. Basic earnings per share
  The calculation of basic earnings per ordinary share is based on earnings of R131 217 214 (2020: R69 988 958) and a weighted 

average number of shares in issue of 60 316 801 (2020: 53 592 090). The basic earnings per share is 218 cents (2020: 131 cents).

4.7 b. Headline and diluted headline earnings per share
  The calculation of headline and diluted headline earnings per ordinary share is based on headline earnings of R131 217 214 (2020: 

R69 988 958) and a weighted average number of shares in issue of 60 316 801 (2020: 53 592 090). The headlines and diluted 
headline earnings per share is 218 cents (2020: 131 cents).

4.8 Commitments and financial support
  The Company provides financial support to investee companies in line with its policy on financial assistance. During the 2021 

financial period, the financial support was provided in the form of equity injections and guarantees.

  There no restrictions on the loans. In line with the Company and group policy on loans to group companies, section 45 of the 
Companies Act is applied for each form of financial assistance approved within the group and between group companies. Currently 
the Company has no commitment to provide any of its subsidiaries with financial assistance, nor commitment to assist their 
subsidiaries to obtaining financial support. The Company has no contractual obligation to provide financial support to its subsidiaries.

 The Company provided financial assistance to its unconsolidated subsidiaries through equity, loans and guarantees.

• There no restrictions on the loans.
• In line with the Company and group policy on loans to group companies, section 45 of the Companies Act is applied for each 

form of financial assistance approved within the group and between group companies.
• Currently the Company has no commitment to provide any of its subsidiaries with financial assistance, nor commitment to 

assist their subsidiaries to obtaining financial support.
• The Company has no contractual obligation to provide financial support to its subsidiaries.

 A summary of transactions for financial support are as follows:

2021

Name of subsidiary Nature of financial support Purpose for financial assistance

Equity  
R

Loan  
R

RH Financial Services Proprietary Limited 52 500 000 – Expansion

RH Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary Limited 108 964 343 – Expansion

Note 7 6

The Company had no outstanding loan commitments to investee companies in the current period and prior period. The financial 
support is in the form of equity and therefore no restrictions exist.

 4.9 Directors’ remuneration
 Remuneration paid to the Directors during the current period ended 28 February 2021 was as follows:

Remuneration* For services as a director Remuneration* Total
Quinton Zunga* – 2 000 000 2 000 000
Vuyokazi Nomvalo* – 1 293 864 1 293 864
Dion Mhlaba* – 1 800 000 1 800 000
Colin Clarke* – 1 620 000 1 620 000
John Oliphant 130 000 – 130 000
Dr Solomon Motuba 180 000 – 180 000
Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana 160 000 – 160 000
Dr David Sekete 149 500 – 149 500
Refiloe Nkadimeng 140 000 – 140 000
Dinao Lerutla 207 000 – 207 000
Bojane Segooa 120 000 – 120 000
Fulu Makwetla** 90 000 – 90 000

1 176 500 6 713 864 7 890 364
*  The Executive Directors are remunerated by RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary Limited, remuneration for Executive Directors is 

made up of salaries that are short-term employee benefits. The directors have normal employment contract terms.
** Fulu Makwetla is the Prescribed Officer, a member of the Investment Committee and director in RH Bophelo Management Company.
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4. NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.9 Directors’ remuneration (continued) 
Remuneration was paid to the Directors during the 29 February 2020 period as follow:

Remuneration
For services as a 

director Remuneration* Total

Quinton Zunga – 1 600 000 1 600 000

Vuyokazi Nomvalo – 960 000 960 000

Peter Mehlape – 1 239 000 1 239 000

Dion Mhlaba – 1 239 000 1 239 000

John Oliphant 110 000 – 110 000

Dr Solomon Motuba 170 420 – 170 420

Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana 170 187 – 170 187

Dr David Sekete 140 000 – 140 000

Londeka Shezi 14 000 – 14 000

Colin Clarke 30 000 – 30 000

Refiloe Nkadimeng 40 000 – 40 000

Dinao Lerutha 106 000 – 106 000

Bojane Segooa 50 000 – 50 000

830 607 5 038 000 5 868 607

4.10 Director’s interest or shareholding
 The direct and indirect interests of the Directors and their associates in the share capital of the Company are set out below:

2021

Director Direct Indirect Total Percentage held

Quinton Zunga1 1 600 1 500 000 1 501 600 2.3%

Dion Mhlaba 17 437 – 17 437 0%

Vukokazi Nomvalo 4 000 – 4 000 0%

Colin Clarke2 – 3 584 3 584 0%

John Oliphant3 12 200 1 039 270 1 051 470 1.6%

Dr David Sekete – 200 000 200 000 0.3%

Refilwe Nkadimeng 3 000 – 3 000 0%

Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana 3 000 – 3 000 0%

41 237 2 742 854 2 784 091 4.29%

 ¹ Held through a company controlled by Q Zunga, being RQ Capital Proprietary Limited. 
 ² Held through an associate Mrs Angela Clarke 
 ³ Held through a company controlled by JR Oliphant, being Third Way Investment Group Proprietary Limited. 

 Dealings by directors after financial year end:

 a) Q Zunga purchased 1500 RH Bophelo shares at R5.99 per share on 1 June 2021.

 b) D Mhlaba purchased 9916 RH Bophelo shares at R6.00 per share on 01 June 2021.

2020

Director Direct Indirect Total Percentage held

Quinton Zunga 1 500 1 500 000 1 501 500 2.6%

Dion Mhlaba 3 366 - 3 366 0%

Colin Clarke - 3 584 3 584 0%

John Oliphant 12 200 1 020 300 1 032 500 1.8%

Dr David Sekete - 200 000 200 000 0.3%

Refilwe Nkadimeng 3 000 - 3 000 0%

20 066 2 723 884 2 743 950 4.7%
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4. NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.11 Major Shareholders
  Those Shareholders who, insofar as is known to the Company, directly or indirectly, beneficially hold significant shareholding of 3% 

or more of the issued share capital of the Company are set out below:

2021

Shareholder Number of shares held Percentage held

Public Investment Corporation 43 394 382 67%

Perthpark Properties 7 994 924 12%

Sentio Capital Management 3 121 803 5%

Dr Mandisa Joyce Gwendoline 1 816 470 3%

56 327 579 87%

 
2020

Shareholder Number of shares held Percentage held

Public Investment Corporation 40 643 832 73%

Sentio Capital Management 3 013 100 5%

Dr Mandisa Joyce Gwendoline 1 816 470 3%

Mr Stephanus Philipus Vanhuyssteen 1 566 338 3%

RQ Capital Partners 1 500 000 3%

48 539 740 87%

 
4.12 Shareholding spread 
Shareholder analysis per JSELR 3.43 of public and non-public shareholders: 
 
2021

Shareholder
Number of 

Shareholders

Number of ‘A’ 
Ordinary  

Shares held % Holding

Public shareholders 344 13 101 992  20%

Non-public shareholders (Directors)* 9 51 589 306 80%

353 64 691 298 100%

2020

Shareholder
Number of 

Shareholders

Number of ‘A’ 
Ordinary  

Shares held % Holding

Public shareholders 156 9 480 075  16,95%

Non-public shareholders (Directors) 9 46 454 104 83,05%

165 55 934 179 100%

*in the current year, 5% of the shares that were classified as public shares were reclassified as non-public shares.
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4.13 Going concern
The Board has undertaken a detailed review of the going concern capability of the Company with reference to certain assumptions 
and plans underlying various internal cash flow forecasts.

 The Board has not identified any events or conditions that individually or collectively cast significant doubt on the ability of the 
Company to continue as a going concern. To this end, the going concern assumption has been determined to be the appropriate 
basis for financial reporting as at 28 February 2021.

4.14 Significant events affecting the current year report
The year ended 2021 was unprecedented as the COVID-19 pandemic, and subsequent lockdowns led to a rapid slowdown in global 
economic growth. In South Africa, the pandemic and resultant domestic lockdowns severely impacted economic activity, leading to a 
decline in the country’s GDP.

EFFECT ON VALUATION OF INVESTMENTS

The Company’s business model is premised on investing in various companies within the healthcare and financial services value 
chain. In line with IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company has been classified as an investment entity that 
measures its investments at fair value through profit or loss. The measurements of the investments at fair value on a continuous 
basis require various internal and external inputs that are collectively considered to determine the value of each underlying 
investment.

Over the past year, as the effects of COVID-19 have caused material fluctuations in various internal and external inputs relating to 
the valuation process, the Company’s Investment Committee has carefully considered the effects of the changes; assessed the 
relevance to the valuation process; and made adjustments when deemed appropriate.

The key valuation inputs that have been materially affected by the onset of the pandemic and the various Fiscal and Monetary Policy 
responses, and which are deemed relevant to the valuation process, include the following:

•  Change in interest rates to historic lows – this has an impact on the valuation of the loans to group companies, the weighted 
average cost of capital and the value of properties which are all computed with reference to prevailing market interest rates.

•  Implementation of the State of Disaster Management Act which significantly affects footfall and facilities usage across all 
business and specifically the healthcare and financial services sector.

•  Classification of the healthcare sector as an essential service during periods of hard lockdowns – this affects the projections 
relating to the growth rates of each underlying investment.

•  Recommendations by the International Accounting Standards Board relating to the treatment of rent concessions for the 
purposes of applying IFRS 16 Leases – this affects the valuation of the finance lease liabilities and the right-of-use assets.

 
EFFECTS ON GOING CONCERN STATUS

As the Company and its subsidiaries in healthcare operate in a sector classified under essential services, the impact of the pandemic 
on operations was muted. Facilities remained open through all levels of lockdowns, and utilisation rates remained steady. In 
assessing the Company’s going concern status, the Board of Directors and the Audit and Risk Committee deliberated on the various 
scenarios relating to the pandemic. In the most optimistic scenario – where the national vaccination programme starts in the second 
quarter and gradually escalates during the year, the Company expects the performance of underlying entities to benefit from the 
vaccination programme through the use of facilities as rollout sites.

In the alternative scenario – where a vaccination programme is delayed, and the third wave of the virus materialises – particularly 
during the winter months – the Company expects that its underlying businesses will remain classified as essential services, and 
hence the impact on operations will be muted as seen during the hard lockdowns of last year.

EFFECTS ON FUNDING AND DEAL PIPELINE

The impact of COVID-19 has had a minimal effect on the Company’s deal and funding pipeline. The Investment Committee is 
continuously exploring investment opportunities in the healthcare and related sectors and believes that it has sufficient access to 
capital to participate in any transactions that may materialise and meet the stringent criteria set by the Investment Committee and 
the Board of Directors.

EFFECTS ON OPERATIONS

During the hard lockdowns, the Company had to adapt its operations in order to minimise the disruption of operations. A Work-From-
Home Policy was activated that enabled business continuity through all the various lockdown levels. This required the Company to 
accelerate its investment in technological resources that enabled employees to optimally function from the comfort of their homes 
or shared spaces that were regarded as compliant with healthcare protocols. It is expected that such practices will become more 
embedded in the Company’s way of doing things until the pandemic and its effects taper off, which we expect to see in the latter 
parts of the 2022 calendar year.
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4.15 Events after the reporting period

Dividends

On 31 May 2021 the board approved and declared a final gross dividend of 15 ZAR cents per “A” ordinary share from income 
reserves for the year ended 28 February 2021 (2020: 0 ZAR cents per share).

The dividend is subject to a South African dividend withholding tax (DWT) rate of 20%, unless the shareholder is exempt from 
paying dividends tax or is entitled to a reduced rate in terms of the applicable double-tax agreement. Accounting for DWT 
for non-exempt shareholders results in a net dividend of 12 ZAR cents (2020: 0 ZAR cents) per share. The number of issued 
ordinary shares is 64 699 423 at the date of this declaration. RHB’s income tax reference number is 9729/758/160.

The salient dates of the dividend declaration are:

Declaration date   Monday, 31 May 2021       
Last day to trade cum dividend  Tuesday, 20 July 2021       
Trading ex-dividend commences  Wednesday, 21 July 2021 
Record date     Friday, 23 July 2021      
Date of payment   Monday, 26 July 2021

As the dividend has been declared and denominated in Rand, it will be paid (in Rand) into the bank accounts of shareholders 
appearing on the Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited register.

Share certificates may not be dematerialised or rematerialised between Wednesday 21 July 2021 and Friday, 23 July 2021, 
both days inclusive.

Changes in investments

The Company acquired additional 5% in Genric Insurance for R9 million, which has increased the Company’s shareholding in 
Genric Insurance Limited to 30%. The acquisition was concluded on 30 April 2021.

Investment disposals

The Company disposed its interest in RH 12J Limited for R2,1 million, as the 12J tax incentive scheme for Venture Capital 
Company had been discontinued in South Africa.

Changes to board: Resignations

Refiloe Nkadimeng resigned as the Company’s Board member effectively from 8 March 2021.

Changes to the trading statement 

RH Bophelo has undertaken to adopt net asset value (“NAV”) per share as a trading statement measure to align with Section 
15 investment entities as per section 3.4. (b)(vi) of the JSE Listings Requirements. The adaptation will ensure ease of use for 
comparative benchmarking purposes. Previously the Company used EPS and HEPS as trading measures.
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Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders of RH Bophelo will be held entirely via a remote 
interactive platform ‘Microsoft Teams’ on Monday, 2 August 
2021 at 10h00 (the AGM), to conduct the business set out 
below and to consider and, if deemed fit, adopt, with or without 
modification, the ordinary and special resolutions set out in 
this notice. RH Bophelo will be assisted by Computershare 
Investor Services Proprietary Limited (the Company’s Transfer 
Secretaries) who will also act as scrutineers.

SALIENT DATES
The following dates apply to the Annual General Meeting:

The Record Date for purposes of determining which 
shareholders are entitled to receive this notice is Friday,  
11 June 2021.

The Last Day to Trade in order to be eligible to participate and 
vote at the Annual General Meeting is Tuesday, 20 July 2021.

The Record Date for shareholders to be recorded in the 
securities register of RH Bophelo in order to be able to attend, 
participate and vote at the Annual General Meeting is Friday,  
23 July 2021.

Last date for lodging Proxy Forms for administrative purposes 
is Thursday, 29 July 2021 at 10h00

If you are a registered shareholder as at the record date, you 
are entitled to attend the Virtual AGM and vote at the AGM. 
Alternatively, you may appoint a proxy to attend, participate and 
vote at the AGM on your behalf. Any appointment of a proxy:

• May be effected using the attached Form of Proxy, and
• Must be delivered in accordance with the instructions 

contained in the attached Form of Proxy, failing which it will 
not be effective.

 
Shareholders or their duly authorised proxies who wish to 
participate in the Annual General Meeting must register to do 
so by lodging a completed Electronic Participation Application 
Form by Thursday, 29 July 2021 at 09h55.

A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.

If you are a beneficial shareholder and not a registered 
shareholder as at the record date and wish to attend the AGM, 
you must obtain the necessary letter of authority to represent 
the registered shareholder of your shares from your Central 
Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or broker.

5
SHAREHOLDERS’
INFORMATION

INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA (REGISTRATION NUMBER: 
2016/533398/06) JSE & RSE SHARE CODE: RHB ISIN: ZAE000244737 (“RHB” OR  
“THE COMPANY”)

ABAQULUSI PRIVATE HOSPITAL (MANAGED)

47 bed hospital in KwaZulu-Natal
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PURPOSE

The purpose of the AGM is to transact business set out in the 
agenda below.

AGENDA

Presentation of the Company’s audited Annual Financial 
Statements, including the report of the Directors, the Audit 
and Risk Committee report and the Auditor’s report for the 
financial year ended on Sunday, 28 February 2021.

Note: For any of the ordinary resolutions numbers 1 to 18 
(inclusive) to be adopted, more than 50% of the voting rights 
exercised on each such ordinary resolution must be exercised 
in favour thereof, with the exception of ordinary resolution 
number 12, 13, 15 and 17 that require 75% of voting rights to 
be exercised in favour thereof. For special resolution numbers 
1 to 4, at least 75% of voting rights must be exercised in 
favour thereof.

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
1.  APPROVAL OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS

1.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1

RESOLVED that the audited Annual Financial Statements, 
including the Report of the Board of Directors, the Independent 
Auditor’s report and the Audit and Risk Committee report of 
the Company for the financial year ended 28 February 2021, be 
accepted and approved.

2. RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

To vote on the re-election, by way of separate resolutions, of the 
following Directors, each of whom retire in terms of the provisions 
of the Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI) of the Company and, 
each being eligible, offer themselves for re-election:

• Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana
• John Oliphant
• Dr David Sekete
• Dr Solomon Motuba 

These Directors are retiring due to the one-third requirement in the 
MOI. Accordingly, shareholders are requested to consider and, if 
deemed fit, to re-elect these retiring Directors as members of the 
Board of the Company, by way of passing the separate ordinary 
resolutions set out below. Brief CVs in respect of each Director 
offering themselves for re-election as Directors of the Company 
appear on pages 32 to 37 of this Integrated Annual Report.

2.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2

To vote on the re-election of Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana, as an 
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company.

RESOLVED that Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana who retires by rotation in 
terms of the MOI of the Company and the Listings Requirements 
of the JSE, being eligible, offers herself for re-election, be and is 
hereby re-elected as an Independent Non-Executive Director with 
effect from 2 August 2021. 
 

2.2 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3

To vote on the re-election of John Oliphant as an Non-
Independent Non-Executive Director.

RESOLVED that John Oliphant, who retires by rotation in terms 
of the MOI of the Company and the Listings Requirements of the 
JSE, being eligible, offers himself for re-election, be and is hereby 
re-elected as an Non-Independent Non-Executive Director with 
effect from 2 August 2021.

2.3 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4

To vote on the re-election of Dr David Sekete as an Non-
Independent Non-Executive Director.

RESOLVED that Dr David Sekete, who retires by rotation in terms 
of the MOI of the Company and the Listings Requirements of the 
JSE, being eligible, offers himself for re-election, be and is hereby 
re-elected as an Non-Independent Non-Executive Director with 
effect from 2 August 2021.

2.4 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5

To vote on the re-election of Dr Solomon Motuba as an 
Independent Non-Executive Director.

RESOLVED that Dr Solomon Motuba who retires by 
rotation in terms of the MOI of the Company and the 
Listings Requirements of the JSE, being eligible, offers 
himself for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as an 
Independent Non-Executive Director with effect from  
2 August 2021.

3.  APPOINTMENT OF THE MEMBERS OF 
THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE OF 
THE COMPANY

Note: For the sake of clarity and to avoid any doubt, 
all references to the Audit and Risk Committee of the 
Company is a reference to the Audit and Risk Committee 
as contemplated in the Companies Act.

The Board has determined that each of the members 
standing for election/re-election are independent and 
that they possess the required qualifications, skills and 
experience as contemplated in Regulation 42 of the 
Companies Act and collectively, they have sufficient 
qualifications and experience to fulfil their duties as 
contemplated in section 94(7) of the Companies Act. The 
following Independent Non-Executive Directors, each being 
eligible, offer themselves for election/re-election:

• Dr Solomon Motuba
• Dinao Lerutla
• Dr. Kgaogelo Ntshwana
• Bojane Segooa
 
The resolutions pertaining to the election/re-election of the 
members of the Audit and Risk Committee are to be voted 
on individually. Brief CVs in respect of each of the Director 
offering themselves for election/re-election as members of 
the Audit and Risk Committee appear on page 32 of this 
Integrated Annual Report.
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3.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 6

To vote on the re-election of Dr Solomon Motuba, as a 
member of the Audit and Risk Committee (Subject to the 
passing of Ordinary Resolution Number 5).

RESOLVED that Dr Solomon Motuba, being eligible, be 
and is hereby re-elected as a member of the Audit and 
Risk Committee of the Company, as recommended by the 
Board of Directors of the Company, until the conclusion of 
the next AGM of the Company.

3.2 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 7

To vote on the re-election of Dinao Lerutla, as a member of 
the Audit and Risk Committee. 

RESOLVED that Dinao Lerutla, being eligible, be and is 
hereby re-elected as a member of the Audit and Risk 
Committee of the Company, as recommended by the 
Board of Directors of the Company, until the conclusion of 
the next AGM of the Company.

3.3 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 8

To vote on the election of Dinao Lerutla, as a Chairperson 
of the Audit and Risk Committee. 

RESOLVED that Dinao Lerutla, being eligible, be and is 
elected as Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee of 
the Company, as recommended by the Board of Directors 
of the Company, until the conclusion of the next AGM of 
the Company.

3.4 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 9

To vote on the re-election of Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana, as a 
member of the Audit and Risk Committee (Subject to the 
passing of Ordinary Resolution Number 2).

RESOLVED that Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana, being eligible, 
be and is hereby re-elected as a member of the Audit and 
Risk Committee of the Company, as recommended by the 
Board of Directors of the Company, until the conclusion of 
the next AGM of the Company.

3.5 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 10

To vote on the election of Bojane Segooa, as a member of 
the Audit and Risk Committee. 

RESOLVED that Bojane Segooa, being eligible, be and 
is hereby elected as a member of the Audit and Risk 
Committee of the Company, as recommended by the 
Board of Directors of the Company, until the conclusion of 
the next AGM of the Company.

4.  RE-APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT 
EXTERNAL AUDITOR

4.1. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 11

RESOLVED that Mazars South Africa is hereby re-appointed as 
the Company’s external auditors, upon the recommendation of 
the Board and Audit and Risk Committee, with Rochelle Murugan 
as the designated audit partner for Mazars, to hold office until the 
conclusion of the next AGM of the Company.

The reason for ordinary resolution number 11 is that the 
Company, being a public listed company, must have its financial 
results audited, and such auditor must be appointed or re-
appointed each year at the AGM of the Company as required by 
the Companies Act.

5.  NON-BINDING ADVISORY ENDORSEMENT 
OF THE REMUNERATION POLICY AND 
REMUNERATION IMPLEMENTATION REPORT

5.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 12

RESOLVED that the shareholders endorse, by way of a non-
binding advisory vote, on the Company’s Remuneration Policy as 
set out in the Remuneration Report contained on pages 41 to 46 
of this Integrated Report.

5.2 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 13

RESOLVED that the shareholders endorse, by way of a 
non-binding advisory vote, the Company’s Remuneration 
Implementation Report contained on pages 41 to 46 of this 
Integrated Report.

The reason for ordinary resolutions number 12 and 13 is that King 
VI recommends that the Remuneration Policy and Remuneration 
Implementation Report of the Company be endorsed through 
a separate non-binding advisory vote by shareholders. The 
non-binding votes enable shareholders to express their views on 
the Company’s Remuneration Policy and on the implementation 
thereof. The detailed Remuneration Policy and Report, for which 
approval is sought, are contained on pages 41 to 46 of this 
Integrated Annual Report.

Shareholders are reminded that in terms of King IV, the passing 
of these ordinary resolutions is by way of a non-binding 
vote. Should 25% or more of the voting rights exercised by 
shareholders in the non-binding advisory votes be against these 
ordinary resolutions, the Company undertakes to engage with 
shareholders as to the reasons, therefore.

6.  UNISSUED SHARES UNDER THE CONTROL 
OF THE DIRECTORS IN TERMS OF THE 
COMPANY’S GENERAL AUTHORITY TO ISSUE 
SHARES

6.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 14

RESOLVED that all the authorised but unissued “A” Ordinary 
Shares in the capital of the Company be and are hereby placed 
under the control and authority of the Directors of the Company, 
which Directors are hereby authorised to allot and issue “A” 
Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company to such person or 
persons, upon such terms and conditions and at such times as 
the Directors of the Company may from time to time and in their 
sole discretion deem fit, until the next AGM, provided that:

 a)  a) Such allotment, issue or disposal shall not in aggregate 
be in excess of ten percent (10%) of the Company’s 
current issued share capital, representing 6 469 942 
“A” Ordinary Shares in terms of the Company’s general 
authority to issue shares for cash; and

 b)  Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the MOI 
of the Company and the JSE Listings Requirements.

The reason for ordinary resolution number 14 is that in terms 
of the Company’s MOI, Companies Act and the JSE Listings 
Requirements, the authority given to place the unissued “A” 
Ordinary Shares under the control of the Directors needs to be 
renewed at the Company’s AGM.
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7.  GENERAL AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES FOR 
CASH

7.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 15

RESOLVED that the Directors of the Company be and are 
hereby authorised, by way of a general authority to allot or issue 
all or any of the authorised but unissued “A” Ordinary Shares in 
the capital of the Company for cash, as they, in their discretion, 
may deem fit, as and when suitable opportunities arise, subject 
to the provisions of the Company’s MOI, the Companies Act 
and the JSE Listings Requirements.

The allotment and issue of “A” Ordinary Shares for cash shall 
be subject to the following limitations:

a)  That the securities which are the subject of this general 
authority be of a class already in issue or, where this is not 
the case, must be limited to such securities or rights that 
are convertible into a class already in issue;

b)  The general authority shall be valid until the Company’s 
next AGM, or for 15 months from the date on which the 
general authority for such ordinary resolution was passed, 
whichever date is earlier;

c)  Issues in terms of this authority in any one financial year 
shall not exceed 6 469 942 “A” Ordinary Shares, which 
is not greater than ten percent (10%) in aggregate of the 
number of “A” Ordinary Shares (excluding treasury shares) 
in the Company’s issued share capital in issue at the date 
of this notice of the AGM. The ten percent (10%) shall 
also take into account (and shall include, if applicable) 
any securities to be issued pursuant to a rights issue 
that has been announced, which is irrevocable and fully 
underwritten, or securities issued in terms of an acquisition 
that has had the final terms announced;

d)  After the Company has issued equity securities, in terms 
of the approved general issue for cash representing, on a 
cumulative basis within the financial year, five percent (5%) 
or more of the number of equity securities in issue prior to 
that issue, the Company shall publish an announcement 
giving full details of the issue, including:

 i. The number of securities issued;

 ii.  The average discount to the weighted average trading 
price of the securities over the 30 days prior to the 
date that the issue was determined and agreed by the 
Directors of the Company; and

 iii.  Impact on Net Asset Value and on Earnings and Headline 
Earnings per share shall be published at the time of 
any issue representing, on a cumulative basis within a 
financial year, five percent (5%) or more of the number of 
“A” Ordinary Shares in issue, prior to such issue.

e)  In determining the price at which “A” Ordinary Shares will 
be issued in terms of this authority, the maximum discount 
permitted shall be ten percent (10%) of the weighted 
average traded price of such “A” Ordinary Shares, as 
determined over the 30-day business period prior to the 
date that the price of the issue is determined or agreed by 
the Directors of the Company. If no “A” Ordinary Shares 
have been traded in the said 30-day business period, a 
ruling will be obtained from the JSE; and 

f)  Any such issue will be made to public shareholders as 
defined in paragraphs 4.25 to 4.27 of the JSE Listings 
Requirements and not to related parties.

For this resolution to be adopted, at least 75% of the 
shareholders present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote 

on this resolution at the AGM must cast their vote in favour of 
this resolution.

8.  UNISSUED SHARES UNDER THE CONTROL 
OF THE DIRECTORS IN TERMS OF THE 
ISSUE OF SHARES ON THE RWANDA STOCK 
EXCHANGE

8.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 16

RESOLVED that 12 500 000 authorised but unissued “A” 
Ordinary Shares be and are hereby placed under the control 
of the Directors for the specific purpose of issuing new A 
Ordinary Share on the Rwanda Stock Exchange, following the 
Company’s secondary listing on this exchange, as announced 
on SENS on 26 May 2020, subject to the Companies Act, the 
MOI and the provisions of the JSE Listings Requirements, be 
and is hereby approved.

The reason for ordinary resolution number 16 is to allow 
Directors to issue new “A” Ordinary Shares in terms of the 
Company’s capital raise on the Rwanda Stock Exchange as 
they currently do not have authority to do as such. The effect is 
that the Company will be able to issue “A” Ordinary Shares in 
terms of this transaction.

9.  RWANDA STOCK EXCHANGE ISSUE OF 
SHARES FOR CASH

9.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 17

RESOLVED that the Directors of the Company be and are 
hereby authorised to allot or issue all or any of the authorised 
but unissued “A” Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company 
for cash in terms of raising capital on the Rwanda Stock 
Exchange, subject to the provisions of the Company’s MOI, 
the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements. The 
allotment and issue of “A” Ordinary Shares for cash shall be 
subject to the following limitations:

a)   That the securities which are the subject of this issue be of 
a class already in issue or, where this is not the case, must 
be limited to such securities or rights that are convertible 
into a class already in issue; 

b)   The issue will be only for the issue of shares on the Rwanda 
Stock Exchange in terms of the proposed capital raise;

c)   The issues will not exceed 12 500 000 “A” Ordinary 
Shares, which is not greater than nineteen percent (19%) in 
aggregate of the number of “A” Ordinary Shares (excluding 
treasury shares) in the Company’s issued share capital in 
issue at the date of this notice of the AGM. The nineteen 
percent (19%) shall also take into account (and shall include, 
if applicable) any securities to be issued pursuant to a rights 
issue that has been announced, which is irrevocable and fully 
underwritten, or securities issued in terms of an acquisition 
that has had the final terms announced;

d)   After the Company has issued equity securities, in terms of 
the approved issue for cash representing, on a cumulative 
basis within the financial year, five percent (5%) or more of 
the number of equity securities in issue prior to that issue, 
the Company shall publish an announcement giving full 
details of the issue, including: 

 i.   The average discount to the weighted average trading  
price of the securities over the 30 days prior to the 
date that the issue was determined and agreed by the 
Directors of the Company; and
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  ii.  Impact on NAV, Net Tangible Asset Value (NTAV) and 
on Earnings and Headline Earnings per share shall be 
published at the time of any issue representing, on a 
cumulative basis within a financial year, five percent 
(5%) or more of the number of “A” Ordinary Shares in 
issue, prior to such issue.

e)  In determining the price at which “A” Ordinary Shares will 
be issued in terms of this authority, the maximum discount 
permitted shall be ten percent (10%) of the weighted 
average traded price of such “A” Ordinary Shares, as 
determined over the 30-day business period prior to the 
date that the price of the issue is determined or agreed by 
the Directors of the Company. If no “A” Ordinary Shares 
have been traded in the said 30-day business period, a 
ruling will be obtained from the JSE; and

f)  Any such issue will be made to public shareholders as 
defined in paragraphs 4.25 to 4.27 of the JSE Listings 
Requirements and not to related parties. 

g)  This general authority shall be valid until the Company’s 
next AGM, or for 15 months from the date on which the 
general authority for such ordinary resolution was passed, 
whichever date is earlier.

For ordinary resolution number 17 to be adopted, at least 75% 
of the shareholders present in person or by proxy and entitled 
to vote on this resolution at the AGM must cast their vote in 
favour of this resolution.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

10.  REMUNERATION OF NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS

10.1 SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1

RESOLVED that the Company be and is hereby authorised to 
remunerate its Non-Executive Directors for their services as 
Directors on the basis set out below, provided that this authority 
will be valid until the next AGM of the Company.

Fee per meeting 
attendance (R) 

(excluding VAT)

Board meetings 10 000

Board Chairperson 20 000

Investment Committee meetings 
(including Chairperson)

10 000

Audit and Risk Committee meetings 10 000

Audit and Risk Committee Chairperson 15 000

Social and Ethics Committee meetings 
(including Chairperson)

10 000

Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee meetings (including 
Chairperson)

10 000

Retainer (R) 
(excluding VAT)

Payable monthly to Board/Committee 
Member

10 000

 
The reason for special resolution number 1 is for the Company to 
obtain the approval of shareholders, by way of a special resolution, 
for the payment of remuneration to its Non-Executive Directors in 
accordance with the requirements of section 66 (8) and (9) of the 
Companies Act and paragraph 31 of the MOI of the Company.

The effect of special resolution number 1 is that the Company 
will be able to pay its Non-Executive Directors for the services 
they render to the Company as Directors without requiring further 
shareholder approval until the next AGM of the Company.

11.  FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE IN TERMS OF 
SECTION 44 AND 45 OF THE ACT

11.1 SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 2 

RESOLVED to authorise the Directors, in terms of and subject to 
the provisions of section 45(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, as a 
general approval, to cause the Company to provide a direct or 
indirect financial assistance (‘financial assistance’ will herein have 
the meaning attributed to it in section 45(1) of the Companies Act) 
that the Board of the Company may deem fit to or to the benefit of:

a)  A Director or prescribed officer of the Company or of a 
related or inter-related company (‘related’ or ‘interrelated’ will 
herein have the meaning attributed to it in section 2 of the 
Companies Act);

b) To a related or inter-related Company or corporation;

c)  To a member of a related or inter-related corporation or to 
a person related to such company, corporation, Director, 
prescribed officer, or member, on such terms and conditions 
and for amounts that the Board of the Company may 
determine, provided that the aforementioned approval shall be 
valid until the date of the next AGM of the Company.

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 2 is to 
grant the Directors of the Company the authority, until the next 
AGM, to cause the Company to provide direct or indirect financial 
assistance to any person, company or corporation that is related 
or interrelated to the Company. This means that the Company is 
authorised to grant loans to its subsidiaries and to guarantee the 
debt of its subsidiaries.

11.2 SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3

RESOLVED to authorise the Directors in terms of and subject to 
section 44(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, as a general approval, 
to cause the Company to provide financial assistance (‘financial 
assistance’ will herein have the meaning attributed to it in sections 
44(1) and 44(2) of the Companies Act) that the Board of the 
Company may deem fit to: 

a)  To any person for the purpose of, or in connection with, 
the subscription of any option, or any securities, issued or 
to be issued by the Company or a related or inter-related 
company, or;

b)  For the purchase of any securities of the Company or a related 
or interrelated Company (‘related’ or ‘interrelated’ will herein 
have the meaning attributed to it in section 2 of the Companies 
Act), on such terms and conditions and for amounts that the 
Board of the Company may determine, provided that the 
aforementioned approval shall be valid until the date of the 
next AGM of the Company.

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 3 is to 
grant the Directors of the Company the authority to cause the 
Company to provide financial assistance for the subscription of 
securities in the Company or related or inter-related company. 
This means that the Company is authorised, inter alia, to grant 
loans to its subsidiaries and to guarantee and furnish security for 
the debt of its subsidiaries where any such financial assistance 
is directly or indirectly related to a party subscribing for options, 
shares or securities in the Company or its subsidiaries. For 
example, the Company may rely on this authority if a subsidiary 
raises funds by way of issuing preference shares and the third-
party funder requires the Company to furnish security, by way 
of a guarantee or otherwise, for the obligations of its subsidiary 
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to the third-party funder arising from the issue of the preference 
shares. The Company has no immediate plans to use this 
authority and is simply obtaining the same in the interests of 
prudence and good corporate governance should the unforeseen 
need arise to use the authority.

In terms of and pursuant to the provisions of Sections 44 and 45 of 
the Companies Act, the Board will satisfy itself, after considering 
all reasonably foreseeable financial circumstances of the 
Company, that immediately after providing any financial assistance 
as contemplated in special resolution numbers 2 and 3 above:

• The assets of the Company (fairly valued) will equal or 
exceed the liabilities of the Company (fairly valued) (taking 
into consideration the reasonably foreseeable contingent 
assets and liabilities of the Company);

• The Company will be able to pay its debts as they become 
due in the ordinary course of business for a period of 12 
months;

• The terms under which any financial assistance is proposed to 
be provided will be fair and reasonable to the Company; and

• All relevant conditions and restrictions (if any) relating to the 
granting of financial assistance by the Company as contained 
in the Company’s MOI have been met.

12.  GENERAL AUTHORITY TO REPURCHASE 
SHARES

12.1 SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 4

RESOLVED that the Company and its subsidiaries are authorised, 
by way of a general authority, to acquire ordinary shares issued by 
the Company subject to the provisions of the Company’s MOI, the 
Companies Act, the JSE Listings Requirements and provided that:

a)  This authority will be valid until the Company’s next AGM, 
provided that it does not extend beyond 15 months from the 
date of this AGM;

b)  Any such repurchase be effected through the order book 
operated by the JSE trading system and done without any 
prior understanding or agreement between the Company and 
the counterparty;

c)  An announcement, giving such details as may be required 
in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, be published 
when the Company or its subsidiaries have cumulatively 
repurchased three percent (3%) of the initial number of 
shares in issue and for each three percent (3%) in aggregate 
of the initial number which is acquired thereafter;

d)  A general repurchase may not in aggregate, in any financial 
year exceed ten percent (10%) of the Company’s issued 
ordinary shares at the beginning of the financial year, 
provided that the subsidiaries of the Company may not 
collectively hold at a time more than ten percent (10%) of the 
Company’s issued ordinary shares;

e)  No repurchase will be effected during a prohibited 
period as defined in paragraph 3.67 of the JSE Listings 
Requirements unless the Company has in place a 
repurchase programme where the dates and quantities 
of securities to be traded during the relevant period are 
fixed (not subject to any variation) and full details of the 
programme have been submitted to the JSE in writing prior 
to commencement of the prohibited period. The Company 
will instruct an independent third party, which makes its 
investment decisions in relation to the Company’s securities 
independently of, and uninfluenced by RH Bophelo, prior to 
the commencement of the prohibited period to execute the 
repurchase programme submitted to the JSE;

f)  At any point in time, the Company may only appoint one agent 
to effect repurchases on its behalf;

g)  The price at which the Company’s ordinary shares may be 
repurchased shall be no more than at a maximum premium 
of ten percent (10%) above the weighted average traded 
price of the Company’s ordinary shares as determined 
over five business days immediately preceding the date of 
repurchase; and

h)  Prior to entering the market to repurchase the Company’s 
ordinary shares, a Board resolution authorising the 
repurchase would have been passed in accordance with 
the requirements of the Companies Act, stating that the 
Board has applied the solvency and liquidity test as set 
out in Section 4 of the Companies Act, and has reasonably 
concluded that the Company and its subsidiaries have 
passed the solvency and liquidity test and that, since the test 
was performed, there have been no material changes to the 
financial position of the Group.

The Directors further undertake that they will not implement such a 
repurchase unless the following can be met:

a)  The Company and the Group will be able, in the ordinary 
course of business, to pay their debts for a period of 12 
months after the date of the AGM Notice;

b)  The assets of the Company and the Group will be in excess 
of the liabilities of the Company and the Group for a period of 
12 months after the date of the AGM Notice. For this purpose, 
the assets and liabilities will be recognised and measured in 
accordance with the accounting policies used in the latest 
audited Annual Financial Statements;

c)  The share capital and reserves of the Company and the Group 
will be adequate for ordinary business purposes for a period of 
12 months after the date of the AGM Notice; and

d)  The working capital of the Company and the Group will be 
adequate for ordinary business purposes for a period of 12 
months after the date of the AGM Notice.

The Directors have no specific intention to effect the provisions of 
special resolution number 4 but will, however, continually review 
the Company’s position, having regard to prevailing circumstances 
and market conditions, in considering whether to effect the 
provisions of special resolution number 4. 

Notes in regard to the JSE Listings Requirements (JSELR11.26) 
applying to special resolution number 4

(i)    Major shareholders: Details of major shareholders of the 
Company  are set out on page 96 of this Integrated Report.

(ii)    Material change: There has been no material financial change 
in the financial or trading position of the Company and its 
subsidiaries since the date of publication  of the Company’s 
annual results on 1 June 2021.

(iii)    Share capital of the Company: Details of the share capital of 
the Company are set out on page 80 of this Integrated Report.

(iv)   Responsibility statement: The Directors, whose names are 
given from page 74 of this Integrated Report, collectively and 
individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the 
information given in these notes (i) to (v) and certify that to 
the best of their knowledge and belief there are no facts that 
have been omitted which would make any statement in these 
notes (i) to (v) false or misleading, and that all reasonable 
enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that 
the notice contains all information required by law and the 
Listings Requirements.

(v)  Litigation: The Company is not aware of any legal or arbitral 
proceedings that may have or had  (in at least the proceedings 
12 months) a material  effect on the group’s financial position.
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13.  IMPLEMENTATION OF ORDINARY AND 
SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

13.1 ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 18

RESOLVED that any Director and/or the Secretary of the Company, 
be and is hereby authorised to do all such things, sign all such 
documents and take all actions as may be necessary to implement 
the above ordinary and special resolutions.

In order for this ordinary resolution number 18 to be adopted, the 
support of at least 50% of the total number of votes, which the 
shareholders present or represented by proxy at this meeting are 
entitled to cast, is required. 

NOTES TO THE NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING

ELECTRONIC PARTICIPATION ARRANGEMENTS

1.  The Company’s MOI and section 63(2)(a) of the Companies 
Act authorise the conduct of shareholders’ meetings entirely 
by electronic communication. In light of the measures put in 
place by the South African Government in response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic, the Board has decided that the AGM 
will only be accessible through a remote interactive electronic 
platform as detailed below.

2.  Shareholders or their duly appointed proxies who wish to 
participate in the AGM are required:

 a)  To complete the Electronic Participation Application Form 
available immediately after the Form of Proxy on page 110 
and email same to the Company’s Transfer Secretaries 
at proxy@computershare.co.za and to RH Bophelo at 
invest@rhbophelo.co.za as soon as possible, but in any 
event by no later than 10h00 on Thursday, 29 July 2021.

 b)  If the intended participant is a natural person, the 
Electronic Participant Application form must be 
accompanied by a copy of his/her identity document or 
valid passport or driver’s licence to enable the intended 
Participant to be verified.

 c)  If the intended Participant is not a natural person, a copy 
of a resolution passed by it (which resolution must set 

out the identity of the natural person who is authorised to 
represent the Intended Participant at the online AGM) and 
a certified copy of the identity document or valid passport 
or valid driver’s licence of the natural person who is 
authorised to represent the Intended Participant.

 d)  If the Intended Participant is an RH Bophelo Beneficial 
Owner with his/her/its RH Bophelo share registered in the 
name of a Dematerialised Nominee Shareholder, a copy of 
the letter of representation issued by the Dematerialised 
Nominee Shareholder, which shall contain the identity 
number of the RH Bophelo Beneficial Owner.

3.  In accordance with section 63(1) of the Act, shareholders 
or their duly appointed proxies are required to provide 
satisfactory identification before being entitled to participate 
in the AGM. The Company will accept a valid South African 
identity document, a valid driver’s licence or a valid passport 
as satisfactory identification.

4.  Upon receiving a completed Electronic Participation 
Application Form, the Company’s Transfer Secretaries 
will follow a verification process to verify each applicant’s 
entitlement to participate in and/or vote at the AGM. The 
Company’s Transfer Secretaries will provide the Company 
with the nominated email address of each verified shareholder 
or his/her duly appointed proxy or representative to enable 
the Company to forward him/her a Microsoft Teams meeting 
invitation required to access the AGM. 

5.  Fully verified shareholders or their duly appointed proxies or 
representatives who have applied to participate electronically 
in the AGM are requested by no later than 09h55 on Monday, 
2 August 2021 to join the lobby of the meeting by clicking on 
the “Join Microsoft Teams Meeting” link to be provided by 
RH Bophelo’s Company Secretary, whose admission to the 
meeting will be controlled by the Company Secretary.

6.  Participants will be liable for their own network charges in 
relation to electronic participation in and/or voting at the 
AGM. Any such charges will not be for the account of the 
Company’s Transfer Secretaries or RH Bophelo who will also 
not be held liable in the case of loss of network connectivity 
or other network failures due to insufficient airtime, internet 
connectivity, internet bandwidth and/or power outages 
that prevent any such shareholder or his/her proxy from 
participating in and /or voting at the AGM.
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VOTING AND PROXIES
Ordinary shareholders are entitled to attend, speak and vote at 
the Annual General Meeting.

Ordinary shareholders may appoint a proxy to attend, speak 
and vote in their stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of 
the Company.

For an ordinary resolution to be approved by the shareholders, 
it must be supported by more than 50% of the voting rights 
exercised on the resolution. For a special resolution to be 
approved by the shareholders, it must be supported by at least 
75% of the voting rights exercised on the resolution.

1.  Voting will be via a poll; every shareholder of the Company 
shall have one vote for every share held in the Company by 
such shareholder.

2.  A shareholder entitled to participate and vote at the AGM 
is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to electronically 
participate, speak and vote in his/ her stead. A proxy need 
not be a shareholder of the Company.

3.  The electronic platform (Microsoft Teams) to be utilised to 
host the AGM does not provide for electronic voting during 
the meeting.

4.  Accordingly, shareholders are strongly encouraged 
to submit votes by proxy in advance of the AGM, by 
completing the Form of Proxy (found on pages 109 to 
110) and lodging this form with the Company’s Transfer 
Secretaries by no later than 10h00 on Thursday, 29 July 
2021 by:

 a)  Delivery to Computershare Investor Services Proprietary 
Limited, Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, 
Rosebank; or

 b) Email to proxy@computershare.co.za.

5.  Shareholders who indicate in the Electronic Participation 
Application Form that they wish to vote during the 
electronic meeting will be contacted by the Company’s 
Transfer Secretaries to make the necessary arrangements.

6.  Dematerialised shareholders without ‘own name’ 
registration:

All beneficial owners of ordinary shares who have 
dematerialised their ordinary shares through a Central 
Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or broker, other than 
those shareholders who have elected to dematerialise their 
ordinary shares with ‘’own name” registration, must provide 
their CSDP, broker or nominee to advise the Company or its 
Transfer Secretaries of this instruction preferably not less than 
48 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the AGM, 
that being 10h00 on Monday, 2 August 2021.

7.  Certificated shareholders and dematerialised shareholders 
with ‘own name’ registration

  Those Certificated Shareholders and Dematerialised 
Shareholders with ‘own name’ registration, who wish to 
participate in the AGM (either in person or represented by 
proxy), must submit a completed Electronic Participation 
Application Form to the Company’s Transfer Secretaries 
and to RH Bophelo in the manner and within the timeframe 
described above under the section titled “Electronic 
Participation Arrangements”.

By order of the Board

 
 

 
Corporate Vision Consulting Proprietary Limited
Company Secretary
Monday, 21 June 2021

Registered Office
1st floor, 1 Melrose Boulevard
Melrose Arch, Melrose North, Johannesburg,
2191
South Africa
 
Transfer Secretaries
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited 
Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank 
Johannesburg, 2196
South Africa

ST HELENA PRIVATE HOSPITAL (OWNED)

131 bed hospital in Free State 
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MEDLEB PRIVATE HOSPITAL (MANAGED)

21 bed hospital in Limpopo
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FORM OF PROXY

TO BE COMPLETED BY CERTIFICATED SHAREHOLDERS AND DEMATERIALISED 
SHAREHOLDERS WITH ‘OWN-NAME’ REGISTRATION ONLY

RH BOPHELO LIMITED 
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) 
(Registration number: 2016/533398/06) 
(JSE & RSE Share Code: RHB ISIN: ZAE000244737) 
(“RH Bophelo” or “the Company”)

I/We (please print names in full)  

of (address)  

Telephone number  Cellphone number   

Email address   

being the holder/s  ‘A’ Ordinary Shares in RH Bophelo Limited, do hereby appoint:  

1.  or, failing him/her 

2.  or, failing him/her 

3. The Chairman of the AGM, as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the AGM, which will be held for the purpose of 
considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the resolutions to be proposed thereat and at each adjournment 
thereof and to vote for and/or against the said resolutions and/or to abstain from voting in respect of the “A” Ordinary Shares of the 
Company registered in my/our name(s), on the following ordinary and special resolutions to be proposed at such meeting.

For use at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) of shareholders of the Company, to be held through electronic communication at 
10h00 on Monday, 2 August 2021, or at any adjournment or postponement of that meeting. 

A shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (none of whom need to be a shareholder of the Company) to attend, 
participate in, speak and vote or abstain from voting in the place of that shareholder at the AGM.
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ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS (Please insert X in the appropriate box) FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN

1 To approve the audited Annual Financial Statements for the financial year ended, 28 February 
2021.

2 To re-elect Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana, as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company.
3 To re-elect John Oliphant as a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company.
4 To re-elect Dr David Sekete as a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company.
5 To re-elect Dr Solomon Motuba as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company.
6 To re-elect Dr Solomon Motuba, as an member of the Audit and Risk Committee.
7 To re-elect Dinao Lerutla, as a member of the Audit and Risk Committee.
8 To elect Dinao Lerutla, as Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee.
9 To re-elect Dr Kgaogelo Ntshwana, as a member of the Audit and Risk Committee.
10 To elect Bojane Segooa, as a member of the Audit and Risk Committee.
11 To reappoint Mazars South Africa as the Company’s auditors with Rochelle Murugan as the 

designated audit partner, to hold office until the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company.
12 To endorse, by way of a non-binding advisory vote the Company’s Remuneration Policy. 
13 To endorse, by way of a non-binding advisory vote the Company’s Remuneration 

Implementation Report.
14 The authorised but unissued “A” Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company be placed under 

the control and authority of the Directors of the Company.
15 General authority to allot or issue all or any of the authorised but unissued “A” Ordinary Shares in 

the capital of the Company for cash.
16 The authorised but unissued “A” Ordinary Shares be placed under the control of the Directors for 

the specific purpose of issuing new A Ordinary Share on the Rwanda Stock Exchange.
17 To allot or issue all or any of the authorised but unissued “A” Ordinary Shares in the capital of the 

Company for cash in terms of raising capital on the Rwanda Stock Exchange.
18 Authority for any Director and/or the Secretary of the Company to implement the resolutions.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
1 To remunerate Non-Executive Directors for their services as Directors.
2 To authorise the Directors, in terms of and subject to the provisions of section 45(3)(a)(ii) of 

the Companies Act, as a general approval, to cause the Company to provide direct or indirect 
financial assistance.

3 To authorise the Directors in terms of and subject to section 44(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, as 
a general approval, to cause the Company to provide financial assistance for the subscription or 
purchase of any option or any securities of the Company.

4 To authorise the Company to repurchase ordinary shares issued by the Company.

Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces provided above how you wish your vote to be cast. If no indication is given, 
the proxy may vote or abstain as he/she sees fit.

Signed at     on     2021

Signature     Assisted by, (if applicable)

Please read the notes overleaf.

NOTES TO THE FORM OF PROXY
(Which include, inter alia, a summary of the rights established by 
section 58 of the Companies Act, as amended (Companies Act).

SUMMARY OF RIGHTS CONTAINED IN  
SECTION 58 OF THE COMPANIES ACT

In terms of section 58 of the Companies Act:

A shareholder may, at any time and in accordance with the 
provisions of section 58 of the Companies Act, appoint any 
individual (including an individual who is not a shareholder) as a 
proxy to participate in, and speak and vote at, a shareholders’ 
meeting on behalf of such shareholder.

A shareholder may appoint two or more persons concurrently as 
proxies and may appoint more than one proxy to exercise voting 
rights attached to different securities held by the shareholder.

A proxy may delegate his authority to act on behalf of a 

shareholder to another person, subject to any restriction set out 
in the instrument appointing such proxy.

Irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy, 
the appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time and to the 
extent that the relevant shareholder chooses to act directly and 
in person in the exercise of any of such shareholder’s rights as a 
shareholder.

Any appointment by a shareholder of a proxy is revocable 
unless the form of instrument used to appoint such proxy states 
otherwise.

If an appointment of a proxy is revocable, a shareholder may 
revoke the proxy appointment by:

(i)  Cancelling it in writing or making a later inconsistent 
appointment of a proxy and

(ii)  Delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy 
and to the relevant company.

VOTING INSTRUCTIONS
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• A proxy appointed by a shareholder is entitled to exercise, or 
abstain from exercising, any voting right of such shareholder 
without direction, except to the extent that the relevant 
company’s memorandum of incorporation, or the instrument 
appointing the proxy, provides otherwise.

• If the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies has been 
delivered by a shareholder to a company, then, for so long as 
that appointment remains in effect, any notice that is required in 
terms of the Companies Act or such company’s memorandum 
of incorporation to be delivered to a shareholder must be 
delivered by such company to:

(i) The relevant shareholder; or

(ii) The proxy or proxies if the relevant shareholder has:

•  Directed such company to do so, in writing; and
• Paid any reasonable fee charged by such company for 

doing so.

 
NOTES
1.  Each shareholder is entitled to appoint 1 (one) or more 

proxies (none of whom need be a shareholder) to attend, 
speak and vote in place of that shareholder at the AGM.

2.  A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names 
of two alternative proxies of the shareholder’s choice in the 
space/s provided with or without deleting ‘the Chairman of 
the AGM,’ but the shareholder must initial any such deletion. 
The person whose name stands first on the Form of Proxy 
and who is present at the AGM will be entitled to act as a 
proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow.

3.  A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated 
by the insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable 
by the shareholder in the appropriate box provided or an ‘X’ 
should the shareholder wish the proxy to exercise all votes. 
Failure to comply with the above will be deemed to authorise 
and direct the Chairman of the AGM, if the Chairman is the 
authorised proxy, to vote or abstain from voting at the AGM as 
the Chairman deems fit, or any other proxy to vote or abstain 
from voting at the AGM as he/ she deems fit, in respect of all 
the votes of the shareholder exercisable at the meeting.

4.  Completed forms of proxy and the authority (if any) under 
which they are signed must be lodged with or posted to 
the Transfer Secretaries of the Company, Computershare 
Investor Services Proprietary Limited, at Rosebank Towers, 
15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 2196 or posted to the 
Transfer Secretaries at Private Bag X9000, Saxonwold, 2132, 
to be received by them by no later than 10:00 on Thursday, 
29 July 2021.

5.  Completion and lodging of this Form of Proxy will not 
preclude the relevant shareholder from participating 
electronically at the AGM, speaking and voting in 
electronically to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in 
terms hereof, should such shareholder wish to do so.

6.  The Chairman of the AGM may accept or reject any Form 
of Proxy not completed and/or received in accordance with 
these notes or with the MOI of RH Bophelo.

7.  Any alteration or correction made to this Form of Proxy must 
be initialled by the signatory/ies.

8.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person 
signing this Form of Proxy in a representative capacity 
(e.g. for a company, close corporation, trust, pension fund, 
deceased estate, etc.) must be attached to this Form of 
Proxy unless previously recorded by RH Bophelo or the 
Transfer Secretaries.

9.  Where this Form of Proxy is signed under power of attorney, 
such power of attorney must accompany this form of proxy, 
unless it has been registered by RH Bophelo or the Transfer 
Secretaries or waived by the Chairman of the AGM.

10.  Where “A” Ordinary Shares are held jointly, all joint holders 
are required to sign this form of proxy.

11.  A minor shareholder must be assisted by his/her parent/
guardian unless the relevant documents establishing his/her 
legal capacity are produced or have been registered by RH 
Bophelo or the Transfer Secretaries.

12.  Dematerialised shareholders, other than their own name, 
participating via electronic communication, should contact 
their CSDP or broker with instructions on how they wish to 
vote.

13.  This Form of Proxy shall be valid at any resumption of 
an adjourned meeting to which it relates, although this 
Form of Proxy shall not be used at the resumption of an 
adjourned meeting if it could not have been used at the 
AGM from which it was adjourned for any reason other than 
it was not lodged timeously for the meeting from which the 
adjournment took place. This Form of Proxy shall, in addition 
to the authority conferred by the Companies Act except 
insofar as it provides otherwise, be deemed to confer the 
power generally to act at the AGM in question, subject to any 
specific direction contained in this Form of Proxy as to the 
manner of voting.

14.  A vote given in accordance with the terms of an instrument 
of proxy shall be valid notwithstanding the death or mental 
disorder of the principal or revocation of the proxy or of 
the authority under which the proxy was executed, or the 
transfer of the share in respect of which the proxy is given, 
provided that no notification in writing of such death, insanity, 
revocation or transfer as aforesaid shall have been received 
by the Transfer Secretaries before the commencement of the 
meeting or adjourned meeting at which the proxy is used.

15.  Any proxy appointed pursuant to this Form of Proxy may 
not delegate her/his authority to act on behalf of the relevant 
shareholder.

16.  In terms of section 58 of the Companies Act, unless 
revoked, an appointment of a proxy pursuant to this Form 
of Proxy remains valid only until the end of the AGM or any 
adjournment of the AGM.
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APPLICATION FORM FOR ELECTRONIC 
PARTICIPATION AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL 
MEETING
RH BOPHELO LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) (Registration 
number: 2016/533398/06)
(JSE & RSE Share Code: RHB ISIN: ZAE000244737)
(“RH Bophelo” or “the Company”)
 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING – 2 August 2021 (“AGM’)

Capitalised terms that are not defined herein shall bear the 
meanings assigned to them in the notice of annual general 
meeting (the AGM Notice) to which this form is attached and 
forms part thereof.

Instructions

Shareholders or their proxies have the right, as provided 
for in the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and 
the Companies Act, to participate in the AGM by way of 
electronic communication.

Shareholders or their duly appointed proxies who wish to 
participate in the AGM must complete this application form 
and email it (together with the relevant supporting documents 
referred to below) to the Company’s Transfer Secretaries at 
proxy@computershare.co.za and to the Company at invest@
rhbophelo.co.za as soon as possible, but in any event by no 
later than 10h00 on Thursday, 29 July 2021.

Upon receiving a completed Electronic Participation Application 
Form, the Company’s Transfer Secretaries will follow a 
verification process to verify each applicant’s entitlement to 
participate in and/or vote at the AGM. The Company’s Transfer 
Secretaries will provide the Company with the email address of 
each verified shareholder or his/her duly appointed proxy (each, 
a Participant) to enable the Company to forward the Participant a 
Microsoft Teams meeting invitation required to access the AGM.

RH Bophelo will send each Participant a Microsoft Teams 
meeting invitation with a link to “Join the Microsoft Teams 
Meeting” on Monday, 2 August 2021 to enable Participants to 
link up and participate electronically in the AGM. This link will 
be sent to the email address nominated by the Participant in the 
table below.

 
 
 
Please note

The electronic platform to be utilised for the AGM does not 
provide for electronic voting during the meeting. Accordingly, 
shareholders are strongly encouraged to submit votes by proxy 
in advance of the AGM, by completing the Form of Proxy (found 
on page 109) and lodging the completed proxy form together 
with this Electronic Participation Application Form with the 
Company’s Transfer Secretaries.

Participants who indicate in this form that they wish to vote 
during the electronic meeting will be contacted by the Company’s 
Transfer Secretaries to make the necessary arrangements.

Participants will be liable for their own network charges in 
relation to electronic participation in and/or voting at the AGM. 
Any such charges will not be for the account of the Company’s 
Transfer Secretaries or RH Bophelo who will also not be held 
accountable in the case of loss of network connectivity or other 
network failures due to insufficient airtime, internet connectivity, 
internet bandwidth and/or power outages which prevents any 
such Participant from participating in and /or voting at the AGM.

By signing this application form, the Participant indemnifies 
and holds the Company harmless against any loss, injury, 
damage, penalty or claim arising in any way from the use of 
the telecommunication lines to participate in the AGM or any 
interruption in the ability of the Participant to participate in 
the AGM via electronic communication, whether or not the 
problem is caused by any act or omission on the part of the 
Participant or anyone else, including without limitation the 
Company and its employees.
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INFORMATION REQUIRED FOR PARTICIPATION BY ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION AT THE AGM

Full name of shareholder: 

Identity or registration number of shareholder:

Full name of authorised representative (if applicable):

Identity number of authorised representative:

Email address:

*Note: this email address will be used by the Company to share the Microsoft Teams meeting invitation required to access the AGM 
electronically

Cell phone number:

Telephone number, including dialling codes:

* Note: The electronic platform to be utilised for the AGM does not provide for electronic voting during the meeting. Accordingly, 
shareholders are strongly encouraged to submit votes by proxy in advance of the AGM, by completing the proxy form found on page 109.

Indicate (by marking with an ‘X’) whether:

Votes will be submitted by proxy (in which case, please enclose the duly completed proxy form with this form); or

The Participant wishes to exercise votes during the AGM. If this option is selected, the Company’s Transfer Secretaries will 
contact you to make the necessary arrangements. 

By signing this application form, I consent to the processing of my personal information provided above for the purpose of 
participating in RH Bophelo’s AGM.

Signed at     on     2021

Signed:

DOCUMENTS REQUIRED TO BE ATTACHED TO THIS APPLICATION FORM

1.  To exercise their voting rights at the AGM, shareholders who choose to participate electronically may appoint a proxy, which 
proxy may participate in the AGM, provided that a duly completed proxy form has been submitted in accordance with the 
instructions on that form, and as envisaged in the notice of the AGM.

2.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of the named person, including any person acting in a representative capacity, 
who is to participate in the AGM, must be attached to this application.

3.  A certified copy of the valid identity document/passport of the person attending the AGM by electronic participation, including 
any person acting in a representative capacity, must be attached to this application.

Applications to participate by electronic communication will only be considered if this application form is completed in full, signed 
by the shareholder, its proxy or representative, and delivered as detailed above. The Company may, in its sole discretion, accept 
any incomplete application forms.
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FINAL 2021
Financial year end Sunday, 28 February 2021 
Publication of preliminary results: on or about Monday, 31 May 2021
Financial report and notice of AGM posted on Monday, 21 June 2021
Annual General Meeting: Monday, 2 August 2021

INTERIM 2021
Interim period ends: Tuesday, 31 August 2021  
Announcement of interim results: on or about Tuesday,  
30 November 2021

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
The salient dates of the dividend declaration are:
Declaration date: Monday 31 May 2021
Last date to trade cum dividend: Tuesday, 20 July 2021
Trading ex-dividend commences: Wednesday, 21 July 2021
Record date: Friday, 23 July 2021
Date of payment: Monday, 26 July 2021

CORPORATE DIARY
RAND MUTUAL ASSURANCE CARE

RAND MUTUAL ASSURANCE (MANAGED)

120 bed hospital in Free State
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AGM Annual General Meeting
AFS Annual Financial Statements

AHC or Africa 
Health Care

Africa Healthcare Proprietary Limited

Agterskot Final Deferred Payment
ARC Audit and Risk Committee
AWCA African Women Chartered Accountants 
ARV Antiretroviral
B-BBEE Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment as 

envisaged in the BEE Act
BEE Black Economic Empowerment
BEE Act Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act 

No 53 of 2003 
BHF Board of Healthcare Funders
Board of 
Directors

Board of Directors of the Company

BofAML Bank of America Merrill Lynch
CA Chartered Accountant
CAGR Compound Annual Growth Rate

CAPM Capital Asset Pricing Method

CEO Chief Executive Officer
CFO Chief Financial Officer
Company or RH 
Bophelo

RH Bophelo Limited (Registration number 
2016/533398/06), a public company duly registered 
and incorporated in South Africa

Company 
Secretary

Corporate Vision Consulting Proprietary Limited 
(Registration number 2015/006536/07), a private 
company duly registered and incorporated in South 
Africa

CSI Corporate Social Initiatives
Companies Act Companies Act 71 of 2008 
COVID-19 Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is an illness 

caused by a noval coronavirus now called severe 
acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-
CoV-2; formerly called 2019-nCoV) 

CRISA Code for Responsible Investing in SA
CSDP Central Securities Depository Participant
COO Chief Operating Officer
CIO Chief Investment Officer
CNBC Consumer News and Business Channel
COSO Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
CV Curriculum Vitae
Directors A member of the Board of people that manages or 

oversees the affairs of a business
DBSA Development Bank of Southern Africa
DoH Department of Health
DCF Discounted Cash Flow
DOA Delegation of Authority
DWT Dividend Withhholding Tax 
EBIT Earnings Before Interest & Tax
EBITDA Earnings Before Interest, Taxation, Depreciation & 

Amortisation
ESD Enterprise and Supplier Development
EV Enterprise Value
ESG Environmental, Social and Governance
eNCA eNews Channel Africa
ExCo Executive Committee
Genric Genric Insurance Company Limited
GDP Gross Domestic Product
GEPF Government Employees Pension Fund
Group The Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, RH 

Bophelo Operating Company Proprietary Limited
HR Human Resources

HIV Human Immunodeficiency Virus 
HVAC Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning
IDC Industrial Development Corporation
IFRS International Reporting Standards
ISA International Standards for Auditing
IAS International Auditing Standards
IASB International Accounting Standards Board
IBOR Inter Bank Offered Rates
IC Investment Committee
IFC Internation Finance Committee
IIRC Internation Integrated Reporting Council
IR Integrated Report
IT Infrormation Technology
ISIN Internal Securities Identity Number
King IV King IV Report on Governance for South Africa
KPI Key Performance Indicator
LTI Long Term Incentive
Management 
Company or 
RH Bophelo 
Management 
Company or 
ManCo 

RH Bophelo Management Company Proprietary 
Limited (Registration Number 2016/533552/07

MOI Memorandum of Incorporation
NAV Net Asset Value
NHI National Health Insurance
NHN National Hospital Insurance
NAVPS Net Asset Value Per Share
NDE Non Distributable Earnings
NGO Non-Governmental Organisation
NPO Non-Profit Organisation
OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and 

Development
PAYE Pay-As-You-Earn
P/E Price Earnings
PwC PricewaterhouseCoopers
PBHPM Phelang Bonolo Healthcare Procurement and 

Management Proprietary Limited
POPIA Protection of Personal Infromation Act 4 of 2013
PPE Protecion Protective Equipment
RA Registered Auditor
Razorite 
Healthcare and 
Rehabilitation 
Fund

Razorite Healthcare and Rehabilitation Fund is 
a South African based private equity fund that 
is structured as an en commandite partnership 
and whose mandate is to invest in healthcare 
infrastucture in South Africa

RH Managers RH Managers Proprietary Limited (Registration 
number 2013/080004/07), a private company duly 
registered and incorporated in South Africa

RMA Rand Mutual Assurance
RMC Rondebosch Medical Centre Proprietary Limited
ROE Return on Equity 
REIT Real Estate Investment Trust
REIPPP Renewable Energy Independent Power 

Procurement Programme
RHB RH Bophelo
RHBO RH Bophelo Operating Company 
RHFS RH Financial Services Proprietary Limited
RMB Rand Mutual Bank
RNC Remuneration and Nominations Committee
ROI Return on Investment
RSE Rwanda Stock Exchange 
SAICA South African Institute of Chartered Accountants
SANC South African Nursing Council

DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATIONS
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COMPANY DETAILS
RH Bophelo Limited 
Registration number: 2016/533398/06 
Share code: RH BOPHELO 
ISIN: ZAE000244737 
Date of incorporation: 13 December 2016 
Place of incorporation: South Africa

REGISTERED OFFICE
Unit 12 – 1st Floor 
1 Melrose Boulevard 
Melrose Arch 
Johannesburg, 2191 
South Africa

POSTAL ADDRESS 
Unit 12 – 1st Floor 
1 Melrose Boulevard 
Melrose Arch 
Johannesburg, 2191 
South Africa

DIRECTORS
JR Oliphant (Non Independent Non-Executive Director) 
Q Zunga (Chief Executive Officer) 
CW Clarke (Chief Investment Officer) 
KD Mhlaba (Chief Financial Officer) 
VP Nomvalo (Executive Director) 
DM Lerutla (Independent Non-Executive Director) 
Dr SG Motuba (Lead Independent Non-Executive Director) 
Dr KR Ntshwana (Independent Non-Executive Director) 
B Segooa (Independent Non-Executive Director) 
Dr PD Sekete (Non Independent Non-Executive Director)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Corporate Vision Consulting Proprietary Limited  
Registration number: 2015/006536/07  
Cedar Office Estate, Building 3 
Stinkwood Close, Cedar Road 
Fourways 
Johannesburg, 2191

TRANSFER SECRETARIES
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Ltd  
Registration number 2004/003647/07  
Rosebank Towers 
15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank 
Johannesburg, 2196 
South Africa

POSTAL ADDRESS 
Private Bag X9000 
Saxonwold 
2132 
South Africa

SPONSOR SOUTH AFRICA
Deloitte & Touche Sponsor Services Proprietary Limited 
Registration number 1996/000034/07 
Deloitte Place 
5 Magwa Crescent 
Waterfall City  
2090

SPONSOR RWANDA
Faida Securities Rwanda Limited 
Registration number 101856301 
Centenary House, 4th Floor 
124 Kigali

EXTERNAL AUDITORS
Mazars (South Africa) 
Practice number 900222 
Mazars House, 54 Glenhove Road 
Melrose Estate 
Johannesburg, 2196 
South Africa

COMMUNICATIONS AGENCY
Kaitoma Creatives CC 
The Hunt at Hunts End 
38 Wierda Road West 
Wierda Valley, Sandton 
Johannesburg, 2196 
South Africa

CORPORATE INFORMATION

SENS Stock Exchange News Service
SPAC Special Purpose Acquisition Company as 

envisaged in the JSE Listings Requirements
SABC South African Broadcasting Corporation
SAPS South African Police Service
SAVCA South African Venture Capital and Private Equity 

Association
SEC Social and Ethics Committee
SME Small and Meduim sized Enteprises
STI Short Term Incentive
TWIG Third Way Investment Group
TB Tuberculosis
TE Transacting Executive
TGR Terminal Growth Rate
UIF Unemployment Insurance Fund

Unclaimed 
Financial Asset 
Authority

Unclaimed Financial Asset Authority

UNISA University of South Africa
UNGC United Nation Global Compact
UMA Underwriting Management Agency
VPH Vryburg Private Hospital 
VAT Value added Tax
VWAP Volume Weighted Average Price
VCC Venture Capital Companies
WACC Weighted Average Cost of Capital
Westmart Wesmart Financial Services and Administrative 

Solutions (Pty) Ltd
WHO World Health Organisation
ZAR South African Rand
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For the latest investment news, 
information, SENS announcements 
and company updates, please visit  

https://www.rhbophelo.co.za

https://www.rhbophelo.co.za




RH Bophelo Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration number: 2016/533398/06)

(JSE & RSE Share Code: RHB, ISIN: 

ZAE000244737)

Registered address:
Unit 12, 1st floor, 1 Melrose 
Boulevard, Melrose Arch, 
Johannesburg, 2191.
Tel: +27 (0)10 007 2171
Email: invest@rhbophelo.co.za

Website: www.rhbophelo.co.za

Feedback:
RH Bophelo welcomes feedback and any 
suggestions to improve the Company’s future 
reports. Please forward any comments to:

Tel: +27 (0)10 007 2171
Email: invest@rhbophelo.co.za

http://www.rhbophelo.co.za
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